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' What Did They Expect?

pparently 31-year CIA employee Aldrich Ames and
his wife Rosaria sold intelligence to the Soviets

nd then the Russians for at least $2.5 million. In
the U.S., the Ames case has provoked an orgy of self-right-
eous posturing, buck passing, and unanswered questions.
The real mysteries are not how the nouveau riche suburban-
ite spies got caught, but how they got away with it for over
nine years, and why the Agency went public when it did.
Apparently the CIA-FBI has known for months that Ames
was making lucrative little visits to mailboxes and tree
stumps around Georgetown. As the news broke, some pun-
dits and politicians whined shrilly for an end to U.S. aid 10
Russia. Their rationale: Yes, we all spy, but now that we
give Moscow aid, it's not sporting for them 10 use our
money to spy on us, their generous benefactors, (Curiously,
this argument was rarely heard when Isracl and South Af-
rica were caught spying on the U.S.)

The calls for aid cuts caught the administration in a con-
tradiction, Throughout the Cold War, the public was led to
believe that a major impetus for foreign aid was altruism.
The Ames scandal provoked a rare display of candor. The
administration admitted that aid has nothing to do with help-
ing other countries and everything to do with promoting U.5.
interests. While this revelation was hardly news 10 insiders,
miuch of the U.S. public has good cause to be taken aback.

But fear not, the threat of withdrawing aid from Russia,
like the aid itself, served U.S. interests. The Russian econ-
omy, and most likely the Yelisin government, would disinte-
grate like saltines in soup if international debts were called
in and U.5. funds stopped. Which brings up a possible ex-
planation for the timing of the scandal. The disclosure coin-
cided with Russian reluctance to go along with U.S./NATO
policy in the Balkans. Indeed not a week after the Ames de-
bacle surfaced, the Russians, who had strenuously opposed
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NATO military intervention against the Serbs, kept quiet
when NATO shot down four Serbian planes. As Lyndon
Johnson so delicately put it referring 1o a colleague in
Congress: “Don’l worry about him, I've got his pecker in
my pocket.” It was a vulnerability not lost on Moscow
which came quickly to heel, while saving face by expelling a
couple of U.S. spies. Talk of aid sanctions, having served its
function, quickly disappeared.

The scandal raised serious questions about CIA compe-
tence already tarnished by failure to predict the demise of
the USSR, the fall of the Berlin wall, and the uprising in
Chiapas. But no doubt the Agency will brazenly use even
this massive screw-up 1o justify requests for budget in-
creases. One explanation offered by the Agency for ils
lapse is that Ames passed several lie detector tests. These
are routinely used for pre-cmployment screening and on
suspicion of drug use or theft, They are not only intrusive
and insidious when used against common citizens, but inef-
fective against pros, who, as William Casey noted, can de-
feat them with a “valium™ and “a tight sphincter muscle.”
Mcles apologizing for the CIA or blaming it for

the wrong sins. Daniel Schorr explained that
Ames was hard to catch because he was such an ordinary
man. Another commentator lamented that treason wasn’t
what it used to be and bleated noslalgia for the days when
spies acted from principle rather than greed. And yet it was
precisely this common greed that made Ames ordinary. A
lust for Jaguars, half million dollar houses, and Swiss bank ac-
counts is, in fact, not remarkable. The Ameses are the logi-
cal consequence of a system that rewards deceit and
measures success in material extravagance. As to what or
whom he betrayed, it appears that some Russians who
spied for the U.S. — doing nothing more or less than the
odious Ames — were compromised and executed for what
is, in Russia, as in the U.S., the crime of treason.

Certainly, Ames’ actions are reprehensible. If the evi-
dence is sound, he is a greedy little man and, Schorr s
right, an ordinary one. The real crimes, however, are those
of the CIA, and they are far from ordinary. lts crimes
against truth are pale only in comparison 10 its cimes
against humanity. The Agency has been responsible for an
estimated 6-10 million deaths; it has created and supporied
wars, death squads, torturers, military dictators; it has de-
stroyed labor, women's, indigenous, and community
groups around the world,

Although the CIA was born of Cold War anticommunist
frenzy, it is as relevant now as it always was. Calls to dis-
mantle it because the Cold War is over are naive and mis-
placed. It should be eliminated because covert operations
are now, as they always were, anathema to democracy. Far
more traitorous than Ames, is the CIA itself. Consistently
thronghout its 47-year history, it has betrayed democracy. *

eanwhile, the experts have been running in ¢ir-
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U.S. POLICY oN HAITI: SELLING OUT DEMOCRACY

JOHN CANHAM-CLYNE

In November 1990, the Haitian people took a courageous
gamble on democracy by electing populist priest Jean-Ber-
trand Aristide as president. While the population rejoiced,
many U.S. policymakers feared that Aristide’s victory, by an
overwhelming 67.5 percent ma-

denies the reality of thousands of murders, tens of thousands
of arbitrary arrests and hundreds of thousands of internal
exiles.! The U.S. Navy and Coast Guard hijack Haitians
fleeing their country by boat and return them to their oppres-

sors on the pretext that they are

jority, would usher in an unaccept-
able level of economic and politi-
cal independence inimical to U.S,

simply opportunistic job seekers.

AFTER MORE THAN TWO YEARS

Throughout the crisis, the U.S.

policy objectives in the region.
Publicly, the U.S. responded with
lukewarm acceptance and offers
of multilateral and bilateral assis-
tance. Behind the scenes, Washing-
ton vigorously opposed any of

OF UNMET U.S. PROMISES,
BEREFT OF OPTIONS, ARISTIDE AT
LONG LAST LASHED OUT, CALLED
U.S. REFUGEE POLICY A “"FLOAT-

has sponsored negotiations that un-
dercut Aristide’s position, forcing
him to make repeated concessions
to the junta. In support of this diplo-
macy, U.S. officials, hiding behind
a veil of press anonymity, maintain

Aristide’s attempts to make the
market economy work for the ma-
jority of the population.

When a military coup ousted
Aristide after just eight months in
office, the contradictions in U.S.
policy continued: Presidents Bush

BUKED THE

ING BERLIN WaLL,'
INTERNATIONAL
COMMUNITY FOR
TACTICS AND COMPLICITY
WITH THE COUP LEADERS."

i H -
gl a public relations campaign to dis-

credit Aristide and the popular
movement. After more than two
years of unmet U.S. promises to
restore his presidency, bereft of op-
tions, Aristide atlong last lashed out
against U.S. refugee policy, called

"DELAYING

and then Clinton joined half-

hearted sanctions against the military and called for Aris-
tide’s reinstatement. Despite overwhelming evidence to the
contrary, Bush convinced himself that “the people in Haiti
are not being physically oppressed.” Bush pursued — and
Clinton preserved—an immigration policy which implictly

John Canham-Clyne is a fre¢lance writer based in the Washington, D.C. area.
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it a “floating Berlin wall,” and re-
buked the international community for “delaying tactics and
complicity with the coup leaders.™

1. “Silencing a People: The Destruction of Civil Society in Haiti,” Americas Watch,
National Coalition for Haitian Refugees, February 1993, Photo: Les Stone/Tmpact
Visuals, Funeral procession for victim of election day violence, 1987,

2. Statement of Aristide, February B, 1994; and Julia Preston, "Ousted Coup
Leader Rebuffs UN Proposal for Haiti," Washington Post, March 6, 1994,
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The “Market” in Haiti

Aristide swept into power on two main programs: to improve
the economy and to reform the balance between the military /po-
lice and civilian sectors. In Haiti, as in the entire Caribbean
Basin Initiative (CBI), the U.S. program was more simple:
maintain a positive “business climate.” During the Reagan-
Bush years, Haiti emerged as an offshore platform for low-wage
assembly of electronics, textiles, and other products for re-ex-
port to the U.S. market. The Agency for International Develop-
ment (AID) aggressively promoted Haiti as a country ripe for
foreign investment. The impoverished island nation’s primary
attraction for U.S. capital lay in its cheap labor and the political
“stability” provided by decades of Duvalier family dictatorship.
In 1982, the Reagan Department of Labor concluded:

An abundant supply of labor is one of Haiti’s major attrac-
tions for foreign inves-

coups and installed a succession of paper presidencies. Al-
though violently suppressed, the powerful grassroots demo-
cratic movement continued to grow and confront the military.
Aristide, a charismatic Salesian priest, emerged as one of its
leading voices.

Still, in 1990, a Labor Department report lauded the coun-
try's “dexterous, low-cost labor™ as a selling point “for labor-
intensive operations in Haiti.” At the time, the official Haitian
minimum wage was $.22 an hour, with workers in the U.S.-
dominated assembly sector earning just a few cents more.* An
estimated 85 percent of the Haitian people live in poverty.®

Democracy and the Cleansing Flood

November 1990 brought a sudden change in Haiti's business
climate. In the face of continuing popular protest against mili-
tary rule, U.S. pressure, coordinated by Ambassador Alvin

tors. Together with po-
litical stability and prox-
imity, it gives the
country a strong com-
parative advantage in la-
bor-intensive primary
and assembly indusines
and in the provision of
tourism services for North
American markets.?

The same year, the La-
bor Department also noted
“there is a long history of
government suppression
of the labor movement in
Haiti....[T]he organized
labor movement in Haiti is
almost nonexistent.™

In 1986, the grip of
U.S. control began to

. COAST 6%
A qs

loosen as a popular resis-
tance movement forced
dictator Jean-Claude Du-
valier into exile, and began the often violent process of
dechoukage, or “uprooting™ of the old order. Angry mobs
sacked and burned houses of the Tonton Macoutes and occa-
sionally killed members of Duvalier’s notoriously vicious
secret police. The Duvaliers had used the Macoutes to intimi-
date, or at least balance the power of, Haiti’s U.S.-financed
and -equipped military. With the Macoutes temporarily out
of the way, the military seized power through a series of

3. Labor Profile: Haiti, July 1982, Depantment of Labor, Bureau of Intemational
Affairs, Cited in Haiti Afier the Coup: Sweatshop or Real Development, by
Charles Kemaghan, Special Repon of the National Labor Committee Education
Fund in Support of Worker & Human Rights in Central America, Apnl 1993,
p- 4, a comprehensive investigation ol the exploitation of Haitian labor by U.S.
manufacturers, and the Agency for International Developmeni's suppon for it,
4. Ibid,, p. 25.
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Teun Voerten/Impact Visuals
Boat people in Port-au-Prince harbor, illegally repatriated by the U.S, Coast Guard.

Adams, convinced military dictator Gen. Prosper Avril to abdi-
cate and helped force interim President Ertha Pascal Trouillot
to keep a pledge to hold elections.”

Most Haitians expected a desultory farce until two candi-
dates radically altered the landscape. Former Tonton Macoute
leader Roger LaFontant, known for dropping in on torture
sessions for amusement, picked up the Duvalierist banner. In
response, Aristide, who had previously questioned the possi-
bility of democratic elections, agreed to be the candidate of
a broad coalition of reformist parties. His candidacy electri-

3. Kermmaghan, op. cit., p. 21.

6. hid , p.7.

7. Fritz Longchamp and Wonh Cooley-Prost, “Hope for Haitl,” Covertdcrion,
No. 36 (Spring 1991}, pp. 54-55.
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fied the nation® and lent the elections an
aura of authenticity otherwise lacking.
After surviving an assassination at-
tempt during the campaign — at least
the third such attempt in three years —
Aristide swept to victory with more
than four times the vote of his nearest
rival, former World Bank official Marc
Bazin, widely understood to be Wash-
ington’s favorite.

With his inauguration a month away,
Aristide’s opponents struck quickly.
LaFontant, whose candidacy was nulli-
fied on a technicality, launched an at-
tempted coup on January 6, 1991, Haitians
filled the streets by the tens of thou-
sands, venting their rage on the elite for
robbing them of their first real taste of
successful popular democracy since 1804,
when Haiti became the second indepen-
dent nation in the Americas, and the
first born of a successful slave revolt. A
mob, angered that the Archbishop of
Port-au-Prince had loudly denounced
Aristide a few days earlier, stripped and
humiliated the Papal Nuncio.? Massive
crowds surrounded the Palace and other
buildings occupied by the coup leaders,
forcing the military to step in and arrest
LaFontant. After three days of popular
reprisals, Aristide took to the airwaves
to request a halt to the killings.

Upon his February 7 inaugural,
President Aristide assumed nominal
control of a state apparatus that viewed
the majority of the population as its
mortal enemy, and the new President as
a dangerous subversive. While formal
U.S. military assistance had been cut in
1987 when then-ruler Gen. Henri Nam-
phy aborted elections, U.S. military and
intelligence institutions maintained a
close relationship with their Haitian
counterparts. Crealing an open govem-
ment, controlling the military, begin-
ning to turn around a disastrous
economy, and managing the touchy re-
lationship with the U.S. immediately
became the new regime’s priorities.

8. Mark Danner, “The Fall of the Prophet,” New
York Review of Books, December 2, 1993, p. 41.

9. The newly installed Nuncio's predecessor was
widely perceived as the architect of a decision by
Anstide’s religious order to expel him. See Amy
Wilentz, The Rainy Season (New York: Simon &
Schuster, 1989), pp. 400-02.
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Low Intensit

The Clinton administration’s hypo-
critical diplomacy around Jean-Bertrand
Aristide is a high-profile manifestation of
a ten-year campaign of “low intensity
democracy."! Conducted through the
State Department, the Agency for Inter-
national Development (AID), the Penta-
gon, the CIA, the National Endowment
for Democracy (NED), and other U.5.
agencies, this program is part of a post-
Cold War shift in methods of social con-
trol over Third World populations. Touted
as “democracy promotion,” it aims to
blunt the mostscandalous abuses and cre-
ate a democratic facade. In fact, the pol-
icy defuses mass movements for
democratization while preserving the ex-
ploitative economic and social order. It
relies less on outright coercion than on
sophisticated mechanisms of ideologi-
cal hegemony, political cooptation, and
new forms of domination in the global
economy.

Imposition of “low intensity democ-
racy” in Haiti has not gone smoothly.
Since 1985, when a civic uprising sent
Jean-Claude (“Baby Doc™) Duvalier in-
to exile, Washington began a new program
to facilitate a “transition to democracy”™
which involved economic, political, and
military aid. The program was intended
to replace the Duvalier dynasty with less
discredited elements of the tiny elite that
has dominated the country since its in-
dependence in 1804. The downtrodden
majority would again be bypassed.

Between 1986 and 1990, AID fun-
neled $300 million to Haiti for “devel-
opment” while the Pentagon provided
smaller amounts for “security assistance

William I. Robinson is a research associate for the
Center for International Studics, Managua, Nicara-
gua and author of A Faustian Bargain: US. Inter-
vention in the Nicaraguan Elections and American

Foreign Policy in the Post-Cold War Era (Boulder,

Colo.: Westview Press, 1992). An analysis of this
shift will appear in the next issue of CovertAction.
1. See Robinson, op. cit.

William

that helped sustain the military as an
institution until the 1991 coup.”™
“¥You’ve got a problem with that army,”
said a State Department official in justi-
fying the aid, “but it’s still the only in-
stitution in Haiti at the present time.™*

The CIA set up and funded a National
Intelligence Service (SIN), allegedly to
fight narcotics trafficking, but which
acted as an instrument of political re-
pression against the popular move-
ment.* Simultaneously, the State
Department’s Office of Democratic In-
itiatives launched a $10 million “elec-
toral assistance program” for organizing,
funding, and supervising the September
1990 vote which, to Washington’s sur-
prise, brought Aristide to power.?

The linchpin of the program, how-
ever, was some $3 million, spent in stra-
tegic doses between 1986 and 1991 by
NED.® These funds went to a variety of
strategically placed organizations in
civil society, including the Haitian Insti-
tute for Research and Development
(IHRED), the Human Rights Dewvelop-
ment Resource Center (CHADEL), the

2. See Thomas Carothers, “The Reagan Years: The
1980s,” in Abraham Lowenthal, ed., Exporting De-
mocracy: The United Swaies and Latin America,
Themes and Issues (Baltimore; Johns Hopkins Uni-
versity Press, 19913, p. 113,

3. New York Times, Seplember 6, 1987,

4, Tim Weiner, “Key Haitian Leaders Said 1o Have
Been in CTA's Pay,” New York Times, November 1
and Tim Weiner, "CILA Formed Haitian Unit Later
Tied Lo Marcotics Trade,” New York Times, Novem-
ber 14, 19093,

5. See "FY 1990 Democmatic Initiative and Human
Rights Program Summary,” U.S. Agency for Inter-
national Development, Department of State, Wash-
ingion, D.C.; “IFES Haitian Election Project, July
1990-April 1991 — Final Report” (Washington, D.C.:
International Foundation for Electoral Systems, 1991.)
IFES received $1.8 million from AID [or the 1988
elections. See also, Carothers, op. cir, p. 113

6. NED spending in Haiti is documented in 11s An-
nual Reports from 1986 to 1991, The precise figure
is unknowable since NED does not include funds
spent in Haiti through regional programs. These
regional programs spent tens of millions of dollars
between 1984 and 1992, but are only presented in
NED reports as aggregate ligures.
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Democracy in Haiti

Robinson

Association of Journalists, and the Fed-
eration of Unionized Workers (FOS),
among others.”

NED completely ignored the hun-
dreds of grassroots organizations that
eventually coalesced into Lavalas. In-
stead, it judiciously funded and culti-
vated an elite alternative to Duvalier-
style authoritarianism, which provided
the base for the September 1991 coup.
For instance, IHRED head Leopold Ber-
langer and CHADEL leader Jean-Jacques
Honorat both applauded the coup.®
Within a week of the takeover, Honorat
became provisional prime minister.
Similarly, NED provided 52 million for
“party building” and “civic education”
in 1989 and 1990. This campaign
spawned, among others, Marc Bazin's
Movement to Install Democracy in
Haiti (MIDH). Bazin also would serve as
one of the military regime’s provisional
prime ministers.

The Best Laid Plans
The U.S. plan for a Haitian “transition to
democracy” aimed at bringing Bazin and
the conservative elite to power in the
1990 elections. The U.S. had success-
fully pulled off “transitions to democ-
racy” in the Philippines, Chile, Nicaragua,
and elsewhere,” but in Haiti, Lavalas and
Aristide unexpectedly triumphed.
Following Aristide’s victory, U.S.
intervention in Haiti soared. Hoping to
develop an elite bloc that could neutral-

7. FOS is the smallest of Haiti 's three labor federations,
and theonly one allowed to function legally under Baby
Daoc, Tt was affiliasted with the AFL-CIO’s American
Institute for Free Labor Development, whose past tics
to the CIA are well-documenied. Funding for “human
rights" groups ignored several already-existing and
respected human rights groups in Haiti that had links
to the popular movement.

8. “The Tragic History of the Haitian Republic,” Notis-
Sur South American and Caribbean Political Affairs,
Vol 2, No. 2, January 22, 1992, Latin American Institute,
University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, N.M.

9. Robinson, op. cir.. Chapter 1.
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ize the burgeoning grassroots move-
ment, the U.S. approved a $24 million
“Democracy Enhancement” package.”
Evidence is now emerging of links be-
tween the Front for the Advancement of
Progress in Haiti (FRAPH) — the heirs
of the dread Tonton Macoutes — and
the different constituencies cultivated by
Washington.

In Cite Soleil, a sprawling Port-au-
Prince slum, the Centers for Health and
Development (CDS), which obtains 50
percent of its funding from AID, “has a
virtual monopoly on health care and
other social services.”!! Although there
is no independent corroboration, mem-
bers of the popular movement maintain
that volunteers at CDS

are often FRAPH members or At-
taches, and that their training is fi-
nanced by funds from NED. For
instance, it was alleged that the very
same people who set the fire at Cite
Soleil were seen distributing aid
voucHers the next day and ensuring
that only certain people received as-
sistance.'?

The facade of diplomatic support for
restoring Aristide is belied by the con-
sistent history of funding his opponents
— the military and business elites. As
Secretary of State Warren Christopher
noted, “U.S. aid is not charity...it is in
the U.S. national interest.”'* And that
interest was not served by an Aristide
presidency. »

R o R S LB A bl
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Mev Puleo/impact Visuals

President-in-exile Jean-Bertrand Aristide

Nervous “Free Market” Responds
As priest, activist, and presidential candi-
date, Aristide had vigorously denounced
the U1.S., both for supporting the institu-
tions of repression and for exploiting
Haiti economically. Once in office, how-
ever, he agreed to accept international
development assistance and espoused
strong respect for free market economics.
Sociologist Jean Casimir, Aristide’s Am-
bassador to the U.S. explains:

10. “Populism, Conservatism, and Civil Society in
Haiti,” NED Backgrounder (Albuquerque: Imter-
Hemispheric Resource Center, April 1992)

11. Pierre M. LaRamee, “North Amencan Congress on
Latin America Observers' Delegation to Haiti, January
8-16, 1994, p. 7.

12. Ibid. The December 27, 1993, fire raged through
the slum, killed dozens, and left hundreds homeless.
13, Speaking on the MacNeil/Lehrer Newshour,
PBS, February 23, 1994.

...the Haitians who supported Aris-
tide wanted to better their standard
of living. How could this be accom-
plished in a country with such truly
disastrous economic conditions,
where the environmental situation is
dreadful, where the state machinery
is corrupt? Our only hope has been
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to develop economically through cooperation and ex-
change of goods with the outside world.

We have, after all, never been able to produce our own
means of production. We have no coal. We have imported
machetes since the 17th century. To obtain these goods,
we have always had to produce goods for exchange, for the
market. For small island economies, you see, development
cannot be tied to self-sufficiency.'®

But the new Haitian government’s vision of the market
and understanding of how to harness its power diverged from
traditional World Bank/IMF structural adjustment models.
Except for firing a few hundred deadwood government work-
ers, Aristide could find little room for the usual public sector
cuts imposed by the international financial institutions as a
condition for aid. According to Ambassador Casimir:

Haiti differs from other Latin American countries in that
the state never subsidized an inflated service sector. It
traditionally didn’t provide any

“Democracy Activities” in Haiti: a “Development of Democ-
racy Project,” a “Development of Civil Society Project,” and
an “Elections Management Assistance Project.” Most of the
NED and AID money flowed through organizations which
participate in the manipulation of elections and politics
throughout the region, notably Americas Development Foun-
dation, Delphi International, the International Foundation for
Electoral Systems, and NED’s four “core grantees,” the Na-
tional Democratic Institute for International Affairs, the Na-
tional Republican Institute for International Affairs, the
Center for International Private Enterprise, and the Free
Trade Union Institute.!* Although NED funds did help sup-
port the Haitian election commission and international moni-
toring, grants under the Democracy Development and Civil
Society Development projects went to elite-dominated or-
ganizations that espoused an acceptably moderate line.
Meanwhile, to the shock of the democracy professionals,
genuine grassroots development, human rights, and social
justice organizations swept Aristide into office,

NED responded by stepping

services at all to the population.
For instance, the state never fi-
nanced the educational system:
There are only 450 secondary
schools in the whole country,
only 30 of which are state
funded. You can't cut what does
not exist. Those parts of the state
that were inflated, such as the

CLINTON MADE HAITIAN REFUGEES
THE FIRST VICTIMS OF A SERIES OF
HIS BROKEN CAMPAIGN PROMISES,
DRAPING THE BETRAYAL IN A MANTLE OF
UNCTUOUS HUMANITARIAN CONCERN.

up the ersatz democracy pro-
grams and proposed channelling
$23 million through a Democ-
racy Enhancement Project over
the next five years. One notable
recipient, the Haitian Center for
Human Rights (CHADEL), was
slated for an annual operating
budget of between $120,000 and

civil service, were rather easily
reduced.!

Soon after taking office, Aristide’s government made
three main proposals for economic refprm: to impose price
controls on basic foodstuffs, raise the hourly minimum wage
to a combined cash and benefit total of 75 cents per hour,'?
and enforce legally required social security taxes. Aristide’s
opponents greeted this modest package with outrage and looked
north to Washington for allies.

They were not disappointed. AID, which had poured mil-
lions into the business sector, warned that “wage systems
should not be the forum for welfare and social programs.™?
The AID programs to support lobbying against the minimum
wage paralleled more direct efforts to intervene in Haitian
politics. Beginning in 1985, the National Endowment for
Democracy (NED) spent millions to develop “democratic”
institutions in Haiti. By the 1990 elections (fiscal year 1991),
AID had spent more than $13 million on three completed

10. Awthor’s interview, February 1992, published in World Pelicy Jowrnal,
Spring 1992, pp. 355-56.

11. Ihid.

12. Real wages in Haiti had declined by 45 percent between 1985 and 1990. U.S.
Commerce Depantment figures, cited in Haiti After the Coup, op. cit, p. 21.

13. According 1o research by Charles Kernaghan of the National Labor Com-
mittee Education Fund in Support of Worker & Human Righis in Central
America, AID provided $26 million to Haitian businesses in 1991. $12.7 million
was allocated 1o “Export and Investment Promotion,"” fbid, p. 22,
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$130,000.1" When military offi-
cers deposed Aristide, they went
in search of a stooge civilian Prime Minister. Their first
choice: CHADEL’s “human rights” champion, Jean-Jacques
Honorat.

Aristide, the U.5., and the Haitian Military
Aristide had understood from the beginning that governing
without the cooperation of the military would be problematic.
In his inaugural, he proposed “a marriage between the army and
the people,” a remaking of the Haitian military to bring it under
civilian control.’® After obtaining the resignations of six of the
military’s top seven commanders, Aristide elevated then-Colonel
Raoul Cedras to Chief of Staff, as reward for his role as commander
of the troops who provided security during the elections.
Aristide then turned to dismantling the notorious Section
Chief system. As the military's primary instrument of control
in the countryside, the Chefs de Section blended de facto
judicial authority with formal police power into a license for
wholesale extortion. In April 1991, Aristide ordered all 555

14. Warth Cooley-Prost, “Democracy Intervention: A Who's Who of NGOs,"
presented at conference entitled “NGOs, Grassroots Groups and Democracy in
Haiti,"” Association Quebecoise des Organismes de Cooperation Internationale,
Montreal, April 24-26, 1992

15, fbid., p. 13.

16, Lee Hockstader, “Haiti's New President Purges Army: Leftist Priest Takes
Office, Immediately Asks for Ousterof 6 Generals,” Washington Past, Febmuary
B, 1991, p. AlZ.
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Young boy shot in Port-au-Prince as part of election day violence.

Section Chiefs to surrender their arms and dismissed the most
brutal of them. The rest were permitted to remain as “com-
munal police agents,” part of a reconstituted civilian police
force, transferred from military control to the Justice Minis-
try. By the time of the September 29, 1991 coup, civilians
had not achieved secure control of all Section Chiefs. Nev-
ertheless, extrajudicial executions and official torture de-
clined dramatically during Aristide’s eight-month tenure."’
The new government often found it difficult to untangle
its thorniest domestic and foreign affairs problems. Virtually
all of Haiti’s military officers had received U.S. military
training, many key officers and other elite political figures
were secretly on the CIA payroll,'® and Aristide’s govern-
ment had to decide what to do with a mysterious intelligence
agency created by the CIA — the Service Intelligence Nacion-
ale (SIN). This powerful institution had ties not only to U.S.
intelligence agencies, but also to international drug traffickers.

Narco-trafficking

According to the State Department, “all U.S. government mili-
tary assistance to Haiti was suspended following the failed
national election of November 29, 1987, The only govemment-

17. Americas Waich, Nationsl Coalition for Haitian Refugees, "Haiti: the
Anstide Government's Human Rights Recond,” November 1991,

18. Tim Weiner, “Key Haitian Leaders Said to Have Been in CIA's Pay,” New
York Times, November 1, 1993, p. Al

Spring 1994

to-government assistance to the Haitian military that continued
supported narcotics interdiction.”!* Formal U.S. assistance to
the Haitian military resumed durning the run-up to the 1990
elections, but after the elections, it became apparent that “nar-
cotics interdiction” carried an elastic meaning for the Reagan
and Bush administrations.

During the 1970s and 1980s, Haiti had become a trans-
shipment point for Colombian cocaine, particularly by the
Cali cartel.” A month after his inauguration, Aristide ap-
pointed Patrick Elie, a chemistry Ph.D,, professor, and owner
of a private pharmaceutical consulling company, to coordi-
nate an anti-narcotics program. SIN’s purpose was supposed
to be the fight against drugs, but Elie charged that the intel-
ligence agency had spent four years' worth of secret C1A aid
conducting operations against the very popular movement
which brought Aristide to power. SIN, he says,

is an organization that we know very little about. But we
had seen it operate without saying its name, in provoca-
tions, in political repression, and in fact, if you go back to

(continued on p. 52)

19. Secret cable, June 20, 19%), “U.5. Embassy Pornt-au-Prince to Secretary of
State, Washington, D.C., Subject: Fiscal Year 1992 Security Assistance Report-
ing.” Declassified document provided to author by the National Security Ar-
chive, Washington, D.C.

20, Author's taped record of press conference by Patrick Elie at the Embassy of
Haiti in Washington D.C., December 9, 1993.
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Too Good To Be True:
Special Prosecutor’s
“Final Report” on
Iran-Contra

Doug Vaughan

irst, what itis not: The Last Word. So long as so
much about the scandal remains secret, includ-
ing a classified appendix to Walsh's Report, no one can safely
pronounce final judgment.! The absurdity of the doctrine of
national security as a rationale for state secrets is that the CIA
has asked to see the secret section to find out if it contains
anything it didn’t already know about itself.?

Much of this report is necessarily an apology for lack of results.
Walsh got a jury to convict North, only to have an appeals
court reverse the verdict on what “conservatives” (a term, which
in the U.S.,, includes fascists) are wont to call a “technicality” —
that is, a constitutional principle against self-incrimination so
important that, in order touphold that higher law, known criminals
are let loose on the street. That conviction would have disqualified

Doug Vaughan is a Denver-based investigative reporier. His work has appeared
in major newspapers and magazines in the U_S., Europe, and Latin America. He
contributed to the prize-winning documentary films Homeboys, Panama De-
ception, and the BBC's coverage of the Boct and Norniega cases.

1. Submitted August 5, 1993, as required by the Ethics in Government At of
1982 (28 U.5.C. §595) to the special division of the U.S. Coun of Appeals for
D.C. that appoinis independent counsels, The report was dated December 3,
1993, when the court ordered its release subject o ceriain changes, but was not
released until January 18, 1994, It includes three main volumes. Vol, 1, 566
pages, describes the 14 cases thal were prosecuted and the investigations of 17
others, and concludes with Walsh's observations; Vol. I1, 787 pages, compiles
the indictmenis, plea agrecments, and four interim reporis to Congress, a
54-page Classified Appendix, including briefs on the Classified Information

North’s political ambitions, but dismissed on constitutional
grounds, self-incrimination is now his badge of honor.

Who can watch Ollie campaigning for the Senate and not
feel a faint nostalgia for the Reagan years? Those were the
days: Off-the-books, off-the-shelf operations. HAWKs and
TOWs and PROFs. Boland I and Boland II. Belly-button ac-
count. The Courier and The Hammer. Ollie threatening to go
mano-a-mano with Abu Nidal. Ollie pulling traveler’s checks
from his office safe, proceeds of arms sales to the Ayatollah,
and padding off on a patriotic mission to buy new snow tires
for his wife's station wagon and underwear for his secretary.
Fawn Hall smuggling Ollie’s notes out of the White House
in her pantyhose. Ollie and Fawn's little “shredding party.”

Procedures Act, has been withheld from the public on grounds of national security.
A companion Volume [, the largest at 1,150 pages, contains the responses of the
defendants and other subjects of investigation, including Reagan, to Walsh's report.
Their motions, filed on December 3, 1993, demanding that the Final Report remain
scaled or censored, were released by the coun February B, 1994; among them was
a motion by Nonth seeking 1o suppress the report — with North's own name
blacked out at his request by court officers. (See AP, “Nonh purges name from
files," Rocky Mountain News, February 9, 1994.) Other materials from the inves-
tigation that are not contained in the Final Repon, some still classified, have been
deposited in the National Archives; others are held, some under seal, in the U.S.
Distnat Courts of D.C., Maryland and Eastern Virginia (Alexandria), and the
Courts of Appeals for D.C. and the Fourth Circuit.

2. Walter Pincus, "CIA Seeks to Review Classified Walsh Report On
lran-Contra Alfair,” Washington Post, February 12, 1994, p. A4,

The reviews are in: * "Most people don’t give a rat’s patootie about this report.” = Oliver L. North = "Baseless” — Elliott Abrams * “An

assault on the foundations of Anglo-American jurisprudence...a sophomoric ferm-paper built on selfserving assumptions...an extra-legal
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Like any good contretemps, the tale was punctuated by the
odd coincidence and the convenient premature death: CIA
Director William Casey, a brain tumor the night before his
scheduled testimony; Israeli adviser Amiram Nir, about to be
subpoenaed, an airplane crash during an alleged avocado-in-
spection visit to Mexico.

The scandal that came to be
known as Iran-Contra connect-
ed but two of the many covert
actions of the Reagan-Bush
years. Were it not for the tele-
genic fascism of a little poster
boy named Ollie, we might as
easily be talking about a South Africa-Renamo scandal, or
Yugo-Angola, or any number of linkages in the chain of
“secret” operations mounted by the White House — with the
tacit support of the loyal opposition at the other end of
Pennsylvania Avenue — in a bipartisan effort to lock up the
world for U.S. capital in the 1980s. What is more scandalous
is that no comparable legislative, judicial and media outrage
extended to the even more ghastly civil wars in Afghanistan,
El Salvador, Mozambique, and Angola, where the U.S.'s
cozened death squads and helped butcher upwards of
100,000 people in each country — all quite legally.

At the center of the scandal, the connecting

tissue, the hyphen itself was money
— money fo make war.

There is a nice Catch-22 through
which the issue of legality obfuscated
the underlying politics: There would be
no investigation of the lying and law-
breaking until the political cost of
stonewalling became too high, but until
illegality was found, the political reper-
cussions could be limited.

Follow the Money

To reprise that happy time: At the center
of the scandal, the connecting tissue, the
hyphen itself, was money — money to
make war. The Democratic majority in
Congress, after three years of creeping
revulsion, vacillation, and posturing, cut
off aid to the Nicaraguan counterrevolu-
tionaries who had been organized and
armed by the Central Intelligence Agency
to overthrow the elected government of
Nicaragua.

The issue was framed as a constitu-
tional struggle pitting the war-declaring
and money-raising power of Congress
against the war-making and foreign-
policy authority of the president as
Commander-in-Chief. At stake was the
definition of representative government and the limits of
executive power. Undeclared wars have become ever more
popular with presidents® because they do not require popular
support; they are, in fact, proof that sufficient support is
lacking to get a declaration of war from Congress. In the
wake of the Vietnam War, the
bloodiest, longest undeclared
war in U.S. history, Congress
sought to protect its constitu-
tional turf — the power to de-
clare war — and passed the
War Powers Resolution of
1973, over Nixon'’s veto. It re-
quired the president to report to Congress and seek at least
its specific authorization to commit troops abroad for more
than 60 days.*

3. John Prados’ Presidents ' Secret Wars: CIA and Pentagon Covert Operalions
Since World War [T (New York: Morrow, 1986) is a useful compilation.

4, The bombing of Cambodia was included in the original bill of impeachment
brought against Nixon, but was dropped in order to attract broader support from
“conservative” Democrats and “moderate” Republicans. A cogent analysis of
the origins and failures of congressional oversight is found at Harold Hongju
Koh, The National Security Constitution: Sharing Power after the Iran-Contra
Affair (New Haven: Yale University Press, 199(). See also, Louis Henkin,
Foreign Affairs and the Constitution (St. Paul: The Foundation Press, 1972).

hitandsun aftack” — Richard Armitage * “Nonsense” - George Bush * “Sticks and stones may break my bones, but the pitiful,

feeble evidence of my alleged crimes presented in the Walsh report will mever hurt me....besotted with egotisfical greed...
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The "“Trust Us” Legacy

In order to understand Iran-Contra, the limitations of the con-
gressional investigations and Walsh’s Report — and how ill
they bode for the future — it is useful to reprise the historical
context. First, in order to win passage of the War Powers
Resolution in numbers sufficient to ovemide the expected veto,
Congress deliberately ignored the problem of “covert” wars
waged by the intelligence agencies through surrogates. The
Resolution applied only to the “Armed Forces” of the US,, ie,
not the CIA or any other bureaucratically distinct entity. The
60-day limit allowed the President to conduct short-term mili-
tary operations under guise of
emergency threats to “na-
tional security.” Thus Presi-
dent Ford sent troops to
Cambodia to free the mer-
chant ship Mayaguez in 1975,
and Carter attempted the res-
cue of hostages in lran in
April 1980, Only in the case
of CIA operations in Angola
in 1974-75 did Congress pull
the plug on an ongoing presi-
dential directive to conduct
undeclared war against an-
other government.

The Watergate reforms lasted about two years — one elec-
toral cycle. By 1978, with a Democratic president in office, the
Democratic Congress was in an expansive mood regarding
presidential prerogatives in foreign policy. The great crusade
against Communism led to a massive effort to aid Afghan
rebels allied with the competing religious fascists of Iran and
Pakistan, Carter’s National Security Adviser, Zbigniew
Brzezinski, went ga-ga over the idea of a “Green Belt” of
militant Islam that would cinch the “soft underbelly of the
Russian Bear” and protect the Persian Gulf oilfields and sea
lanes.® Now that this geopolitical fantasy has come to fruition
and the chickens have come home to roost in the World Trade
Center, one would think the Democrats would have learned
the old adage, equally applicable to marital infidelity, busi-
ness, politics and war: What they can do for you, they can do
0 you.

It was, of course, the very same institutional apparatus of
paramilitary operations, including many of the same person-
nel, that was pressed into service when Reagan took power.®

5. Zhignicw Brzezinski, Power and Principle: Memoirs of the National Security
Advisor, 1977-1981 (New York: Famar Strauss & Giroux, 1983).

6. With a vengeance, it might be said, because some high-level CLA ollicers purged
by Caner found their way hack io influence under Reagan. Among them, notably,
was Theodore G. Shackley, who had served as George Bush's Assistant Deputy
Director for Operations al the CLA in 1975-76. Shackley's treatise on covert war,
The Third Option: An American View of Counterinsurgency Operations (New

What is more scandalous is that no comparable
legislative, judicial, and media outrage extended
fo the even more ghastly civil wars in
Afghanistan, El Salvador, Mozambique, and

Angola, where the U.S. cozened death squads
and helped buicher upwards of 100,000 people
in each country — all quite legally.

Whether Reagan was himself the beneficiary of a secret
pre-election deal to ship arms to Iran in return for the mullahs
keeping the hostages until he took office the “October
Surprise™ scenario — is one of the great unresolved ques-
tions of our time.” That Congress was unable to develop
“clear and convincing evidence™ of such a plot says more
about its investigative acumen than about the evidence.®
Walsh's “Final Report” is no help, either. Because he was
directed to investigate “the direct or indirect sale, shipment,
or transfer since in or about 1984" of weapons to Iran and the
Contras, any earlier sales, directly to or through Israel, were
off-limits.” With publication
of his report, the investiga-
tive circle is closed, but an
historical ellipsis remains.
No matter, The theme of
Watergate and the investiga-
tions it spawned — espe-
cially the congressional
probes of the CIA! that
gave rise to the system of
congressional “oversight”
(unlucky choice of mala-
propism) — was “Trust us:
We didn’t do it, and we
promise to never do it
again.” On that, at least, Walsh has plenty to say, and it’s not
pretty. He begins and ends with the observation and warning
that “problems presented by Iran/Contra are not those of

York: McGraw-Hill, 1981) provided the strategic underpinning 10 Reagan's view,
Richand Secord, for example, had been chief of the Air Force's 2ales force 1o the
Shah's profligate taste in military hardware — arguably one of the key reasons
for his demise. Secord was the Pentagon's chief adviser to the National Security
Council for the logistics of Carter's failed hostage-rescue attempt, in which
Secord s [mnian-bom business pariner, Alben Hakim, helped recruil agents in [ran
All three went on W play key moles in Iran-Contra

7. Sec Roben Parry, Trick or Treason: The Ociober Surprise Mysiery (New York:
Sheridan Square Press, 1993); and Gary Sick, October Surprise: America's Hosta ges
in Iran and the Election of Ronald Reagan (New York: Random House, 1991).

B. Sec “Joini Repont of the Task Force 1o Investigate Certain Allegations Concern-
ing the Holding of American Hostages by lran in 1980," House Repon No
102-1102, 102nd Congress, 2nd Session, January 3, 1993; “Repon of the Special
Counsel 1o the Subcommittee on Near Eastern and South Asian Aflairs,” Commit-
tee on Forcign Relations, U.S. Senale, 102nd Congress, 2nd Session, November
19, 1992 The lormer probe was lod by special counsel E. Lawrenoe Barcella, an
ex-federal prosccutor who had been involved in the investigation of ex-CLA
operatives Edwin Wilson and Frank Terpil, with whom some of the key players in
Iran-Contra — Richard Secord, Tom Clines and Rafael Quintero — had been
associaled, causing them (o be dumped from official positions duning the Carter
years. The latier investigation was by Reid Wanganen, also on Walsh's stall.

9. See Order of the Special Division of the U.S. Count of Appeals for the Circuit
of the District of Columbia, December 19, 1986, quoted a1t Walsh, Yol. [, p. xiii,
10, “Heanngs before the Select Committee o Study Government Operations
With Resped 1o Intelligence Activities,” Vol. 1-1.3; and “REecommendations ol
the Final Repornt of the House Sclect Commitice on Intelligence,” H.R. No
094-833, Mth Congress 2nd Session, February 11, 1976, more commonly known
s the Church and Pike Committees alter their chairs, Sen. Frank Church
{D-Idaho) and Rep. Ous Pike (D.-N.Y.).

frivolous...chabby” = Duane Clarridge * “witchhunt...overzealous, vindictive” - Thomas G. Clines = “conflicts with my current

memaory...inferminable...a fendentious polemic...a political jihad” = Charles J. Cooper * "erroneous...bespeaks a motive to smear
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not those of rogue operations, bul rather those of
Executive Branch efforls to evade congressional
oversight....”!!

InContravertible Evidence

Reagan came to office on a vow to reverse the “Viet-
nam syndrome” — the squeamishness of Congress in
the face of popular opposition to U.S. intervention
abroad. Following a procedure established by Con-
gress in the 1947 National Security Act, Reagan im-
mediately launched a series of executive decrees to
conduct covertoperations and assist surrogates in mak-
ing war to subvert or overthrow foreign govemments
without a formal declaration of war.'? As the first
successful revolution in the hemisphere since Cuba,
Nicaragua topped the list and provoked the ire of an
alliance among the CIA's anti-Castro operatives, the
Republicans, and the overthrown dictator of Nicara-
gua, Anastasio Somoza.'?

Suffice it to say that the War Powers Resolution
has never been successfully invoked to stop a
President from waging war, covertly or otherwise,
once authorized by the National Security Act and
its progeny with such vast power. And as Walsh
concludes:

Evidence obtained by Independent Counsel estab-
lishes that the Iran/Contra affair was not an aberra-

tional scheme carried out by a ‘cabal of zealots' on
the National Secunity Council staff, as the congres-
sional Select Committees concluded in their major-
ity reponi. Instead, it was the product of two foreign
policy directives by President Reagan which skirted the
law and which were executed by the NSC staff with the
knowledge and support of high officials in the CIA, State
and Defense departments.'*

11. Walsh, Vol. I, p. xii.

12. This is [amiliar territory to readers of this joumal, which has been a
compendium of these acls and their consequences. See also Holly Sklar,
Washingion s War on Nicaragua (Boston: South End Press, 1988); Jay Peier-
zell, Reagan's Secret Wars (Washington, D.C.: Center for National Sccurily
Stodies, 1984), and Bob Woodward, Veil: The Secrer Wars of the CIA, 1981-
1987 (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1987).

13. Walsh ignores these antecedents; they are summarized in Scott Anderson
and Jon Lee Anderson, Inside the League (New York: Dodd, Mead, 1986); Russ
Bellant, The Coors Connection (Cambridge, Mass. : Political Research Associ-
ates, 1986); and Jonathan Marshall, Peter Dale Scott and Jane Hunter, The fran
Conitra Connection: Secret Teams and Cover! Operations in the Reagan Era
(Bostan: South End Press, 1987

14. Walsh, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 562. The report to which Walsh refers is: “Repon
of the Congressional Committees Investigating the Imn-Contra Affair,” U.S,
House of Representatives, Scleat Committee to Investigate Covert Arms Trans-
actions with ran, and U.S. Scnate Select Commitiee on Secrel Military Assis-
tance 1o [ran and the Nicamaguan Oppaosition, November 17, 1987, p. 12.

Paul D Impact Visuals

The human cost of Iran-Contra abuses is often overlooked. At
Siuna, Nicaragua, 1988, Contras killed 100 and maimed this boy,

Itis impossible to read Walsh’s Report without also conclud-
ing that Congress has not leamned much. According to Walsh:

Fundamentally, the Iran/Contra affair was the first known
criminal assault on the post-Watergate rules governing the
activities of national security officials. Reagan Administra-
tion officials rendered these rules ineffective by creating
private [sic] operations, supported by privately generated
funds that successfully evaded executive and legislative over-
sight and control. Congress was defrauded."

Unfortunately, while condemning the abuses, Walsh per-
petuates the myth — propagated by the public criminals
themselves — that they were committed by individuals who
were even nominally “private.”

15, Walsh, op. cit, Vol. I, p. 563, The rules inclode the requirement that the
President make a “Finding” that a cover opermtion s necessary 1o “national
secunly” and report these operations “in a timealy fashion™ 1o the Senale and House
Select Commifices on Intelligence, which appropnale [unds for authonzed operations.

my character” = Edwin G. Corr - * "trying to rewrite history...contaminated with misstatement of fact” — Robert C. Dutfon * “unfair,

biased...cloppy” - L1. Col. Robert L. Earl, Ret. * "highly distorted...seripusly misleading...internally inconsistent” = Joseph F. Fernandez
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The evidence that the U.S. itself was at war with Nicara-
gua since 1981 is inContravertible. The International Court
of Justice, established to peacefully resolve disputes between
member-states of the United Nations, found the U.S. guilty
of waging a war of aggression against its tiny neighbor. The
U.S. arrogantly — that is, officially and formally — refused
to acknowledge the UN’s or the Court’s jurisdiction — in
effect, admitting that Nicaragua's charges were true even as
it lied to its own people about what the government was up
to in their name. So much for international law, so useful for
beating up on the likes of Qaddafi or Saddam. So much for
democracy.

Treaties (including that governing UN members) and re-
lated Covenants are, of course, part of the domestic “law of
the land”™ but the courts are loathe to intervene in disputes
between the president and Congress over the conduct of
foreign policy, including war. While the constitutionality of
the War Powers Act has been upheld, no federal court has
ever dared stop an illegal war. There is even a federal court
decision where pro-Contra mercenaries were prosecuted for
violating the Meutrality Act. It absolved the mercenaries by
ruling that even absent a formal declaration of war, the U.S.
was certainly not “at peace” with Nicaragua. In fact, the
prosecution of that case nearly blew the lid off Iran-Contra a
year early, in 1985, and the White House exerted pressure on
the U.S. attorney’s office in Miami to delay the case.'®

16. U5 v. Terrell, US. v. Posey, et al. In a rare act of adversarial consensus, both
prosecution and defense agreed that the ruling, by U.S. District Judge Norman
Roettger, would be determinative and they would not appeal. Both Congress and
Walsh investigated indications that Attomey General Meese intervened in the case

This early commitment by the Reagan-Bush administra-
tion and its retainers, acolytes, and proxies to a war of
sabotage and assassination was revealed in news accounts of
atrocities committed by Contras.!” By a vote of 411-0, Con-
gress in December 1982 passed the first Boland Amendment,
which prohibited the CIA from providing military assistance
to the Contras “for the purpose of overthrowing the govern-
ment of Nicaragua.”!® The remaining array of purposes con-
stituted a loophole big enough to drive a Pentagon through.
And soon enough, the Special Operations Division and Intel-
ligence Support Activity — born of the failure of the Iran
hostage-rescue mission — scurried through.!? Veterans of
these operations, including Richard Gadd and Robert Dutton,
soon figured in the “private” network. At the same time,
Congress gave the CIA money for the Contras so long as they
stuck to the original lie — that their goal was merely to
interdict the flow of arms from Nicaragua to Salvadoran
guerrillas.®® In April 1983, Reagan responded to media in-
quiries, “We are complying with the law, the Boland Amend-
ment, which is the law.” Asked if he was doing anything to
overthrow Nicaragua's government, Reagan said, “No, be-
cause that would be violating the law."!

No one believed Reagan, even in a Congress divided
between the gullible who wanted to believe and the cynical
who knew better but claimed otherwise. A month later, the
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence demanded a new
presidential “finding” before it would authorize more aid to
the Contras. The House analogue barred aid to the Contras
but, taking the Administration at its word, authorized funds
to stop the flow of arms to any rebel groups in the region. The
Administration responded by establishing an Office of Public

Diplomacy, ostensibly in the State Department but

THE A0 conTEA FEFORT [ CAW SFETTY SENVD AROU0E coordinated by a former CIA psychological opera-
T SN AEAT A AT Y AEHES Ty HigH TEOH ; : : o
SKTEM  AGAMIT QUR NEHCDES., - TRAQE ARAS FOR tions officer, Walter Raymond, assigned to the NSC,
NEVE Ty : ARITAGEY,
4 TRAE LS

by ordering the U.S. Attorney in Miami, Leon Kellner, to go slow.
Kellner and others denied they were pressured, and Walsh found no
convincing evidence 1o the contrary. Vol. I, pp. 550-51.

17. Notably, Christopher Dickey, whose reports in the Washington
Past lod 1o a book, With the Contfras (New York: Simon & Schusier,
1985}, and Brian Barger and Robent Parry, then with Associated Press.
18. Public Law 97-377, Defense Approprations Act for FY 1983,
Sec. 793. The amendment was named for its author, Rep. Edward
Boland (T3-Mass.). Congress rejected a bill that would have bamed
all covert action funding. See Iran-Contra Report, Ch. 26.

19. See Steven Ememson, Secret Warriors: Inside the Covert Mili-
tary Operations of the Reagan Era (New York: Putnam, 1988).

20. This claim was buitressed by a State Depariment White Paper,
debunked by Philip Agee in Warner Poelchau, ed., White Paper?
Whitewash!: Interviews With Philip Agee on the CIA and El Salva-
dor (New York: Deep Cover Books, 1981). See also, Stewart Klep-
per, “The United States in El Salvador,” Covertdction, April 1981,
pp. 5-11.

21. Public Papers of the President, Ronald Reagan, Vol [, pp. 539,
541 (Aprl 14, 1983); this position was reiterated in an address to
Congress, April 27, 1983, pp. 603-04.

* “untrue...inexcusable” = Norman H. Gardner, Jr. * "purposely misleading” = H. Lawrence Garrett, Il * “unjustifiably disparaging®

~ Robert M. Gates = “vengeful, abusive” — Clair E. George * “never able to grasp the concept of ‘comparimentalization’ or the
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to muster public support through tax-
payer-financed propaganda — later de-
clared illegal by the Comptroller
General ** Meanwhile, in anticipation of
a cut-off, the Pentagon agreed to transfer
equipment cost-free to the CIA for the
Contras — until that, too, was deemed
illegal.

Biding for time, a new Finding was
drafted in September 1983 to rational-
ize aid to the Contras — get this — as a
means to force Nicaragua to negotiate a
treaty pledging non-interference in the
affairs of its neighbors. Reagan's people
were nothing if not brazen in their hy-
pocrisy, yet the Senate Intelligence
Committee bought this lie, too. The
House voted to cut off all aid. A “com-
promise” allowed another $24 million
to the CIA for the Contras. The CIA
stepped up its war, mining harbors,
bombing airfields. Even Barry Goldwa-
ter (R-Ariz.), Reagan’s best friend on
the Senate Intelligence Committee, re-
alized he had been lied to. He com-
plained that it was hard to defend their
policy “if we don't know what the hell is going on.”* Even
in that confession there was a lie: Anyone who wanted to,
could easily know exactly what was going on.

Finally, Congress passed and Reagan signed Boland II
which extended the ban to the Pentagon and any “intelligence
agency.”™* CIA Director William Casey stepped easily
through the slightly tightened loophole and turned to a ma-
rine lieutenant colonel seconded to the staff of the National
Security Council as his agent and operational point-man for
continuing the Administration’s covert policy. Casey got
plenty of help from other members of the Restricted Inter-
agency Group (RIG) of sub-cabinet officials like Undersec-
retary of State Elliott Abrams.

From October 1984 to October 1986, when Congress
re-authorized “humanitarian™ assistance to the Contras,
President Reagan and his senior advisers sought by hook
(soliciting “donations” from private citizens and foreign gov-
ernments, in return for favorable treatment) or crook (diver-
sion of funds from other sources) to keep the Contras in the

21. Iran-Contra Repon, p. 34

23, The mining of Nicammguan harbors was revealed in the US. by Karen
Tumulty, “House Denounces Mining,” Los Angeles Times, April 13, 1984, p.
1. Goldwater's reaction and Casey 's “apology ™ are found at 5. Rep. 98-665, pp. 8- 10
24. Originally added to an omnibus appropriations bill signed October 12, 1984,
similar provisions were added 1o the Defense and Intclligence Authorization
hills for fscal year 1985.

Rick Reinhard

Ollie North makes crime pay at booksigning in Virginia where he is building
support and a massive war chest for a 1994 Senate run,

field. The National Security Adviser, Robert “Bud” McFar-
lane, was assigned the task of “keeping the Contras together
body and soul,"” and he delegated the job — bag man in
conventional parlance — to North. Rich people like Joseph
Coors, the beer baron, and Ellen Garwood, an heiress with
spare change, asked Casey what they could do to help. Casey
sent them to North for a tour of the White House and a sales
pitch that ended with a handshake and photo with the presi-
dent himself. The money was donated to tax-exempt, non-
profit shell organizations — some of the leaders of which had
formerly worked for the Office of Public Diplomacy and the
U.S. Information Agency.?® [t was then laundered through a
network of Panamanian companies and Swiss bank accounts
to buy guns and ammo, even planes and helicopters — all
illegal. When exposed, Abrams told Congress — between
lies about his own lack of knowledge or involvement — that
he found it degrading for a great power to walk around

rattling a “tin cup.”?’
By 1985, the NSC also was engaged in secret negotiations
with Iran’s government to win release of hostages held by
(continued on p. 57)

25. McFarlane Testimony, Heanings, 100-02, May 11, 1987, pp. 5, 20-21.

26. Richard Miller and Frank Gomez, among others,

27. “Repont of the Congressional Committees Investigating the lran-Contra
Aflair,” ap. cit., p. 189,

‘need to know'* = Donald P. Gregg = “deceptive” — Alberi Hakim = “defamatory” = Charles Hill * “tendentious” = Michael A.

Ledeen * "not in keeping with the spirit of the plea arrangement * - Robert C. McFarlane = “No comment” - John N. MeMahon
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The last number trial of the Cold War era targets Palestinian rights activists
and ushers in the anti-immigrant fervor that is scarring the ‘90s.

Phyllis Bennis

Seven years is a long time. In January 1987, the Reagan
administration’s orchestration of the Cold War had ratcheted
up regional and global tensions around the world. The Middle
East was a tinderbox of tensions, and in pre-intifada Pales-
tine, despair and repression were moving inexorably toward
upheaval and an uprising of resistance.

Back in Washingion, the Justice Department, led by Rea-
gan’s close friend, the cold warring Attorney General Edwin
Meese, launched a domestic version of the White House and
State Department’s international “anti-terrorism” crusade.
On January 26, in coordinated pre-dawn assaults, a combined
task force of the FBI, INS, local police, and other law en-
forcement agents staged helicopter-backed raids across Los
Angeles County. At gunpoint, they arrested six Palestinians
and the Kenyan wife of one of them. (A seventh Palestinian,
a pharmacy student, was arrested later that day while taking

Phyllis Bennis is a Middle East analyst and U.N.-based journalist. She is author
of From Siones to Statehood: the Palestimian Uprising (Brooklyn: Interlink,
1989 and Aliered Siates: A Reader in the New World Order (Brooklyn:
Interlink, 1993), She has worked as a consultant 10 the Los Angeles Eight
defense team since the case began and has attended the trial, Photo: Samir Twair.
From left: Aiad Barakat, Julie Mungai, Niam Shanf, Ayman Obeid, Michel
Shehadeh, Basher Amer, Khader Hamide. Not pictured is Amjad Obeid,
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a chemistry exam.) Headlines spilled out of the presses:
“7 Tied to PLO Terrorist Wing Seized by INS,”! was among
the more sober. The tabloids screamed various versions of
“Terrorist Nest Discovered in L.A.”

In the next seven years, much changed. The Cold War
ended. The Bush administration storm raged through the
desert, leaving 200,000 to 300,000 Iraqi dead and positioning
the U.5. as the world’s sole superpower.

Now, although Middle East tension and Israeli occupation
of Palestinian lands continue, key diplomatic changes have
taken place. Israel has begun long-rejected direct negotia-
tions with the PLO. The Clinton administration has opened
talks with the organization it once branded as “terrorist,”
pledged $500,000 of U.S. tax money to back mostly PLO-run
institutions in the West Bank and Gaza, and agreed to provide
“non-lethal” military aid directly to Yasir Arafat and the PLO.

Double Standard
But in Los Angeles, some things haven’t changed at all. The
“Los Angeles Eight™ still face deportation for their political

l. William Overend and Ronald Soble, Los Angeles Times, January 27, 1987,
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ideas and activities that, had they been U.S. citizens, would have
been completely legal: They spoke out in defense of Palestinian
national rights and the legitimacy of the PLO, and they raised
funds for hospitals, clinics, and other humanitarian projects
aiding Palestinians in the occupied temritories and in exile. Two
of the Eight, green card-holding long-time U.S. residents
Khader Hamide and Michel Shehadeh, are still on tnal in Los
Angeles immigration court facing deportation. The cases
against the other six, for related technical visa violation charges,
remain pending,

The case reflects a long, and in some ways, quintessen-
tially U.S. saga which is raising far-reaching issues of viola-
tions of constitutional rights, judicial conflict of interest, and
anti-Palestinian politics. In the trial, the government’s key
“anti-terrorism experis” collapsed under defense
cross-examination after displaying ignorance of
key events and players in the Middle East. The
Chief Judge of the U.S. Immigration Court, on his
deathbed in Washington, hand-picked a smart, am-
bitious young judge to take his place in the case.
That judge, a former prosecutor with the Justice
Department’s anti-Nazi team in Cleveland (yes,
John Demjanjuk’s name will emerge later), also
turns out to be an official of the same “civil rights™
organization which spied on the L.A. Eight and first
urged the FBI to prosecute or deport them.

The government has never charged the defen-
dants with terrorism. In 1989, Bush’s candidate to
head the CIA, then-FBI Director William Webster,
testified to Congress that a three-year FBI investi-
gation had found no evidence of support for terror-
ism, of planning or supporting terrorist activity, or
indeed of any illegal activity by any of the Eight.?
If they were U.S. citizens, he said, there would have
been no basis for their arrest. In 1991, the lead
prosecuting attorney, Michael Lindemann, told the
New York Times that “it goes without saying that if
they were United States citizens, nothing would be
applicable to them.™ But they are not U.S. citizens,
and still today, the effort to deport the Eight pro-
ceeds at full steam under the supposedly civil lib-
erties-oriented Justice Department of Attorney
General Janet Reno.

Defining Terrorism
The ordeal of the L.A. Eight spans three administra-
tions and brings home the ideological war against
“terrorism” that marked the end of the Cold War, the
beginning of the “new world order,” and the imple-
mentation of the Clinton “vision.”

The Eight are still being prosecuted despite re-
peal of the law under which they were arrested.

2. “Depon for Acts Not Speech,” (editorial), Washington Post,
November 30, 1991

3. Seth Mydans, "Free Speech Is ai [ssue as a Palestinian in U.S.
Cites Deponation,” New York Times, December B, 199].
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Congress’ dismantling of the anticommunist McCarran-Wal-
ter Actin 1990 (which was the main legal vehicle in the 1940s
and "50s for deporting alleged communists during the
McCarthy era) was supposed to end the threat of deportation
for unpopular ideas and ensure that people faced deportation
only for unlawful actions, not for ideas, associations, or
memberships. But that same year, Congress passed a new
immigration bill, which essentially substituted “anti-terror-
ist” for “anti-communist”™ restrictions. In fact, because it
leaves the term “terrorist organization™ undefined, and sub-
ject to the whim of changing political currents, the new
regulation represents an equally serious threat to civil liber-
ties as did its precedent. The government interpretation of the
law, being tested for the first time in the trial of the L.A.-8,

Mol Clagsidy il

Israel considered the Intifada a part of Palestinian terrorism.
Here, a schoolgirl in Jerusalem throws rocks at police.
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is that any organization with a history of armed struggle, or
even a few fumbling or failed military strikes, may be defined
as “terrorist” and its non-citizen supporters threatened with
deportation.

Ironically, while trying to deport the Eight for raising
funds for humanitarian institutions run by one faction of the
PLO, the U.S. government recently pledged hundreds of
millions of dollars directly to the PLO. Thus, while President
Clinton calls on U.S. taxpayers to supply aid dollars, non-
citizens who support these same organizations face deporta-
tion. The U.S, government position is that any support to any
organization, or to any institution supported by that organi-
zation, that ever carried out military activities constitutes
support to a “terrorist organization” and is a deportable
offense. If the government implemented its policy uniformly,
all the non-citizens who donated money to the FMLN of El
Salvador or to the ANC during Nelson Mandela’s triumphant
1991 U.S. tour would be subject to deportation. The govern-
ment would also have to bring charges against thousands of
its ideological allies who donated to the Nicaraguan Contras,
anti-Castro Cubans, and the Afghan Mujahedeen.

Demonizing Immigrants

The Los Angeles case has implications far beyond the walls of
the Los Angeles courtroom. It lays open a number of key
political threats of the post-
Cold War era:

* denying First Amend-
ment and other rights to
non-U_S. citizens;

* legitimating anti-
immigrant prejudices;

* legalizing deportation
of non-citizens for sup-
porting national or-
ganizations back
home;

* using spurious claims
of “terrorism™ 1o create
public panic;

* continuing long-stand-
ing U.S. efforts to undermine Palestinian nationalism de-
spite tactical U.S. moves towards the cuddlization of Yasir
Arafat;

* allowing pro-Israeli lobbying organizations to influence, per-
haps sometimes even determine, U.S. government policy,;

* and govemment planning for mass incarceration of “suspect
non-citizens from the Middle East.

Within weeks of the L.A. arrests in 1987, a chilling gov-
emment document, “Alien Terrorists and Undesirables: A
Contingency Plan,™* revealed the apparent breadth of the
Reagan administration’s campaign. The report came out of
the Alien Border Control Commission (ABCC), an inter-

i

4. The report was leaked 1o the New York Times and on February 5, 1987, 1o the
LA .8 Committee for Justice.

18 CovertAction

“Alien Terrorists and Undesirables:
A Contingency Plan,” recommended
“a review of contingency plans for

removal of selected aliens from the

U.S. and sealing of the borders.”

agency task force with representatives of several divisions of
the Department of Justice (FBI, INS and others), the State
Department, Customs, and the U.5. Marshals. ABCC's goals,
as articulated in the responsibilities of its working groups,
were “development of visa restrictions from certain coun-
tries...likely 1o be supportive of terrorist activity within the
United States; expulsion from the United States of Alien [sic)
activists who are not in conformity with their immigration
status...[and] a review of contingency plans for removal of
selected aliens from the U.S. and sealing of the borders.™

The “certain™ countries were identified as seven Arab
nations — Jordan, Lebanon, Algeria, Syria, Tunisia, Libya
and Morocco — plus Iran. Interestingly, because the U.S,
denied their national identity, the Palestinians were not spe-
cifically named but were instead grouped with Jordanians.
The plans for “removal of selected aliens” included detailed
arrangements for internment camps in Oakdale, Louisiana,
and elsewhere. One possible scenario included “invalidat[ing]
the visas of all non-immigrants of the nationality group;”
another proposed that “if the Oakdale detention center is too
full an adjacent site is sized to house up to 5,000 aliens in
temporary (ients) quarters suitable in that southern climate."®

Throughout the first years of the Palestinian deportation
efforts, it became clear that the government was using the
L.A. Eight as a test case for this ABCC contingency plan. The
government viewed Pal-
estinians as the “weak
link™ among civil liberties
and immigrants’ rights
movements and thus more
easily targeted than, say,
Central Americans who
had more electoral clout,
allies in Congress, and
backing from solidarity
movements. The breadth
of support that developed
tor the Eight from many
mainstream civil rights
organizations, con-
gresspeople, religious
leaders, and others surprised U.S, functionaries. As one un-
nerved INS official acknowledged, “we didn’t expect the
[noted civil rights attorney] Leonard Weinglasses of the
world" to be involved in this case.’

Further evidence that the L.A.-8 case was a trial run for
the Contingency Plan was shown by how closely the arrests
followed the specific tactics advocated in the document. In
the ABCC document, officials were advised to:

* “routinely hold any alien so charged without bond, as a
danger to the national securnity and public safety"”;
* “vigorously oppose granting of bond by immigration judges™;

5. ABCC, "Alien Terronsts and Undesimbles.” February 5, 1987,
6. Ihid,
7. Press conference, 1987.
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* rely when possible,
on non-ideological
provisions of the de-
portation laws, so0
that “in this way,
should the single [ex-
plicitly political]
charge fail, the gov-
emment has a “fall-
back' position on
which to rest”;

* use evidence regard-
ing the respondents’
political affiliations
even “in those
charges where the
[political] charge
cannot be estab-
lished and a lesser
charge is used (such
as the overstay pro-
visions)."”

The Contingency
Plan, and its parent
agency, the ABCC, re-
flected a nascent re-
newal of the anti-
immigrant fever just
taking shape in the
mid-1980s. Perhaps it
wis prescient — popu-
lar hostility and efforts
to blame “foreigners”
for every social problem from AIDS to unemployment to
street crime are growing rapidly. Then again, the rise in
public fear that immigrants are taking away jobs, health care
services, and social benefits which would supposedly other-
wise be available to citizens, may be, at least in part, a result
of government programs targeting aliens.

like this one in the West Bank

Outlawing Political Activities for Non-Citizens

But even beyond the Contingency Plan, the effont to deport the
Eight represents a thoroughgoing assault on the principle that
non-U.S. citizens have the same constitutional rights as citizens.
And on this point, the government may not prevail. The denial
of the First Amendment right of free speech has provoked
special outrage, even in the mainstream media. Newspapers
throughout the country, from the New York Times and Washing-
ton Post outward, editorialized against the deportation effort.®
At least one judge agreed. For over six years Federal District
Court Judge Stephen Wilson has been heaning ADC v. Reno, as
it is currently called, a companion case to the govemment’s

B. “The USA and the PLO.” (editorial), “Exorcising McCarran-Walicrs®
Ghosl,” New York Times, Scptember 22, 1993
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Some money raised in the U.5S. has gone to popular committee mobile medical units,

. In the kitchen, a dentist extracts a tooth.

deportation effort. This affirmative suit, brought by a number
of Arab-American organizations as well as the Eight them-
selves, aims to stop the government's deportation. In alandmark
ruling on December 22, 1988, Wilson held that non-citizens do
indeed enjoy First Amendment rights identical to those of citizens.

In a January 7, 1994 order, he noted “[M]ere association
with PFLP [Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine] is
protected by the First Amendment....[T]he PFLP is not solely
a criminal organization. It does more than conduct terrorist
operations.” The ruling supported the defense contention that
the broad scope of PFLP activities” demonstrates the difficulty

9, Although the respondents have yet (o call thelr own witnesses, as the Justice
Department’s case remains unfinished, they have submitted a lengthy exhibit
that demonstrates the breadth of PFLP activities: including a network of
kindergariens and daycare centers throughout the Middle East; clinics and
hospitals providing primary as well as surgical care for Palestinians, Lebanese,
Syrians and others; a wide-ranging social wellare organization thal provides
money, educational opportunitics and job training for Palestinians living under
occupation or in exile; suppont for the families of killed or wounded Palestinians;
cultural teams, art exhibitions and poster production; publishing centers, includ-
ing several magaznes, and hooks of politics and literalure; diplomatic activities,
with offices in numerous countrics around the world, as well as participation in
PLO diplomatic missions and internal PLO activities; and many morc.
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Although Yasir Arafat is now recognized by the U.S,,

still subject to deportation.

and inherent politicization of defining any such organization
as “terrorist.”

The INS, moreover, does not deny that the pFLP, the PLO
faction the L.A.-8 supported, carries out a wide range of
completely lawful activities involving a network of health
care institutions, social welfare, education, publishing, diplo-
macy, cultural work, etc. Rather, in its zeal to deport the
Eight, the INS finds these activities irrelevant. It also rejects
the body of legal precedents (established in cases relating to
the U.S. Communist Party) which established that deporta-
tion based on support for an organization that carries out both
lawful and unlawful activity must show specific support for
the unlawful actions. As one INS lawyer often intones in
court, the PFLP is a “terrorist organization,” and the fact that
it may “do a bake sale™ once in a while doesn’t change that.
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non-U.5.
citizens who donated to the organization which he runs are

Trial and Error

The heart of the government’s case, then, rests on
establishing that PFLP is a terrorist organization.
Only if the prosecutors can prove that fact, can they
g0 on to provide whatever evidence they think they
have about Shehadeh’s or Hamide's involvement
with the PFLP. And as it stands now, even afier
seven years, the Justice Department has yet to make
even the requisite prima facie (on its face) case that
PFLP is a “terrorist organization,”

The failure to establish proof is not from lack
of time, effort, or expenditure of money. For
several years, two “experts,” hired by the gov-
ernment at $200 an hour, have been preparing for
the trial by creating a chronology of the PFLP’s
military actions. Datling back to 1968 — when
Hamide was just starting high school and She-
hadeh was still in junior high — the chronology
lists hundreds of incidents, ranging from the
firebombing of bus stations in the occupied West
Bank, to the most flamboyant multiple skyjack-
ings of the early 1970s. It asserts that the PFLP
leadership was knowingly behind every one of
them. (No one claims, it should be remembered,
that any of the Eight had anything to do with any
of the incidents.)

The government'’s real quandary — as has be-
come increasingly clear during weeks of testi-
mony throughout 1992 and 1993 — is that the
chronology simply does not prove PFLP respon-
sibility or even establish with certainty that some
of the incidents actually occurred. The entire list
is based on hearsay and uncorroborated media
accounis; not one primary source is to be found
in the dozens of boxes of cross-referenced fold-
ers and hundreds of files., Even the source of
= much of the information cannot be authenti-
cated. The Israeli expert responsible for the re-
search, Ariel Meran of the Jaffe Center for Stra-
tegic Studies at Tel Aviv University, admits he
consulted Israeli military intelligence officials
all along the way, but refuses to say what information he
received. Thus, the judge is unable to assess the reliability
and accuracy of the evidence, since at least part of it comes
from classified sources. Merari's days of cross-examination,
painstakingly tedious but cumulatively devastating to the
government’s case, illustrated the problem. The cross exami-
nation sounded something like this:

Defense Lawyer Marc Van Der Hout: Now I'd like to
direct your attention to the incident on “X" day, which you
claim unequivocally was carried out by the PFLP. The first
piece of evidence you relied on 1s a radio broadcast sum-
mary from FBIS [the CIA's Foreign Broadcast Information
Service]. What is the name of the announcer who origi-
nally broadcast this information?
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Merari: | don't know.

Van Der Hout: What is the credibility of this reporter?
Merari: | have no information about the announcer.

Van Der Hout: Who provided the original source infor-
mation 1o the reporter?

Merari: 1 don’t know.

Van Der Hout: To whom was the original information
provided?

Merari: 1 don’t know.

Van Der Hout: How many layers of intermediaries were
there between any eyewitnesses, if there were any, to the
event, if it occurred at all, and the broadcast journalist?
Merari: | don't know.

Van Der Hout: Who wrote the text of the broadcast?
Merari: [ don't know.

Van Der Hout: Who translated the broadcast from its
original language?

Merari: I don't know.

Van Der Hout: Who summarized the original text for FBIS?
Merari: [ don’t know.

Etc.

The second hired witness, Paul Wilkinson!? from Aber-
deen University, was described as an expert in the broad
issues of terrorism — the pat-
terns, trends, overall tenden-
cies. This designation of the
Scottish academic as a gener-
alist was meant to excuse his
astonishing ignorance of the
specifics of the Middle East,
the PLO, the PFLP, and the
incidents making up the chro-
nology to which he attached
his name,

Part of his recent testimony
involved assessing newly re-
leased summaries of informa-
tion from the CIA and several
other agencies (provided re-
luctantly and incompletely
under court order), regarding
the evidence in classified files
that contradicts the govern-
ment’s claims of unequivocal PFLP responsibility for the
myriad incidents. By the end of Wilkinson’s last round of
testimony in December 1993, his expensive value to the gov-
ernment’s case seemed on the verge of collapse. A close-to-the-
mark paraphrase of his last 15 or 20 minutes on the witness stand
sounded something like thas:

— when he

10. In the mid-1980s, Wilkinson became a trustee al the Scotland -based Rescarch
Foundation for the Study of Terrorism. On September 10, 1984, he had a %)-minute
mecting with Li. Col. Oliver North and later that day made a one-hour presentation
to the National Security Council about terrorism in Western Europe (“Oliver
North's Schedule,” entry in North's diary, Seplember 10, 1984).
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Asked if he was ever threatened
with deportation, Chamorro smiled
and said it had happened once
informed

handlers that he would no longer

be willing to carry out their

chosen terrorist activities,

Defense Lawyer David Cole: Mr. Wilkinson, there is a
CIA document blaming *Abu Lutf” for a 1976 incident in
Istanbul, which you blame on the PFLP. Who is Abu Lutf?
Wilkinson: Oh, he’s a leader of the PFLP.

Cole: Okay. And in the next document the CIA blames
“Farouk Qaddoumi.” Who is Farouk Qaddoumi?
Wilkinson: Let me think... Yes, he's a leader of the PFLP also.
Cole: In fact, Mr. Wilkinson, isn’t it true that Abu Lutf and
Farouk Qaddoumi are actually the same person?
Wilkinson: You know, Your Honor, I think I must be
getting tired. Now that you mention it, you’re right. And
under both names he’s a leader of the PFLP.

Cole: But isn't it true that Farouk Qaddoumi is actually
the foreign minister of the PLO and a leader of Fatah?
Wilkinson: Well, yes, now that you remind me, he is a
PLO leader now. He used to be in the PFLP

Cole: And just when did he leave the PFLP?

Wilkinson: [ don’t know exactly, but some time between
the Istanbul incident and when he became foreign minister.
Cole: Now please look at the Newsweek article identify-
ing Farouk Qaddoumi as PLO foreign minister; what is the
date on that article?

Wilkinson: It's 1976, the day after the Istanbul event.
Cole: So what you're telling us is that in the 24 hours after this
incident, Qaddoumi left the
PFLP, joined Fatah, and be-
came the foreign minister of
the PLO. And at exactly what
time of day did that occur?
Wilkinson: [Answer unclear.]
Cole: Now, Mr. Wilkinson.
Another ClIA document
blames a previously un-
known Lebanese organiza-
tion for the Istanbul
incident; the CIA source is
An-Nahar. Whois An-Nahar?
Wilkinson: An-Nahar is
what they call Yasir Arafat.
Cole: And finally, Mr.
Wilkinson, the CIA blames
another non-PFLP organiza-
tion, based on a source named
As-Saffir. Who is As-Saffir?
Wilkinson: I'm sorry, your honor, I don’t know who he
is. I don’t know this person.

Cole: Mr. Wilkinson, isn 't it true that An-Nahar and A s-Saffir
are the two leading daily newspapers in Beirut?

his CIA

In February, Judge Bruce Einhorn, who is scheduled to rule
in the deportation case, set April 1 as the date by which the
government agencies must comply with his order to produce all
the material in their files which contradicts govermment claims.
So far, the CIA has produced very little, and the others — the
FBI, the DIA, the State Department, and several embassies
abroad — have produced even less.
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Selective Prosecution

A key factor in the trial has been the issue of selective prosecu-
tion. From the start, the defense has maintained that the decision
to test this new law on Palestinian activists was a conscious
political move. In the early months of the case, the defense
presented extensive evidence of “terrorist organizations™ (ac-
cording to the govermment’s own definition) whose non-citizen
members and supporters were not only not deported, but were
actually protected and promoted by the government. The de-
fense showed how these pro-U.S. groups were provided with
travel documents and govern-
ment-expedited travel arrange-
ments, money, logistical assis-
tance, and other support both in
and outside the U.S. Evidence re-
garding the Nicaraguan Contras,
the counterrevolutionary Cubans,
supporters of UNITA and RENAMO,
the Afghan mujahedeen, and oth-
ers was presented. Former Contra
leader Edgar Chamormo gave the
most compelling testimony. He
described his own involvement,
while residing in the .S, as a non-
U.S. citizen, in planning and exe-
cuting a wide range of terrorist
activities — especially attacks on
civilian economic targets in Nicara-
gua. Asked if he was ever threat-
ened with deportation, Chamorro
smiled and said it had happened
once — when he informed his
CIA handlers that he would no
longer be willing 10 carry out their chosen terrorist activities."’
In a January 1994 ruling, Federal District Court Judge
Wilson returned to the still unresolved issue of selective
prosecution. In a finding that seemed to indicate his belief
that the government does indeed discriminate unlawfully in its
choice of whom to deport, Wilson gave the Justice Department
until February 11, 1994, to produce records of any deportation
efforts against supporters of several pro-U.S. organizations.

Enter the ADL

While ADC v. Reno continues in federal court, the INS case
against Hamide and Shehadeh is now the showcase of immigra-
tion Judge Bruce Einhorn. And that raises some further compli-
cating factors. Judge Einhom, before moving to Los Angeles,
was one of the six prosecutors in the OS] (Office of Special
Investigations) team responsible for the flawed extradition pro-
ceeding against accused Nazi war criminal John Demjanjuk. In
a blistering criticism, the Sixth Circuit Couri of Appeals stated
that the OSI team had, through reckless disregard of its respon-
sibility to disclose exculpatory material, committed fraud
against the trial court. “The attitude of the OSI attorneys [one

11. Testimony, May 1987.
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of whom was Judge Einhom] toward disclosing information to
Demjanjuk’s counsel was not consistent with the govemment's
obligation to work for justice, rather than for a result that favors
its attorneys’ preconceived ideas of what the outcome of the
legal preceedings should be.” ' The Court of Appeals went on
to say that il appeared that the actions of the OSI team were
overly responsive to the views of various Jewish groups, includ-
ing the Anti-Defamation League of B nai B'rith (ADL) and that
the OSI's recklessness occurred under the shadow of pressure
from the ADL and other groups.

Enter the ADL. The organi-
zation represents a mesclun of
legitimate civil rights work, es-
pecially anti-Nazi and anti-Klan
activities, mixed with a less sa-
vory history of aggressive pro-
Isracli lobbying and attempts to
silence pro-Palestinian voices.
Its annual editions of a “Cam-
pus Guide 1o Anti-Zionist Activi-
ties” for its college affiliates
included lists of potential lec-
ture circuit speakers, Palestin-
jan and Jewish, with political
views deemed unacceptable to
this “civil rights” organization.
The pamphlet suggested ways 1o
keep pro-Palestinian perspec-
tives from being heard on cam-
pus, and provided “background”
information to bolster the claim
that pro-Palestinian views are
intrinsically anti-Semitic.

That Judge Einhorn is an activist and committee chair of
the Los Angeles ADL did not, however, become an issue until
the ADL's connection to the L.A.-8 was discovered

Since February 1993, the ADL has been the subject of
several lawsuits, a threatened criminal indiciment, investiga-
tion by San Francisco and Los Angeles law enforcement
authorities, and enormous public controversy.'* The dispute
centered on revelations that an ADL operative, on the organi-
zation’s payroll for 12 years, had collaborated with a San
Francisco police officer in spying on the Arab-American
community and many progressive activists in California and

i fowr Fabls s

Terrorism “expert” Paul Wilkinson

(continued on p. 63)

12. Repont ol Sixth Circuit Coun of Appeals in Demjanjuk v. Petrovsky, 1993
13. Sec Abdeen Jabara, “ Anti-Defamation League: Civil Rights and Wrongs,”
CovertAction, No, 45 (Summer 1993), pp. 28-37 lor details of the spying.
sSubsequently, "[0O]n November 15th, ADL came to an agreement with the San
Franciseo D.A. which resulled in dropping ‘any and all claims’ against the
onganization, against Roy Bullock—ils alleged contrad employee, and any
other employees or directors. Under terms of the settlement, ADL agreed not 1o
obtain documents or information illcgally, by itsell or from third pantics acling
for ADL. ADL also agrees 1o pay up to $75,000 for programs in San Francisco
establishad to fight bigotry and hate crimes.” A civil suit agamnst the San
Francisco police, the FBI, ADL, and several individuals, brought by a coalition
oftargeted groups is pending, (“Spy Case Against ADL Dropped by 5.F. District
Autorney,” The Right to Know & the Freedom io Act, National Commiitee
Against Repressive Legislation newslelter, January-February 1994, p. 4.)
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Jason Eskenaziimpact Visuals
Abandoned Stalin-era oil fields in Azerbaijan are now a magnet for speculators, mercenaries, and international intrigue.

UL.S. Mercenaries Fight in Azerbaijan

Alexis Rowell

ormer members of the U.S. armed forces are being paid
millions of dollars to conduct a military training pro-
gram in Azerbaijan, according to Western diplomatic
and oil company sources.! The U.S. veterans first surfaced in
Azerbaijan in 1991 during the rule of Ayaz Mutalibov, the
country’s last Communist president. They were part of a U.S,
company, MegaOil, which was in Azerbaijan ostensibly to
increase the productivity of some of the 1950s-vintage oil wells

1. Alexis Rowell is a British journalist based in Thilisi who reports for the BBC
and the Observer (London). Unless otherwisc noted, all attributions in the article
are based on interviews conducted by the author in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and
Georgia from fall 1993 through February 1994,
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dotting the countryside around Baku. Foreign diplomats in the
Azeri capital say MegaOil was actually training a private army
for Mutalibov. According to a senior U.S. oil company source,
MegaOil had links with General Richard Secord, an intemna-
tional arms dealer with long-time ties to the CIA who was
deeply involvedin the Iran-Contra scandal in the 1980s.% Secord
has denied the allegations, but his involvement was confirmed
by an executive of Ponder Industries, the company that signed
an agreement with MegaOil to provide technical services. The
Ponder source, who is still in Azerbaijan, reported that Secord

2. Secord was Oliver Nonh's middleman in a CIA coven operation to funnel
the proceeds [rom selling arms to Iran to the nght-wing Contras in Nicaragua.
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had pulled out of Azerbaijan after an argument with MegaOil
president, Gary Best. Ponder split with MegaOil last year, he
said, after Best forcibly appropriated Ponder's satellite tele-
phone and compulers. “The equipment was then taken to an
Azeri Defense Ministry barracks in central Baku where Mega-
Oil have their headquarters,” the Ponder employee charged.

Secord visited Azerbaijan in mid-1992, just before Presi-
dent Mutalibov was overthrown. MegaOil's work continued
for some time under the subsequent nationalist administra-
tion of Abulfaz Elchibey, who was elected president in June
1992. “I met the president of MegaQil [Gary Best] once,”
said Isa Gamber, then chair of the parliament, but now in
opposition. “He hinted that they could do more for Azerbai-
jan than just oil business. He had army written all over his
face.” At the time of the meeting, MegaOil’s military arm was
firmly ensconced in a former holiday camp near Baku, where
training was already under way, according to one young Azeri
who took part.

The U.S. demanded that the Americans be expelled from
Azerbaijan, and President Elchibey acceded to the request.
Since then, MegaOil has ceased operations as a registered
U.S. company. According to Western oil company and diplo-
matic sources, its military arm reappeared in Azerbaijan in
autumn 1993, when former Azeri Communist Party boss and
Brezhnev protégé, Heydar Aliev, came to power. At the time,
Armenian forces were advancing into southwest Azerbaijan.

The U.S, mercenaries are now based in three Azeri army
camps — two of which are in central Baku — where they are
again conducting a military training program. Until recently,

the press office of the Azeri Defense Ministry was based in
one of the Baku bases — the Salyan barracks. Asked what
the mercenaries were doing there, press office head Asad
Issazade said: “I've often wondered the same thing. I see
them walking around, but no one will tell me what they are
doing.” The official response came the next day: “There are
no foreign soldiers in Azerbaijan.” Within a week, the press
office had been moved out of the Salyan barracks.

The other camp is in central Azerbaijan, near the town of
Hadji Kabul. “There’s no road to the camp. You can only get
there by jeep or helicopter,” said an Azeri who began the
training at the site in September. “1 was recruited by the
Security Ministry. There were three trainers: one teaching
strategy, one overseeing shooting practice, the other doing
physical training. The equipment was all Azeri.”

Diplomats put the total number of American trainers at
about a dozen and they suggest that such a small group means
that the U.S. veterans are probably training a bodyguard
force.’ One Western diplomat claimed the U.S. trainers in
Azerbaijan were being paid $12 million for their work.

Opportunities in the Caucasus

The U.S. veterans are not the only foreign soldiers in Azerbai-
jan. Although British law prohibits Britons from working as
mercenaries, and Azerbaijan is now under a British arms em-
bargo, the British-registered Summit (Consortium) Lid. is ne-

3. Another repon put the number at “20 (o 25." Basik Gurdilek, “Teaching War
in Baku,” Associated Press (datelined Baku), Januasy 24, 1994,
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gotiating with the Azeri authorities to send arms and mercenar-
ies 10 Azerbaijan. Although in early January British diplomats
in Baku said London neither had nor desired knowledge of the
negotiations, the British Foreign Office has now admitted that
it is aware of the deal. The company is circumventing the British
arms embargo by operating out of Turkish Cyprus, according 1o
Lord Erskine, a British peer who admits he is involved. Un-
named Turkish sources “close to the Azeri authonties™ add that
the Azeris are prepared to pay up to $250 million a year for the
men and services, with payment mainly in the form of oil,
Privately chartered Russian aircraft are on standby to fly British
mercenaries into the area.”

Diplomats in the region say there are also Iranian army
trainers in the country. Thireteen Iranian army officers and
one Mullah had stayed in the Hotel Aspheron in November,
according to a hotel employee. The only verification comes from
a journalist from Azerbaijan's Turan news agency who claims he
visited a camp 30 kilometers west of the Azeri capital.

Meanwhile, in August, up to a thousand Afghan Muja-
hedeen arrived in Azerbaijan. Their commanders often stay
in “The Azerbaijan,” one of Baku’s main tourist hotels.
Diplomats say some of the Mujahedeen were involved in the

4. Tim Kclscy, “Axzeris hire British mercenaries,” The [ndependent (London),
January 24, 1994, Michael Mates, then Northem [reland minister responsible
for security affairs, named Ermkine a “a member of the security services,” an
allegation the government denies,
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Refugees on a helicopter to Yerevan fleeing daily bombings Iin Stepanerkert, Karabakh, 1993.

fighting for the first time in October, when the Armenians
occupied a 100-kilometer long strip of Azeri territory along
the Azeri-Iranian border.

The Russians, who officially pulled out of Azerbaijan in
May 1993, never went away at all, according to these diplo-
maits. About a hundred paratroop officers are believed to have
remained in the former barracks of the Soviet 4th Army in
Ganja, Azerbaijan’s second city, in western Azerbaijan,
where they are thought to be training supporters of the Azeri
prime minister, Surat Husseinov. The most commonly sug-
gested reason for the Russian involvement is that elements
in the Russian Defense Ministry back Husseinov as a coun-
terweight to Aliev and to ensure the Azeri president’s adher-
ence 1o Moscow's imperial design.

This writer met a group of soldiers from Kazakhstan in the
streets of Barda, just to the northeast of Karabakh, in early
February 1994. Both sides in the conflict use mercenaries
from the former Soviet armed forces, especially from Russia
and Ukraine. Some diaspora Armenians from the U.S., France,
and the Middle East fight on the Karabakh Armenian side.

The final element in the Azeri equation, as far as foreign
military involvement is concerned, is Turkey. A group of
Turkish army officers has been based in an Azeri military
camp near Ganja since the pro-Turkish President Elchibey
came to power. When he was overthrown, they stopped
training for a while, but have now resumed their work,
according to a prominent Turkish businessman.
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MegaOil's Greasy Trail

MegaOil U.5.A./Vista Joint Ventures Inc., as the company is
officially known, was incorporated in April 1985. Its officers
were listed as Gary Best and his wife, Patricia, wnrl:mg from
their address at 90 Cavalry Road, in Marietta, Georgia." In April
1992, Gary Best persuaded Ponder Industries, Inc., an oilfield
service company [rom Alice, Texas, lo sign agreements with
MegaOil to provide him with technical services in “designated
oil fields™ in Azerbaijan. By the summer, however, a major oil
deal looked remote. Best tried to blame the Azeri government,
claiming disagreement over lhc status of any revenues from oil
produced at the various sites.” Brigadier General Harry “Heinie”
Aderholt (UsaFRet.), who brought Secord and Best together,
later parted company with Best charging him with “unethical
behavior.™ Aderholt claimed that Best lied to Ponder and other
investors when he told them he had signed contracts with the
Azerbaijan government.”

In mid-1992, a joint MegaOil-Ponder team visited Baku several
times. Secord went along on at least one of these trips. As Best
pursued his military interests and his supposed oil deal evapo-
rated, relations between Best and Ponder soured. According 1o
Ponder Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Michael Du-
pre, “We took on our own investigation to determine if a joint
contract existed.” Unable to verify Best's claims in April 1993,
Ponder announced that its “prior agreements with MegaOil
U.S.A./Vista Joint Ventures, Inc. are nullities, duc to the absence
of any registered or approved joint venture agreements™ belween
them and “any Azerbaijan entity.”

Just what MegaOil really does is unclear, A former associate
described it somewhat obliquely as having deall in “windows
and commodities.” Despite the company’s name, until its con-
nection to mercenaries became controversial, neither oil execu-
tives nor industry watchdogs had ever heard of MegaOil or Gary
Best. He was, however, known for claiming ties with U.S.
intelligence services, and, according to Aderholt, his oil well
venture was primarily aimed at raising funds to free U.S. POWSs
and MIAs he claimed were still alive in Vietnam.®

Despite Best's spook claims and POW/MIA actlivism, State
Department sources downplay any motive other than profit for
MegaQil’s mercenary operation: “They 're working for whoever
will pay the mosi money.”® .

—Phillip Smith and Louis Wolf

1. MegaQil U.S.A./Vista Joint Ventures, Inc., Georgia corporate record (ilings,
1992, 1993,

1. Ponder Industrics, Inc., Amnual Stockholders Report, August 31, 1992

3, Sicphen MacSearraigh, “Former High-Ranking Official Not Ensnarled in
Megaoil's Spider Web in Azerbaijan,” The Ol Daily, January 5, 1994, pp. 1 4.
Aderholt is an ex-Air Force intelligence colonel with expertise in “special warfare
technigues.” He worked closely with the ClA-connected, Detroit-based World
Medical Relief in Southeast Asia and Central America Aderholt's lies with Second
date hack to their Air Force days together, when he was Secord's superior. In 1989,
while Secord was under investigation for his mle im Iman-Contra, Aderhold set up
lﬂldurd&mdﬂmfﬂﬂim Fumd. He heads the Air Commando Associstion
in Fon Walton Beach, Flonda.

4, Mack Ponder, President of Ponder Industries, Inc., Press Release from Baku,
Azerbaijan, Apnl 12, 1993,

5. MacSearraigh, op. ai., p. 4.

6. Ibid.
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Mired in War

But so far, the Mujahedeen, the Iranians, the Turks, the
Russians, and the Americans have done little to improve
the Azeri war effort. More than anything else, their arrival
is @ mark of President Aliev's desperate position. Few
Azens seem to want to fight against the Armenians, who
now control about a fifth of Azerbaijan and have displaced
from their homes over three-quarters of a million Azer
civilians.’

Much of Azeri military incompetence arises from the
fact that it had few officers in the Soviet armed forces,
and those it did have were in logistics. The new Azeri
defense minister has, at first sight, impressive creden-
tials: He was a Major General in the Soviet army and
deputy commander of the Leningrad military district —
transport division. “And he can’t even organize that,”
groans one senior foreign diplomat.

The Russians could almost certainly do more to help
— if they wanted to. Aliev has already taken Azerbaijan
into the Russian-dominated CIS, but he has not yet
agreed to the deployment of Russian troops on Azerbai-
jan’s borders with Turkey and Iran, or to the creation of
Russian bases in his country. The Russian defense min-
ister, General Pavel Grachev, made it clear while in
neighboring Georgia with Boris Yeltsin, that he wanted

In a desperate effort to gain political
capital and some breathing space,
since mid-December Aliev has
thrown waves of voung Azeris into
the conflict over Nagorno-Karabakh.

to establish military bases throughout the Transcau-
casus. Only Azerbaijan has not yet publicly accepted the
Russian “request.”

Aliev is dealing with anyone he thinks can keep the
Russians from making him a puppet leader or replacing him.
But Iran and Turkey are too afraid of Russia 1o be much
help, and the Western oil companies interested in the
arca have yet to persuade their governments that the
West's strategic concerns should coincide with their
particular corporate objectives.”

5. Bill Frelick, “Faultline of Nationality Conllicss: Refugoes, Persons from
Armenin ind Azeshaian,” US. Commiiee for Refugees, March 1994, p. 25,

6. A consortium of eight oil companics led by British Petrolcum is negoti-
ating a $7 billion deal with the Azen government for drlling rights in the
Caspian Sea. The other consonium members are the U.S. companies Amoco,
Unocal, Pennzoil, and McDermott Inc.; as well Statoil (Norway), Ramco
(Britain), and the Turkish state oil company TPAQ. Stephen MacSearraigh,
“Meganil Staffed With U S. Mercenanes 1o Train Azeri Soldiers,” The Off
Daily, December 28, 1993, pp. 1L4.
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Shahe Madenian
Shahumian, formerly Armenia,
now incorporated into Azerbaijan.

In a desperate effort to gain po-
litical capital and some breathing
space, since mid-December Aliev
has thrown waves of young Azeris
into the conflict over Nagorno-
Karabakh. According to aid work-
ers, thousands of young conscripts
have lost their lives, Furthermore,
the Azeri winter offensive has
bogeed down after having retaken
only one of the string of towns out-
side Karabakh that the Armenians
captured and razed last year.

Many of the Azeris killed were
unwilling young conscripts who
were press-ganged into training
camps around Azerbaijan last sum-
mer and autumn. In late November
1993, this writer watched as hun-
dreds of young Azeris shambled out of the Prekeshku camp
some 40 kilometers west of Baku, split into two large groups,
and charged at each other across a muddy patch of flat
wasteland. The present offensive apparently has the same
lack of tactical sophistication.

Because of official censorship, there is little or no report-
ing here of the heavy Azeri losses, But there are an increasing
number of funerals. New graves, draped with Azeri flags,
appear every day in the martyrs’ cemetery outside the parlia-
ment in Baku. People know a high price is being paid. The
general feeling, however, is that the tide has turned and that
at last the Azeris are winning.

When or if the Armenians manage to regain the military
initiative — with or without Russian help — Azerbaijan

Spring 1994

could easily disintegrate. The Armenians
already control nearly a fifth of Azerbai-
jan’s territory, and it may be only a matter
of time before President Aliev, like Edvard
Shevardnadze, has to accede to everything
General Grachev wants,

Aliev himself admits that neither UN nor
European initiatives will stop the Armeni-
ans from taking more land. “Only Moscow
can do that,” he said last November. The
Armenians agree. A senior government
minister in Yerevan, the Armenian capital,
said last July that they were “not at all
waorried by the Turks or Iranians — only by
the possibility that Russia will actively side
with the Azeris.”

.: - _:_.ﬂ';—;
Ancush Ter Taullan

Armenian self-defense fighters armed with hunting rifles.

The official reason for the continued Armenian offensives
out of Karabakh and into Azerbaijan proper is “self-defense.”
The Karabakh Armenians view Azeri artillery positions out-
side the disputed territory as legitimate targets. But it is
highly unlikely that any Armenian offensive is undertaken
without a green light from Moscow.

For the moment, Russian and Armenian interests coincide.
But the mixture of oil, nationalism, and Russian imperial
designs on the fringes of the former Soviet Union is highly
unstable. The volatile situation in Azerbaijan and Armenia
provides abundant opportunities for specialists in war and
war-time profiteering. Armed with dollars and guns, the
mercenaries of MegaOil and their ilk are prepared to take full
advantage. '
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Guatemala’s Gross National Products:
Cocadollars, Repression, and Disinformation
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Terry Allen

As cocadollars fuel a construction boom in Guatemala City, a decades-old squatter community
nearby survives without running water or sewers. Meanwhile, the government still blames
unrest on a guerrilla movement run by an international communist conspiracy.

Frank Smyth

In the early 1980s, leftist guerrillas in Guatemala blew up
bridges, ambushed army convoys, and attacked military out-
posts. A decade later, the fighting in Guatemala’s civil war is
winding down. Combat between the government and the
guerrillas now occurs in only a few departments and only a
few times each year. But political violence, almost exclu-
sively by the government, continues. Even the U.S. State
Department reported in 1991 that the “military, civil patrols
and the police continued to commit a majority of the major
human rights abuses, including extrajudicial killings, torture
and disappearances.”

Frank Smyth, a fneelance journallst, s the author of “Flecing Guatemala,” “Gua-
temala army runs narcotics to the US.,” and “A New Ki of Cocaine™ in
Awomobile Magazine, the Sacramento Bee and the Washimgion Post, respectively.
L. “U.S. State Department Human Rights Report, Guatemala 1991, US. Em-
bassy, January 1992.
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The Guatemalan counterinsurgency campaign was con-
ceived with the support of U.S. counterinsurgency experis
such as Caesar Sereseres and Colonel George Minas. Sere-
seres has served as both a consultant to the Rand Corporation
and a Central America expert in the State Department’s
Office of Policy Planning.” Today, Guatemalan army officers
still describe him as “someone who understands our situ-
ation.” Minas served as a U.S. military attache in Guatemala
in the early 1980s.* Both encouraged Guatemala’s population
control strategy, involving the use of Vietnam-style military-
controlled “strategic hamlets” and civilian defense patrols.

2. See Caesar Serescres, “The Guatemalan Legacy: Radical Challenges and
Military Politics,” Report on Guaiemala, sais Papers in International Affairs,
No. 7, 1985, Johns Hopkins University, Washington, D.C., pp. 17-49.

3. Author’s first inlerview with Caplain Yon Rivera of the Guatemalan anmy's
Depanment of Information and Dissemination, November 5, 1992,

4. George Black, Garrivon Guatemala (New York: Monthly Review Press, 1984).
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The strategy of control was also characterized by a litany of
human rights crimes that stand out not only in the region but in
the world.’ The violence was so severe in the early 1980s in
Nobel Laureate Rigoberta Menchi’s home department of
Quiché, to cite but one example, that the entire Catholic arch-
diocese shut down and withdrew, with all its priests, nuns,
catechists, and many parishioners. The situation there and in
other departments by 1982 led Guatemala's Conference of
Catholic Bishops to conclude: “Not even the lives of old people,
pregnant women or innocent children were respected. Never in
our history has it come to such grave extremes.”

Reaping the Benefits of Stability

Not everyone suffered. Guatemalan army spokesmen openly
point out that the carnage has given Guatemala a level of
national stability it lacked earlier in the war,” and made the

country comparatively more
stable than El Salvador, Hondu-

estimate that between 50 and 75 metric tons of cocaine are
shipped through Guatemala each year. (In comparison, the same
experis estimate that before the present embargo, between 6 and
12 metric tons a year passed through Haiti.) Mexico and Gua-
temala, which share a common frontier, together move at least
two-thirds of the cocaine now reaching the U.S.'"

Guatemala's booming cocaine trade now distorts the Gua-
temalan economy, drawing local businesses into a web of
cocadollars and fostering corruption in both business and the
military. The Cali cartel and its Guatemalan partners are
trafficking cocaine that, at the wholesale price of $15,000 a
kilogram, is worth as much as one billion dollars a year — or
one-tenth of Guatemala’s entire GNP.!

Evidence of the cash flow generated by the cocaine trade
is abundant: Real estate prices in Guatemala City, by conser-
vative estimates, rose over 350 percent in just three years,
while inflation dropped from
60 to 14 percent over the same

ras, or even Mexico. With the
military firmly in charge, and
the civilian government largely
irrelevant, foreign investment
has climbed. Low wages have
attracted Asian firms wanting to
set up sweatshops, as well as
European and U.S. tourists.

It has also attracted the net-
work of cocaine traffickers
based in the Colombian city of
Cali. The cartel picked Guate-
mala “because it is near Mex-
ico, which is an obvious
entrance point to the U.S,, and
because the Mexicans have a
long established and well organ-

“The military guys who do
this are like serial killers.
They got away with it once,
so they think they’ll always get
away with it. If Jeffrey Dahmer
had been in Guatemala, he
would be a general by now.”

— forensic anthropologist Clyde Snow

period. Even more illicil
funds appear to be channeled
into the construction industry,
which has grown steadily at a
rate four times faster than the
rest of the economy. While
other Central American capi-
tal cities only seem to deterio-
rate, Guatemala City's
skyline continues to expand
— even though the newly con-
structed buildings still have
ample vacant office space.
The situation became so
unnerving by November 1992
that a group of local exporters
organized an unprecedented

ized mafia,” said a Latin Amer-

ica drug enforcement expert. “[t

is also a better transit and storage country than El Salvador
because it offers more stability and was easier to control.™

The Guatemalan Connection
In the 1980s, Guatemala was an insignificant player in the

cocaine trade. Today, however, Guatemala is the largest Central
American bodega or warehouse for cocaine transshipments 1o
the U.S., and ranks behind only Mexico and, perhaps, the
Bahamas in transshipping cocaine to the U.S.? Analysts at the
Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) and the State Depart-
ment's Bureau of International Narcotics Matters (INM) now

5. See the body of reports by London-based Amnesty Intemational and New
York-based Amencas Watch from the 1980s, and LS. State Department Human
Rights Repornts in the 19%0s,

6. Quoted in Jim Handy, Gift of the Devil (Toronto: Between the Lines, 1984), p. 255,
7. Author's first interview with Capt. Jon Rivera, November 5, 1992.

8. Transcript of interview with Latin America drug expent who requested
anonymity, Washington, D.C,, November 11, 1992,

9, See Drug Enforcement Administration, Justice Depantment, Worldwide Cocaine
Stmeation: Drug Inielligence Report, October 1993,
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conference: how to detect

whether their export products
are being used to run drugs. They held the conference seven
months after 6.7 tons of cocaine—enough to supply the total
U.S. demand for a week—was discovered in cases of frozen
broccoli shipped to Miami. Even these business leaders con-
cede that, in a sluggish global economy with many expon
markets depressed, the profits available from cocaine traf-
ficking can be extremely tempting.'* Newspaper editors say
that the cocaine trade in Guatemala has been able to buy out
entire businesses as well as institutions.'* But although eve-
rybody in Guatemala seems to know about it, hardly anybody
is willing, publicly, to say even a word.

10. Author's imerviews with INM and DEA officials in November and Decem-
ber 1993,

11. US. expens’ median estimale of 62.5 metric lons a year, at $15,000 per
kilogram (which is a low price, according o DEA [igure), comes 10 $937.5
million. This is the value of the cocaine upon delivery 1o the U S.

12. Author's interview with Guatemalan exponen who requested anonymity,
Guatemala City, November 1992,

13. Author's interview with a leading newspaper editor who requested anonym-
ity, Guatemala City, November 1992,
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Former President Serrano, speaking with businessmen's club, Amigas del Pais,
failed to control rights abuses or drug trafficking by the Guatemalan army.

Placing the Blame

Off the record, Western diplomats, leading entrepreneurs,
church officials and others all charge that senior Guatemalan
army officers are deeply involved in the cocaine traffic. Al-
though not even one military official has yet to be prosecuted
in either Guatemala or the U.S., 10 military officers and 20
paramilitaries under them have already been indicted or impli-
cated. They include:

* Ex-Lt Colonel Carlos Ochoa Ruiz and two army captains,
all of whom were caught in a DEA sting back in 1990,
smuggling a half metric ton of cocaine, worth §7.5 million
wholesale, to Tampa, Florida,'*

* A retired Guatemalan Air Force captain who owned a safe
house outside Antigua where the DEA found 2.8 metric
tons of cocaine.’

* Four army colonels, a major, a captain and 2() army-ap-
pointed civilian commissioners in Los Amates in eastern
Guatemala, who are accused — in legal testimony by survivors

14. On October 19, 199(0, the hall metric ton of cocaine was transported from
Esquintia, Guatemala to Tampa, Florida, acconding to the DEA. Ochoa was later
indicted by a grand jury in U.S. Middle District Court in Tampa, where he
remains charged, For the same cnime, Ochoa and the two army caplains were
also charged in a Guatemalan couni. Since 1990, Guaicmalan Civilian and
military courts have denied threc scparaic State Department roquests for Ochoa’s
extradition, while the legal process against them in Guaiemala appears permancnily
stalled. Although the Guatemalan army later discharged all three ollicers over
this case, the same military's coun ruled a year ago 1o dismiss all procecdings
against them, including the U.S. extradition request, for “lack of evidence.”
15. Answer to author's query by Joyce A. McDonald, Public Affairs Specialist,
Drug Enforcement Administration, Department of Justice, February B, 1993,
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— of having ordered the sepa-
rate murders of nine peasants,
and the torture and abuse of
many more.'”

The Los Amates survivors
charge that the army drove them off
their land to build runways to
smuggle drugs. One of the military
commissioners they name, Arnoldo
Vargas Estrada, was later extradit-
ed to Brooklyn, New York, where
he will be tried for smuggling sev-
eral tons of cocaine a month by trac-
tor trailers to the U.S, "

Shifting the Blame
The Guatemalan army ’s office of In-
formation and Dissemination, on the
other hand, counters that leftist guer-
rillas of the Guatemalan National
Revolutionary Unity (URNG) are re-
sponsible. Not ane guerrilla or politi-
cal opponent of the Guatemalan
’ govemment has been either charged
David Maung/impact Visuals  or indicied. Yet the Guatemalan
army maintains that they should be.

Its Department of Information
and Dissemination has a manila en-
velope, marked with an official stamp “SECRETO,” which
spokesmen are eager to show to journalists upon request. The
documents describe an alleged anti-drug operation high up
in Guatemala’s northern Peten jungle, where the URNG guer-
rillas were once strong. According to the documents, in July
1991 a Treasury Police unit engaged in combat with guerril-
las discovered a small plane with Colombian registration.
Included in the file is a photograph of & white maie wearing
a baseball cap with the letters, in place of a ball team, DEA.
He is standing over the plane's cargo — stacked brown pa-
per-wrapped packages—and holding up a flag with the in-
itials FAR — the acronym for one of three wings of the
URNG.!#

For reasons still unexplained, the Army waited 16 months
until November 1992 1o release the secret file, the color
Polaroids, and an army-produced video of the alleged raid.!®

The video begins with members of the Treasury Police
running single file up to a line of trees, and firing automatic
weapons in sequence at an unseen enemy. Later, these armed

16. Los Amates complaints [iled under case file 373-89C, Procurador de Los
Derechos Humanos, Cludad de Guatemala.

17. Grand Jury Indiciment of U.S. Eastern Distnat of New York, C. #900.0777,
GC 419.0, and answer W author's query, op. cit. Also see Frank Smyth, “Guatemala
army runs parcotics 10 the U.S." Sacramemio Bee, Ocober 3, 1993, p. 1, and “A
New Kingdom of Cocaine,” Warhington Pasi, December 26, 1993, p. C4.

18. Author’s second interview with Yon Rivera on November 5, 1992,

19. This package was first seen by journalists on November 5, 1992, The film
was later aired by seveml Guatemalan TV stations. Westem diplomats have
recorded copies on [ile.

Number 48




soldiers are seen around a small
plane and the brown packages. The
film then zeros in on the Polaroid of
the white male wearing the baseball
cap with the letters DEA. When
asked whether this man with the
DEA baseball cap was a DEA agent,
army spokesman Captain Yon
Rivera said, “Look at it. You can see
for yourself.” When asked why the
DEA hasn’t said anything about the
guerrillas running cocaine, spokes-
man Yon Rivera, commonly identi-
fied in local newspapers as “The
Voice of the Armed Forces” said:
“The DEA has not accused the guer-
rillas for this. I don’t know why they
don’t want to say it.”*"

U.S. Embassy officials in Guate-
mala City declined comment. When
asked about the raid, Joyce McDon-
ald at DEA headquarters in Wash-
ington faxed a description of the
raid, the video, and the man with the

i
.-

DEA baseball cap to the DEA Field
Division in Guatemala City. That of-
fice faxed back a brief response:
“DEA is unfamiliar with the film or
scenario described above.””!

Blaming the guerrillas is not without a certain irony. The
same army spokesmen who claim the guerrillas are running
tons of cocaine boast in the same breath how the guerrillas
are militarily defeated. The army estimates that there are
fewer than 500 full-time guerrilla combatants left.** Yet, the
army fails to explain how a mere 500 stragglers — under
pressure just to stay alive, let alone fight — could be respon-
sible for receiving, storing and transshipping the bulk of
Guatemala’s flow of cocaine,

The Army and the Press

Although the charge that the guerrillas are behind the cocaine
traffic is, on the face of it, without basis, it is regularly reported
as fact throughout Guatemala. The Guatemalan army's ability
to manipulate the press is yet another violent legacy of its past.
After seeing more of their colleagues killed or disappeared than
in any other country in Central America (and that is saying a
lot),” Guatemalan journalists rarely challenge anything the

20, Authot's second interview with Capt. Yon Rivera, November 5, 1992,

21, Answer to author's query by McDonald, op. at.

22, The actual number of [ull time guemillacombatants left in Guatemialais open
1o debate. The usnG publicly claims to have 3,000 full-time combatants, whiic
its supporters pull joumnalists aside and whisper that there are really about S0,
In 1991, the U.S. Embassy cstimated fewer than 1,200 guemillas. By late 1992,
following a series of guemlia defeats, the Guatemalan army claimed [ewer than
500 guerrilla fighters remained. On Febmary 26, 1993 at Casa Nicaragua in
New York, UrnG representative Hugo Orozco failed 10 refute these numbers
23, Over 50 journalists have been killed or disappeared in Guatemala since the
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Hrick Remhard

Nobel laureate Rigoberta Menchu and activist Frank La Rue, targeted by
military as part of the communist conspiracy.

military says. No matter how broad or baseless, the military’s
allegations are still regularly reported in Guatemalan daily
newspapers, radio, and television reports—in most cases, with-
out a word of qualification. And regionally based foreign jour-
nalists have simply ignored the military’s accusations, if
they 've bothered to report on Guatemala at all.

As a result, neither Guatemala’s nine million citizens
(most of whom, like the peasants in Mexico's Chiapas, are of
Mayan descent), nor North American consumers of news
about Guatemala are well served. Guatemalan citizens have
been saturated with the view that their tiny country is the
victim of a global communist conspiracy that endures despite
the end of the Cold War. And countless Guatemalans, espe-
cially among the whiter, wealthier members of its population,
very much do believe it. “This 1s a war here,” said one such
businessman, “between the country and those who want to
destroy it, the guerrillas."** Meanwhile, North American
readers have been insulated from the most outlandish of
Guatemalan officials’ accusations, and their—by any post-
Cold War standard—extreme world view. The failure of the
LS. press to adequately report on Guatemala is one reason
why the Clinton administration enjoys warm relations with
Guatemala despite its authoritarian past and present.

late 19708, acconding 10 the New York-based Committee to Protect Joumnalists
consultant Joel Salomon. A t1otal of 19 journalists died dunng the Salvadoran
civil war, according 10 the Salvador Press Comps Association. The author is a
former elected representative of the association.

24, Author's inlerview with a representative ol GEXPRONT, a non-traditional
exporiers association based in Guatemala City, November 6, 1992,

CovertAction 31



| Killing the People You Love

ttacking journalists is one way to keep them

quiet. Beating, torturing, and killing the people
they love is another. This year brought Guatemala
more of the latter:

» The wife and stepdaughter of Marco Vinicio Mejia
disappeared on January 23, 1994. Their tortured
corpses were found three days later. Vinicio Me-
jia, a columnist for Tinamit, Guatemala’s leading
opposition publication, had himself been the tar-
get of both acts of intimidation and death threats.

* Marguense Oliverio Murioz Barrios was stabbed
to death by unidentified men in his home on
February 4, 1994, Mufoz, respected for his can-
dor, was director of the National Radio of San
Marcos.

* A bomb exploded at the home of Adolfo Barrera
Ortizon February 18, 1994, while his four children
were inside. It had been left by several unidenti-
fied men driving a double-cab pickup truck. Bar-
rera is the director of the ACEN-SIAG news
agency, formery run by his brother, who left
Guatemala in 1990 after an attack on him and his
wife in which she was killed.

» The editor of Nuestro Tiempo, Hugo Arce, and his
22-year-old nephew, Franciscc Arce, who works
as a distributor of the magazine, were both arbi-
trarily arrested by uniformed police on February
21, 1994. Francisco Arce suffered broken ribs,
kidney complications, bruises, swollen arms and
legs, and could hardly walk.

Sources: Central Amenca Centre for the Protection of Journalists and
Freedom of Expression in San José, Costa Rica; the Committee to Protect
Journalists in New York; and PEN American Center in New York,

The Guatemalan army maintains that the URNG guerrillas
have compensated for their battlefield losses by shifting their
resources to a “political warfare™ campaign. While the guer-
rillas are poor military commanders, say Guatemalan army
representatives, they are “brilliant manipulators of world
opinion.”® The army claims that the guerrillas’ propaganda
campaign is not only successful but has managed to either
manipulate or control individuals, organizations, publica-
tions, and even governments.

In August 1992, Newsweek ran a story, “Subtle Clues in
Shallow Graves: Uncovering evidence of massacres in Gua-

25. Author's first interview with Captain Yon Rivera, November 5, 1992
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temala.”?® In response, then Guatemalan Minister of Defense
José Garcia Samayoa threatened to press charges against
Newsweek and respected forensic anthropologist Clyde
Snow, who conducted the investigation. The General said, “It
worries us to see how foreign interference in this case has
grown in dimension, injuring...the independence and sover-
eignty of Guatemalans.”™’

International authority Clyde Snow, who has examined
cadavers in Kurdistan, Chile, Argentina, and most recently
Mexico’s Chiapas, has harsh words for the Guatemalan army:
“The military guys who do this are like serial killers. They
got away with it once, so they think they’ll always get away
with it. If Jeffrey Dahmer had been in Guatemala, he would
be a general by now.”*® Around the same time, indigenous
leader Rigoberta Menchi, from Guatemala’s most war-torn
department of Quiché, was a candidate for the Nobel Peace
Prize. Then army spokesman Yon Rivera was not impressed:
“The only thing Miss Menchd has done abroad is create a
very bad image of our country.”?® After she won the prize,
Rivera charged that Guatemala had been the victim of a
global “political warfare” campaign, but he didn’t know
whether it was a case of direct infiltration. At the very least,
he charged, the Nobel committee itself had been, somehow,
unduly influenced by the URNG.?"

The Guatemalan army has accused the U.S. of participat-
ing in the “political warfare” as well. By 1991, congressional
critics had helped persuade the Bush administration to cut
military aid to Guatemala, which it did partly over the murder
of an American innkeeper, Michael Devine.?! That led the
Guatemalan army to claim that the U.S. government itself
had been unduly influenced by the URNG. According to the
army's Department of Information and Dissemination, mem-
bers of the U.S. Congress and the State Department have
been, respectively, conspirators and dupes. “There is a U.S.
congressman who has on his staff a member of the URNG,”
spokesman Rivera said in an interview, although® Rivera
could remember neither the congressman nor his statf mem-
ber’s name. But one name he could recall was that of Frank
LaRue, whose activities Rivera said proves his point. According
to Rivera, LaRue is a lobbyist for the URNG, who enjoys
undue influence in the State Department. *He has an open
door,” said Rivera, nodding his head. “He has the key.™*

LaRue made the Guatemalan national stage over a decade
ago when he defended Coca-Cola workers in a bitter strike
in Guatemala City, after which he went into political exile
until 1994, when he returned briefly to Guatemala. While in

26, Tim Padgett, Newsweek, August 31, 1992 (only in Latin American edition), p. 9.
27. “Guatemalan Army threatens action against exhumations,” Reuters, Guate-
mala City, September 8, 1992,

28, Padgett, op. cit.; and telephone interview, February 28, 1994,

29, “Rigoberta Menchi no merece el Premio Nobel de la Paz," Prensa Libre,
{(Guatemala City), October 16, 1992.

30. Author's first interview with Capt.Yon Rivera

31. See the Human Rights Project Delegation Repont on Guatemala, signed by
Sen. James Jeffords (R-Ver)) and Rep. James McDemmoit (D-Wash.), Washing-
ton, D.C., December 1991,

32. Author’s first interview with Capt. Yon Rivera, November 5, 1992,
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the U.S., LaRue was a well-known
activist in the Guatemalan opposi-
tion movement, and continued to
work on labor and human rights
issues in Guatemala through the
privately-funded Center for Human
Rights Legal Actionin Washington,
D.C. It was in this capacity that he
was invited to the State Department
for meetings with Guatemalan
army representatives 1o discuss is-
sues of military justice and human
rights.

U.S. journalists who criticize
the military are also accused of be-
ing part of the conspiracy. After the
Washington Post published an arti-
cle by the author about the Cali
cartel and the Guatemalan army on
December 26, 1993, the Army’s
Department of Information and

Dissemination held a press confer-
ence the following day to respond:
“Members of the Department of In-
formation and Dissemination of the
Guatemalan Army reiterated that ‘there exists a campaign
against the prestige of the government and the armed [orces
on the part of groups that seek to satisfy their own interests
by creating a negative image of the country and the demo-
cratic process that we live in.” ™

From the Questionable to the Ridiculous
Indeed, according to the Guatemalan army, this campaign
against the prestige of the government and armed forces is one
of the broadest in the history of the Cold War, which, it main-
tains, has yet to end. And, if the Guatemalan military is to be
believed, the propaganda campaign has extended its tentacles
to some very unlikely places. In January 1993, the army “un-
covered” a conspiracy involving an entertainment establish-
ment, a local television station and U.S. Secrel Service agents
attached to United Nations dignitaries visiting New York.

Guatemala's then formal head of state, President Jorge
Serrano (who last May failed to survive his own Fujimori-
style self-coup), was on an official trip to the United Nations.
Although the visit coincided with President Clinton’s inaugu-
ration, the Guatemalan leader was not invited. After Serrano
spoke to the U.N. General Assembly, blaming Guatemala’s
leftist guerrillas for much of his country’s problems, he went
for a drink at Stringfellows of NY, Ltd. in the posh Gramercy
Park neighborhood of lower Manhattan,

The Guatemalan leader found a table facing a stage with
naked, dancing women. A local free-lance cameraman hap-
pened to be having a drink and watching the show too.

33, "Guatemala conexidn para el narcotrafico,” Ef Grafico, December 28, 1993,
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Despite repression targeting them, members of Guatemala's indigenous

community protest government policies.

The next day at 6:00 p.m., WNBC-TV’s “News 4 New York”
aired an exclusive report, It captured the Guatemalan leader
trying to hide his face behind a white ski parka and hood,
while exiting the club and entering the back seat of his
waiting limousine. In addition to close-ups of the President’s
face, viewers saw his armed U.S. Secret Service escorts as
well as his entire diplomatic motorcade. After running the
tape, the news anchor added that President Serrano is an
outspoken borm-again, evangelical Christian.

“News 4 New York™ aired the report again at 11:00 p.m,
But in the later broadcast, the anchor included President
Serrano’s official response. He blamed his capture on film at
the “go go" bar on “manipulation” by Guatemala’s leftist
guerrillas.

Spokespersons for “News 4 New York,” Stringfellows of
NY, Lid., and the Secret Service were all, at first, incredulous
and then offended. All deny the charge.™

What the Guatemalan army fails to realize is that the more
it blames leftist guerrillas for its problems, the more isolated
it becomes. During the Cold War, Guatemala was already a
pariah regime within the world community. But with changes
and reforms now taking place or on the horizon in places as
troubled as South Africa, the Middle East, and Northern
Ireland, continuing Guatemalan political violence, cocaine
trafficking, and military impunity leave that country more
alone than ever, .

34. Author's telephone interviews with reporter David Brodie, “News 4 New
York,” WNBC-TV, New York; counsel for Stnngfellows of NY, Lid, New
York; and a Public Affairs officer, Secret Service, New York; respectively, in
January and February 1993,
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Chiapas Uprising

The Voice of the Zapatistas

e have nothing to lose, absolutely nothing, no
Wdecﬂm roof over our heads, no land, no work,

poor health, no food, no education, no right to
freely and democratically choose our leaders, no inde-
pendence from foreign interests, and no justice for our-
selves and our children. But we say enough is enough!
We are the descendants of those who truly built this
nation, we are the millions of dispossessed, and we call
upon all our brethren to join our crusade, the only option
to avoid dying of starvation! We are addressing ourselves
to you directly to tell you that the Mexican federal gov-
emment is using the economic and military aid that it
receives from the people and the government of the
United States of North America to massacre the indige-
nous people of Chiapas.

— Zapatista Mational Liberation Army Declaration of Lacandon, 1993,

€ ask whether the U. 5. Congress and the
Wpenplc of the United States of North America

approved this military and economic aid to
fight drug tratfic or to assassinate the Indians of southeast
Mexico. Troops, airplanes, helicopters, radar, communi-
cations equipment, arms and military paraphernalia are
being used now not to fight drug traders and the big capos
of the drug mafias, but to repress the just struggles of the
people of Mexico and of the Indians of Chiapas in the
southeastern part of our country, and to assassinate men,
women and innocent children.

We do not receive any aid from any foreign govemn-
ment, individual or organization. We have nothing to
do with drug traffic or with national and international
terrorism. We have organized ourselves voluntarily and
our organization has its own life, because of our great
needs and problems. We are tired of so many years of
deception and death. It is our right to fight in order to
have life with dignity. Al every moment we have ob-
served the international laws of war and have respected
the civilian population.

With the help that you the people and the govern-
ment of North America have given to the Mexican
federal government, you are staining your hands with
Indian blood. Our dream and desire is that of all the
people of the world: true liberty and democracy. And
for this dream we are willing to give our lives. Do not
stain your hands with our blood by allowing yourselves
to be the accomplices of the Mexican government.

—The Underground Revolutionary Indian Committes, General Command of
the Ejército Zapatista de Liberacién Nacional, Mexica, January 1994
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The Voice of Su

San Cristébal, Mexico: Subcomandante Marcos is one of the few
guerrillas in San Cristobal who has his face covered and is armed with
a machine gun. As he speaks, he takes a pipe from his watch pocket,
places it in his mouth through the opening in his mask, but doesn’t light
it. He expresses himself with the clarity of an intellectual used to
communicating with less educated people. He is clearly Mexican, but
it is impossible to place his accent.

L'Unita: Comandante Marcos, you took San Cristébal on January
1st. But who are you people?

Marcos: We form part of the Zapatista Army of National Liberation
(EZLN), and we demand the resignation of the federal government
and the formation of a new transition government to convoke free
and democratic elections for August 1994. We demand that the prin-
cipal demands of the peasants of Chiapas be resolved: Bread, health,
education, autonomy, and peace. The Indians have always lived in a
state of war because until today there has always been a state of war
against them, while now it will be for both Indians and whites. In
any case, we have the opportunity to die fighting and not of dysen-
tery, which is how the Indians of Chiapas normally die.

This interview is reprinted with permission from L ‘Unita (Rome, Italy), January 4, 1994,
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smandante Marcos

L'Unita: Are you part of some peasant political organization?
Marcos: We have no relation with any type of above-ground or-
ganization, Our organization is exclusively clandestine and armed.

L'Unita: It was born from nothing; that is, improvised?

Marcos: We are not an improvised movement; we have been pre-
paring in the mountains for ten years. We have matured, thought,
learned, and we have arrived at this decision.

L'Unita: Is there racial and ethnic content in your demands?
Marcos: The Directing Committee is formed of Tzotzil, Tzeltal,
Chol, Tojolabal, Mam, and Zoque Indians, the principal ethnic
groups of Chiapas. All of them are in agreement, and besides de-
mocracy and representation, they demanded respect, respect that
the whites have never given them. Especially in San Cristobal, the
“coletos™ [citizens of San Cristobal] are very insulting and discri-
minatory with respect to the Indians in daily life. Now the whites
respect the Indians, because they come with guns in hand.

L'Unita:What do you think the government’s reaction will be now?
Marcos: We don’t worry ourselves about the (continued next page)
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The Voice of the Zapatistas

either you, the mediator, nor the commissioner,
nor even our own selves, could attain peace and
even less the socio-political changes which are
urgently needed in the region. The solution to the Chiapas
conflictdoes not depend on the will of a handful of people.
In order to attain peace the legitimate opinions and inter-
ests of the civil society and of political forces, government
decisions, the interests of Chiapas, and all the interests of
the various states that make up the Mexican Republic
must also be taken into account.

Violence has already cost a great deal. A serious and
quick political solution today is compatible with in-
creased democracy throughout the country, full politi-
cal liberty, and greater justice for indigenous
communities,

—San Cristdbal, |January 29, 1994, General Command of the EZLN

he thing is, we do not see the armed road in the

classic way of the old guerrilla armies — the

armed struggle as a single path, a single all-pow-
erful truth around which everything else revolves. If there
is one thing that defines our struggle, it is that it is
antidogmatic. If the Government manages to isolate us
politically at the national level, to present us as extremist,
desperate intransigents and the civil society agrees, that
is where the military option resurfaces.

—Marcos quoted in the New York Times, February B, 1994

hen a political-military force (like that of the

Mexican federal govemment) asks another

political-military force (like the EZLN) to lay
down its arms, this signifies, in political and military
terms, that it asks for an unconditional surrender. In
exchange for unconditional surrender, the government
offers what it always offers: an internal adjusting of
accounts, a package of declarations, promises, and more
bureaucratic dependencies.

Concretely, the demand to “lay down arms™ is the
one that provokes the most suspicions. National and
Latin American history teach that he who lays down
arms believing in the forgiveness of his persecutor ends
his days shot full of holes wherever the death squads of
the government find him. How can we think that would
not occur here in our country?

—Communique of the EZLN, fanuary 20, 19594
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Chiapas Uprising

—

Marcos, in San Cristobal, answering questions on the first day of the insurrection.

response of the govemment, but about the response of the
people, of the Mexicans. It interests us to know what exam-
ple this deed will produce, that this will move in the na-
tional consciousness. We hope that something will move,
not only at the level of armed struggle but in every sense.
We hope it will bring an end to this unhappy dictatorship.

L'Unita: You don’t have confidence in the PRD [Demo-
cratic Revolutionary Party headed by Cuahtemoc Carde-
nas, mildly leftist, may have actually won the presidency
in 1988] as an opposition party in the next elections?
Marcos: We have no confidence in either the political par-
ties or the electoral system. The government of Salinas de
Gortari is an illegitimate government, the product of fraud,
and this illegitimate government will necessarily produce
illegitimate elections. We want a transition government
and that this government convoke new elections, but with
the ability to be really equal, that they offer equal condi-
tions to all the political parties. In Chiapas, 15,000 Indians
die every vear of treatable diseases. It is a number similar
to that produced by the war in El Salvador. If a peasant
with cholera arrives at a hospital in the rural areas, they
carry him outside so that no one says there is cholera in
Chiapas. In this movement, the Indians that form part of
the Zapatista army want in the first place to dialog with
their own people. They are their true interlocutors,

L’Unita: Pardon me, but you aren’t Indian.

Marcos: You have to understand that our movement is not
Chiapan but national. Thus, while there are people such as
myself who come from other states, there are also Chia-
pans who fight in other places. We are Mexicans, this
unites us, in addition to the demand for liberty and democ-
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racy. We want to
choose our real repre-
sentatives,

L’Unita: But now, don’t
you fear heavy repression?
Marcos: For Indoameri-
cans, the repression has
existed for 500 years.
Maybe you're thinking
of the type of repression
practiced by the South
American governments,
But for the Indians, this
style of repression is an
everyday thing. You
can ask the Indians that
live on the outskirts of
San Cristébal.

Cuartoscuro/impact Visvals  L'Unita: What develop-
ment would you con-
sider a success?
Marcos: We would want others in all parts of the republic to

join this movement.

L'Unita: Necessarily armed?
Marcos: No. We are making a broad front that we take also
to the people that participate in civil, legal, open movements.

L'Unita: Why did you choose January 15t and San Cristobal?
Marcos: It was the Directing Committee that decided. It is
clear that the date is related to NAFTA, which for the Indi-
ans is a death sentence. The taking of effect of the treaty
represents the beginning of an international massacre.

L'Unita: What do you think of the international reaction?
Aren’t you afraid that the United States could intervene as
it has done in other parts of Latin America?

Marcos: Before, the United States had the threat of the So-
viet Union; it feared Soviet infiltration in our country. But
what can they think now of a movement that demands only
social justice? They can’t continue thinking that we are be-
ing manipulated by the foreigner or financed by the gold
of Moscow, seeing that Moscow no longer exists. It’s
enough to ask Yeltsin. The Americans must realize that we
struggle for that which everybody wants, that the European
countries have wanted. Did not the people of Germany and
Italy rebel against dictatorship? Isn’t it equally valid that
the Mexican people rebel? The Americans have a lot to do
with the reality that you can observe here, the conditions
of misery for the Indians and the great hunger for justice.
In Mexico, the entire social system is founded on injustice
in ils relations with the Indians. The worst that can happen
to a human being is to be an Indian, with his burden of hu-
miliation, hunger, and misery. -
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The Voice of Marcos

legend, admired even by enemies of the EZLN and

critics of the armed path. Marcos has largely
evaded personal questions, chiding interviewers: “Don’t
do the PGR’s [Procurador General de la Republica, ie.,
Attormeys General's] work.”

Pressed for personal information, he described him-
self as an educated man who “finished well” with a
degree from the National Autonomous University in
Mexico City and went on to posigraduate study. About
40 years old and single, Marcos was born in provincial
Mexico and is a guerrilla without a criminal record,
“not even traffic tickets,” he joked. In the '70s his
political development, he said, was shaped by reading
Rius, Carlos Monsivais, Elena Poniatowska, and the
writers of the Latin American boom.

Marcos credited his prominence to the media. All of
the commanders were present in San Cristbal, he said,
but reporters searched him out because he spoke fluent
Spanish. Since then, his mystique has grown and fueled
rumors. When told that military intelligence speculated
that he is a priest, Marcos replied firmly: “No, no, God
save me, no....[I am] neither priest, nor pope, nor papal
nuncio. None of that...I am not a catechist, nor a parish-
ioner, nothing.” When pressed to admit he was an
atheist, Marcos said: “That is one area which they
forbid me to talk of, My compafieros explain that if |
say |'mreligious, then people will say this is a religious
movement...” One thing he will confirm is that the
movement is national. He alluded jokingly to the spread
of the uprising when reporters asked about the masks
that have become the symbol of the Zapatistas. “Where
they begin to buy lots of ski masks, there, there will
soon be a coup, an attack.”

A journalist in San Cristobal mentioned the dark coinci-
dence that Zapata, Sandino, Malcolm X, and Che Guevara
all died at 39. “I am living on borrowed time,” the guerrilla
leader said. “For us, the woild fell on us on January 1st
Every day that passes after January 1st is bonus.”

S ubcomandante Marcos has become an enigmatic

— Dscar Hinojosa, El Financiero, February 20, 1994

The Voice of Business

at Morgan Stanley, expressed U.S. big business’s
hostility to the insumection. He said the “danger
would be that as a result of the uprising, the administration
of President Carlos Salinas de Gortari might decide to
increase social spending and produce budgetary red ink.”™

Emca! Brown, senior economist for Latin America
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in Chiapas, peasants seized town halls and demanded
removal of local authorities. A Teopisca com farmer
and former stalwart of the govemning Institutional Revo-
lutionary Party (PRI) was quoted as saying: “By grace,
the Zapatistas have opened our eyes. We do not know
them, but we must thank them. Before, we

i did not have the valor to do this.”
f “This was like a plant that had
never died but never grew,
either,” said a local nun.
“Now the earth beneath
them has moved, and the

plant is growing."”

I n Teopisca and at least a dozen other towns or villages

— New Fork Times, February 8, 15994

Mev Pulen/impact Visuals
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Chiapas Uprising

An Indigenous Peoples’ Struggle for Justice

Displacement from ancestral lands, arbitrary detention, torture, and summary
execution of indigenous peoples in the Western Hemisphere have been most
frequently associated with countries such as Guatemala or Brazil. Until
recently, the repression in Mexico remained that country’s dirty little secret.

LY
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.I + |- . :- . .i‘! l" '___..__

José Luis Morin

n January 1, 1994, the world awakened to the news of
O an uprising in Mexico. A group of indigenous peoples

calling themselves the Zapatista National Liberation
Army (Zapatistas) captured several towns in Mexico's southern-
most stale of Chiapas on the border with Guatemala. Named
after the Mexican revolutionary peasant hero, Emiliano Zapata,
the poorly armed rebel group lashed out against the poverty and
injustice that each year kills thousands in Chiapas and grinds
tens of thousands more into landless dependency.' Although the

José Luis Morin is Executive Director of the Nonth Star Fund in New York City.
A former stalf attorney and current cooperating attorney with the Center for
Constitetional Rights, he traveled with the first delegation, along with Mexican
human and indigenous rights organizations, 1o investigate violations occurmng
in Chiapas, Mexico. Photo: David Maung/Tmpact Visuals. Bodies presumed 1o
be EZLN members on the road 1o Ocosingo, January 5, 1994,

1. “El Comandante Marcos, al Periddico L "'Unita: ‘Mejor Mornir Combatiendo
que Morir de Disenteria,” " Proceso, January 10, 1994, p. 9.
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Zapatisias are part of a long history of popular Latin American
revolutionaries, they are more pragmatic and less ideological
than many of their predecessors.® Rather than seize power
themselves, they seek 1o create conditions under which truly
democratic elections and fundamental social reforms can take
place.” When they finally turned to violent struggle, they did so
with a lack of gratuitous violence all the more surprising given
the terror tactics consistently employed by their opponents,

In the days that followed their initial occupation of San
Cristébal de las Casas (the second largest city in Chiapas)
and three nearby towns, reports began to flow out of Mexico
about gross human rights violations by the Mexican military

2. Tim Golden, “The Voice of the Rebels Has Mexicans in His Spell,” New York
Times, February 8, 1994, p. A
3. “El Comandante Marcos...,"” op. cit., p. B.
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committed against civilians as well as rebels.* At the
behest of Bishop Samuel Ruiz Garcia of San Cristébal de
las Casas and the National Network of Non-governmental
Human Rights Organizations in Mexico, the first delega-
tion from the U.S. travelled to Chiapas to investigate and
report their findings to the international community. Our
delegation’s worst fears were confirmed.’

The Legacy of Repression

Although the Mexican government reacted with public sur-
prise, the insurrection was a logical, last resort for people
who could no longer survive continuing repression and loss
of land and means of survival.

The majority of Chiapas’ 3.2 million people are de-
scendants of the ancient Mayas who built the extraordi-
nary cities whose remains dot the region.® Dozens of
distinct groups —Tzeltales, Tzotziles, Choles, Tojolo-
bales, Zogues, and Mames — maintain their own lan-
guage, culture, traditions, and religion. Some, including
the Lacandones, Mochds and Cakchiqueles, are now fac-
ing extinction.” All share a common legacy: From the
time of Spanish colonialism to the present, the govern-
ment and local landlords have stolen their lands and
fundamental rights.

The Revolution of 1910, in which Emiliano Zapata
took up the peasant cause, brought reforms designed to
secure a more equitable distribution of land. Despite the
agrarian reforms written into the 1917 constitution, the
traditional relationship that indigenous peasants had to
their land was never effectively protected.® Without land
titles and enforced agrarian reforms, they have regularly
endured violent confrontations with the state police and
the armed thugs, or guardias blancas, hired by private

land barons to evict them.®

In 1991, President Carlos Salinas de Gortari promoted
a constitutional amendment that exacerbated the situation
for the indigenous. The amendment to Article 27 permits
putside individuals and corporations to buy up the ejidos —
the communal landholdings on which the indigenous live —
and exploit the resources. Under this “reform,” the people
who now use the land, but cannot afford to buy it, will have
little chance to gain title. Itis widely believed that NAFTA was
the impetus for this amendment. The trade agreement will,
by displacing peasants, create even more opportunities in
Mexico for commercial development by foreign investors.'®

4. Independent, non-governmental Mexican human nights organizations were
the first to identify and notify human rights groups in the U.5. and Canada about
the illegal and abusive measures taken by the Mexican ammed forces, The ULS.
news media soon after confirmed such repornts. See Tim Golden, “Mexican Army
Is Said to Abuse Rebel Suspects,” New York Times, January 24, 1994, p. Al

5. Most of the delegation arrived in Mexico January 6, 1994, and stayed in
Chiapas through January 10 Several members remained longer 1o conduct
further investigations. This article includes the findings of the entire group.

6, Conquest Contimued: Disregard for Hionan and Indigenous Rights in the Mexican
State of Chiapas, Minnesota Advocates for Human Rights, October 1992, p. 3.

7. Ihid.

8. Mhid., p. 57.

0. fhid, pp. 61-62.

10. Ihid.,, pp. 66-68.
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David Maung,Impact Visuals
Mexican army troops arrive in Ocosingo, Chiapas, January 5.

Brutality and Broken Promises

Official neglect and exploitation, have not only created misery
(see box, next page), they have sparked a long history of
resistance. As the number of Europeans increased in Chiapas,
indigenous peoples’ land claims were brutally suppressed.
Decades of petitions and peaceful protests have, however, con-
sistently provoked the same government response: more repres-
sion, cooptation, and broken promises.

The latest round of protest, surrounding the 500th anni-
versary of the “discovery” of “America,” was part of a
hemisphere-wide movement of indigenous people to resist
extinction. On December 26, 1991, 300 indigenous people
gathered in the main plaza of Palenque (site of a culturally
important Mayan ruin) for a peaceful sit-in, or plantén, to
protest the lack of potable water, schools, health care, and the
loss of their lands through government policies and the en-
croachment of tourist industries.!! Local and state police

11. Various U.5 -based human rights organizations have investigated the human
rights viclations imvolved in this incident. See Center for Constitutional Rights
Docker, Fall 1992, pp. 75-76. See also, “México: Violaciones de Derechos
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Traditions of Torture

ccording to Toronto Star correspondent Linda
A[}inbel, “Mexico’s Dirty War ... didn 't just begin

on New Year's Day when the Zapatistas burst
into view by seizing four villages in southern Mexico.
Ugly, violent things have been happening to the people
here (and elsewhere in Mexizo) for a very long time. Ugly
things are happening now and, in all likelihood, they will
continue to happen in the future.”

Diebel recalled her earlier visit to Chiapas in March,
1993, “Chiapas is run like a feudal state with the Indi-
ans expected to deliver their vote for the ruling Institu-
tional Revolutionary Party (PRI) at election time. |
know about men, whole villages, being taken prisoner,
of torture in prison, of teachers being hooded, beaten
and threatened, of union leaders being held upside down
over a precipice by federal police, of fingernails being
pulled out, of genitals bumed, of disappearances and
unidentified bodies turning up, hands tied behind their
backs. I know about the dead journalists.”

— Linda Disbel, "Mexico’s Dirty War," Toronio Star, january 8, 1994,

Counting on Poverty

AFTAis partof a long history of official assaults
Nnn the indigenous community. The unwilling-

ness of the national and state governments to
attend adequately to basic needs has had severe social and
economic consequences. While statistics alone cannot
depict the poverty and misery, clearly the desperation and
despair they reflect are at the core of the Zapatista resistance.

In Chiapas:

* Malnutrition is the number one killer.

* There is only one doctor per 1,500 people.

* [lliteracy, at 30.1 percent, is the highest in the nation.

* While it produces approximately 60 percent of Mex-
ico's electricity, 33.1 percent of Chiapas households
have no electricity.

* More than three-quarters of the homes in the towns
captured by the Zapatistas in January have dint floors.

* Forty-two percent of people have no running water.

Sources: Carod Accata Cordova and ignacso Ramirez, "La desnutncidn, princepal camisa
i musrts,” Process, january 10, 1994, pp. 45-6, 48 and jullo Moguel, "Chiapas y o
Promaacl,” La jormada del Campe, january 25, 1994, p. 7.
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brutally removed all the demonstrators, arrested 103, and
tortured them over a three-day period. Only after human
rights groups protested the illegal arrests, did the government
acknowledge that it had no case and release the detainees.'?
But not before it demonstrated, yet again, that it could restrict
the freedoms of association and expression and violate the
civil and human rights of the indigenous population with
virtual impunity.

Despite the repression, another attempt to gain redress
through peaceful means was mounted three months later.
Indigenous rights organizations organized a 700-mile march
of 300 people from Palenque to Mexico City to demand
agrarian reform, basic services, and human rights. The ex-
traordinary support and attention the Xi'Nich"** march re-
ceived throughout Mexico pressured the government into
negotiating an accord. When the government failed, yet
again, to fulfill its pledges,'® it became yet harder to believe
in the efficacy of acting peacefully.

The popular sense of betrayal and frustration was well-
grounded.!? A variety of respected Mexican and international
organizations have documented a pattern of torture, summary
execution, disappearances, abuses by the criminal justice
system, election-related fraud and violence, and efforts to
silence the press.'® In Chiapas—where this pattern is exacer-
bated by geographic isolation, endemic anti-indigenous dis-
crimination, and blatant government corruption—the
repression is particularly brutal.'” Common tortures em-
ployed by Chiapas police include electric shock or forcing
carbonated drinks, such as Coca-Cola or Tehuacén, laced
with chilies up the nostrils of detained persons.'®

Anyone who advocates or organizes to protect human or
indigenous rights is marked as an enemy of the state. Priests
and church workers, in particular, have been targeted for
harassment. In 1991, Father Joel Padrén was imprisoned for
his work with indigenous peoples'® and recently, government
officials branded San Cristébal's Don Samuel Ruiz Garcia,
the “Red Bishop."?"

Zapping NAFTA
The spark that finally exploded the long-smoldering outrage
was the NAFTA. The Zapatistas started their rebellion on January

Humanos Contra Activistas Indigenas Ch'ol y Tezeltal,” Amncstia Inlernacional,
July 1992; and Conquest Continued, op. cil.,, pp. 10-12.

12. Conguest Continued, op. cit, p. 12.

13. Xi"Nich’ is Tachtal for “ant,” descnbing the manner in which the government has
treated the indigenous peoples and symboluang the need for unity among the indige-
nous peoples 1o overcome oppression, Soe Conguest Confinued, op. cit, p. 14,

14. Ibid, p. 16,

15. “Civilians at Risk: Military and Police Abuses in the Mexican Countryside,”
Minncsota Advocaies for Human Rights, August 1993,

16. Human Righis in Mexico: A Policy of Impuniry, Americas Watch, June 1990,
17. Conguest Continued, pp. 1-30

18. Ibid., p. 10.

19. Human Righiz Waich World Report 1992, p. 283,

20. Alberto Huernta, "Lawless Roads Still, The "Red” Bishop of Chiapas,™
Commonweal, December 17, 1993, p. 12. In peace negotiations with the govern-
ment the Zapatistas chose Bishop Ruiz as mediator. In keeping with past
practice, government officials ook advantage of the Zapatistas 1o [alsely
condemn Bishop Ruiz and other church workers as instigators of the violence.
(“Church Persecution Claimed,” Christian Century, February 2-9, 1994, p. 98).
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1, the day NAFTA went into effect. The uprising effec-
tively drew world atiention to the severe social and
economic consequences throughout the hemisphere of
neoliberalism in general and NAFTA in particular. Be-
fore New Year's Day, neoliberals frequently framed
the debate as who would win or lose more jobs —
Mexican or U.S. workers — or which environment
would suffer more.?! But the media and elites side-
stepped questions of national sovereignty, democratic
process, and human rights concemns in both Mexico and
the U.S.

The Zapatistas charge that the current Mexican
government is illegitimate since the ruling PRI (In-
stitutional Revolutionary Party) commutied wide-
spread fraud and stole the 1988 presidential
election.?? The fervent support given by PRI for
NAFTA has done nothing to endear the government to
the peasants of Chiapas.*® The policies of PRI Presi-
dent Carlos Salinas de Gortari have consistently fa-
vored the large landowners and corporations.
Especially onerous to indigenous peoples have been
the amendment to Article 27 to the constitution and
the imposition of NAFTA 2

NAFTA’s effect —acceleration of foreign invest-
ment and intervention leading inevitably to greater
displacement and exploitation of the region and its
peoples — are already evident in the Chiapas region.
Major oil companies are planning to exploit the rich
oil deposits; transnational corporations such as
Nestlé are seeking to convert land to coffee produc-
tion;** investors are eyeing major expansions of the
tourist industry centering on the great Mayan ruins,
despite native peoples’ protest that these are the
homes and temples of their ancestors. The treaty, in the
words of rebel leader Subcomandante Marcos, is the
“death sentence” for Mexico’s indigenous peoples.®

Findings of the First Delegation to Chiapas

The executions had already begun when our delegation
of observers amrived in Meéxico on January 6, 1994, 1o
investigate reports of human rights violations committed by the
Mexican military.*” After joining with members of the National
Network of Non-govemmental Human Rights Organizations in

21. See Human Rights Watch World Report 1992, pp. 284-87,

22. Human Rights in Mexico: A Policy of Impunity, op. eit., p. 3.

23, Golden, “The Voice of the Rebels..., op. cit.

24, The Mexican government launched a major PR and lobbying effon around
MAFTA in the U.S. costing $30-35 million. The PR giant Burson-Marsteller alone
got an $8 million contract. U.S. corporations spent an additional $25-30 million.
25. Frowliin M. Loper Nanvdiez, Al sismo,” Proceso, Jamuary 10, 1994, p. 33,

26, “Mexico's second-class cilizens say enough is cnough,” The Ecomoamist,
January 8, 1994, p. 41.

27. The delegation consisted of representatives from the Funding Exchange and
the Nonh Star Fund, two ive [unding institutions based in New York, the
Center for Constitutional Righis, Global Exchange, an independent filmmaker, &
free-lance writer and a member of the Menominee Nation. The National Network
of Non-governmental Human Rights Organizations comprises 39 independent
human nghts groups from different pans of Mexico, including the Center for
Human Rights “Fray Bartolomé de las Casas,” in San Cristdbal, Chiapas.
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David Maung,/Impact Visuals

According to human rights groups, these five alleged guerrillas
were bound and then executed by the army.

Mexico City, the delegation spent from January 7 to 15 in
Chiapas. There, we uncovered a trail of horrors that followed
the government forces as they sought to punish the entire indige-
nous population in revenge for the Zapatista uprising.

Reports of atrocities circulated widely. The military sys-
tematically and illegally prevented the Red Cross, press,
human rights workers, and family members searching for
disappeared loved ones from entering certain areas. Why the
military and the government insisted on restricting access
became apparent as we collected testimonies of summary
executions, torture, disappearances, arbitrary detentions and
indiscriminate bombings of civilian communities.”® These
acts constitute serious violations of both fundamental human

28, See Press Siatemeni [ssued by Amnesty Intemational, U.S.A., “Mexico:
Amnesty International Concemed by Possibility of Widespread Human Rights
Violations Following Peasant and Indian Upnising,"” January 1994,
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“If you men won't do it..."

ne of the protestors says “the Zapatistas have
given an example for the rest of Mexico, namely
that the poor should no longer be exploited by
the rich. Significantly, there was not a single law enforce-
ment official to be seen in the town. Four members of the
Chiapas State Congress, all from the ruling party, did
show up around mid-day in Teopisca to negotiate with the
townspeople. They lectured them on the need to work
through the system, to rely on Mexico’s institutions for
change. The people responded that they simply did not
trust Mexican authorities to act on their behalf.

“One congressman offered to carry out an audit of
the town’s finances, but only starting next week. The
response was, ‘Nothing doing.’ The audit would have
to be done immediately or not at all. The lawmakers
gave in to that demand, but they would not agree to
removing the mayor from office; that is until several
women appeared carrying big ropes.

“One of the women yelled: ‘Let’s tie them up! If you
men won’'t do it, we women will!” And, indeed, two of
the congressmen had ropes tied around their waists,
The crowd then hauled them in pickup trucks to City
Hall. When they got there, one of those who had been
tied up made a call to the state capital, and then an-
nounced that the State Congress would no longer rec-
ognize the town mayor as such.

“ ‘What we've seen in this place is ungovernable,” the
lawmaker said.... The locals were jubilant. They cheered for
a democracy they said they’d never had before.

“The congressmen, meanwhile, promised all these
changes would be ratified by the State Congress very
soon. The locals said that promise had better be kept,
or there will be more trouble. With the normally
hardline government currently trying to avoid any fur-
ther conflict in Mexico, and with widespread resent-
ment towards local authorities, many here now wonder
how many other towns in Mexico might be inspired to
copy what happened yesterday in Teopisca.”

Diavid Welna, National Public Radio, Morming Edition, February 10, 1954,

rights and the Geneva Conventions and its Protocols.?

We interviewed 19 prisoners who were detained over four
days without food and water or offered only urine to drink.
They reported that the military tied them up, beat them, and
held their heads under water to force them to confess to being

29, Atissue are violations of fundamental human rights, such as the right o life,
the right 10 humane treatment and the freedom of thought and expression. See
Amerncan Convention on Human Rights in Basic Documents Periaining to
Human Rights in the Inter-American System, QASSer.L.V./11LE2, doc. 6, rev.
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Zapatistas. The Mexican military fired on press and Red
Cross personnel when they tried to enter Ocosingo, Tenejapa,
Oxchuc and other towns. Members of our delegation met
with one Red Cross volunteer whose leg was 1o be amputated
as a result of such an attack.’”

There were many more who did not survive their encoun-
ters with the military. The most well-known, but not the
worst, of extra-judicial executions was of five indigenous
persons in the town of Ocosingo.?! Our delegation confirmed
numerous disappearances and abductions by the Mexican
military of indigenous non-combatants.** In the indigenous
community of San Antonio de los Bafos, for example, eye-
witnesses recounted how family members were abducted and
forced to wear Army uniforms ostensibly to guide patrols
through unfamiliar terrain. We also discovered mass graves.
As part of a massive cover-up operation, the Mexican mili-

As part of a massive cover-up operation,
the Mexican military had secretly
buried 48 unidentified bodies in Tuxtla
Gutiérrez and numerous corpses of
indigenous peoples in Ocosingo.

tary had secretly buried 48 unidentified bodies in Tuxtla
Gutiérrez and numerous corpses of indigenous peoples in
Ocosingo.*

Our delegation released its findings at press conferences
in San Cristdbal, Mexico City, and New York to expose the
extent of the violations that continue to take place and in the
hope of preventing further atrocities.** Wide press coverage
increased pressure on the government to reevaluate its policies.

I, July 1, 1992 original: Spanish, ants. 4, 5, 13, Also at issue are violations of
the rights of combatanis and civilians in times of armed conflicl. See Geneva
Convention for the Ameliomtion of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in
Armed Force in the Field (Geneva Convention 1), 12 August 1949, 75 UNTS
31; Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of Wounded, Sick, and Ship-
wrecked Members of Armed Forces at Sea (Geneva Convention 1), 12 August
1949, 75 UNTS 85: Geneva Convention Relative 1o the Treatment of Prisoners
{Geneva Convention [1T), 12 Aogust 1949, 75 UNTS 135; Geneva Convention
Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War (Geneva Conven-
tion TV, 12 August 1949, 75 UNTS 287; Protocol Additional to the Geneva
Conventions of 12 August 1949, and Relating to the Protection of Victims of
International Armed Conflicts (Protocol [), B June 1977, 16 ILM 1391 (1977
Protocol Additional to the Geneva Convention of 12 August 1949, and Relating
o the Protection Vidims of Non-International Armed Conflicts (Protocol [1), 8
June 1977, ILM 1442 (1977},

30. Medea Benjamin, “Keeping our eyes on Chiapas,” San Francisco Bay
Guardian, January 19, 1994, p. 6. (Benjamin of Global Exchange was a member
of the January 6-15 delegation.)

31. Physicians for Human Rights, through its expens, later confirmed that at
least five were killed summary execution style. Anthony DePalma, "Mexico
Frees 38 Linked to Revolt,” New York Times, January 30, 1994, p. 9.

32. See"Cry for Freedom and Democracy: Chiapas, January 7-15, 1994, Viewing Habits
Productions, 1994, a documentary film on the delegation's investigations and fndings.
33. Ihid,

34. Press conferences in San Cristobal de fas Casas, Mexico City and New York
City were held on January 9, 10, and 11, 1994, respectively.
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Concessions and the Continuing Struggle

On January 14th, the Congress of Indigenous and Peasant
Peoples Organization met, not to support the use of armed force,
but to reaffirm the legitimacy of the Zapatistas® struggle for
social justice. Indigenous peoples throughout Chiapas and
around Mexico, as well as labor, political, church, and human
rights groups, are now challenging the PRI and its government
leaders.’® Peasants around the region began occupying areas
pwned by major land holders.

By late January, the government began to take drastic
steps to regain control of the situation and appease both
international and domestic critics of the war they were wag-
ing against the indigenous population. The poorly armed
Zapatistas succeeded in destabilizing the government of
President Salinas and forcing several changes including the
ouster of the Interior Minister, Patrocinio Gonzilez Garrido,
a former Governor of Chiapas with a reputation for ruthless
repression.”® The Salinas government also declared a unilat-
eral cease-fire and agreed to talks with the rebels and to
accept Bishop Ruiz as a mediator.’” Even after the cease-fire,
however, the army continued its violations and bombings of
civilian communities. Various human rights groups have
continued to monitor the situation and make reports.*® Both
Mexican and U.S. groups have filed complaints against the
Mexican government on behalf of victims of the war with the
Inter-American Commission on Human Rights of the Organi-
zation of American States.*

The rebels have already been successful in forcing a
debate on campaign spending laws.*® On February 27, the
government announced a series of “radical national political
reforms™ before next August’s elections. Although these re-
forms were a key element in the Zapatistas demands from the
beginning, the government insisted they were not the direct
result of peace talks underway. Under the direction of Manuel
Camacho Solis, who was passed over as Salinas’ heir appar-
ent, the negotiations have also led to a government commit-
ment to “dramatically increased social spending and human
rights investigations."!

The peace negotiations, in fact, are expected to open up a
larger debate about Mexico’s political and economic future.*

35. Tim Golden, "' Awakened’ Peasant Farmers Overrenning Mexican Towns,”
New York Times, Febmary 9, 1994, p. Al

36, “Some Good Out of Chiapas,” New York Times (Editorial), January 30,
1994, p. 16.

37, Ihid

38. Tim Golden, “Mexican Rebels Give Statement To Government,” New York
Times, January 18, 1994, p. Al10.

39, On January 27, 1994, U.S -based human rights groups including the Center
for Human Rights Legal Action, the Center for Constitutional Rights, the
Lowenstein Intemational Human Rights Clinic, the Harvard Immigration and
Refuges Program, the National Lawyers Guild, and the Central Amenca Soli-
darity Association, presented a petition before the Inter-American Commission
on Human Rights against the Mexican government on behalf of the civilian
population of Chiapas and members of the Zapatista forces who have laid down
their weapons or have been placed hors de combat by sickmess, wounds,
detention, or any other cause,

40, Tim Golden, “Mexican Parties Agree 1o Reform, New York Times, January
28, 1994, p. Al

41. Tod Robberson, V' Rebellion Spurs Mexico To Plan Major Reforms,” Wash-
ington Post, February 28, 1994,

42. Anthony DePalma, “Mexican Peace Talks Scheduled, New York Times,
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Peter Rabertson
Government peace negotiator Manuel Camacho Solis

Most significantly, the Zapatistas have inspired a resurgence
of community-based action among the indigenous and peas-
ant population to seek redress for centuries of grievance.

U.S. Responsibility

The United States has also been implicated in these atrocities.
For fiscal year 1991, the U.S. gave Mexico $18.3 million from
the International Narcotics Control Fund and, in 1992, the U.S,
State Department requested $26 million for drug law enforce-
ment.*? As is often the case in Latin America, annual allotments
of U.S. arms and equipment designated for anti-narcotics efforts
are now being used for counterinsurgency.** More generally,
the U.S. bears responsibility for supporting the election of
Salinas, ignoring a persistent pattern of human rights, labor and
environmental violations, and promoting NAFTA without regard
for the human consequences.

While the U.S. government has for years been an ally of
the repressive Mexican government, many in the U.S, have
opposed these policies. This public pressure is critical not
only to ensure that the Mexican government protects basic
human rights and institutes fundamental political, economic
and social changes, but also to secure a change in U.S. foreign
policy that is respectful of human rights at home and abroad.
The mobilization and collaboration of anti-NAFTA forces and
human rights groups on both sides of the border will
strengthen the efforts to advance justice and democracy in
both countries. .

February 15, 1994, p. AG.

43. Human Righis Waich World Report 1992, p. 286.

44. Anthony DePalma, “Rebels in Mexico Promise Reforms,” New York Times,
January 30, 1994, p. 9,
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If the CIA’s “little” information on Chiapas had become an open issue, and if news
reports of guerrilla activity in May, in Chiapas, had been printed on the front pages of
major U.S. papers, NAFTA might have been defeated. Which raises the question: Was

Chiapas: An Intelligence Fiasco or Coverup?

Juan Carlos Rojas/Impact Visuals
In May 1993, under the banner of Emiliano Zapata, the people of San Nicolas, Puebla,
denounced electoral fraud, took over the town hall, and marched through the streets
with arms. A negotiated solution was reached.

Dolia Estévez

n January 1, 1994, the day the North American Free
O Trade Agreement (NAFTA) went into effect, Mexicans

were supposed to wake up to the wealth and comfont
of North America; instead, they heard the sound of Central
American-style gunfire.

For decades during the Cold War, the CIA portrayed Mexico
as being “as important to U.S. strategic interests as the Soviet
Union." Nonetheless, despite numerous warning signals, the
Agency failed to wam of a potentially major threat to political
stability in Washington's “backyard.”

The rebellion by the Zapatista National Liberation Armmy
(EZLN) in the southem state of Chiapas, has triggered a political
earthquake in Mexico. The foundations of the Mexican politi-
cal system, which has given the U.S. a largely stable neighbor
for the past 64 years, have been shaken as never before. Cur-
rently Mexico can be defined with only one word: uncertainty.

Dolia Estévez is the Washington correspondent for E/ Financiero, an inde-
pendent Mexican daily.
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For the first time since 1929, the results of the Mexican
presidential election are in doubt. Until now, the selection of
the Institutional Revolutionary Party (PRI) candidate by the
incumbent president was tantamount to being elected. Now,
the possibility exists that the PRI could lose Mexico’s highest
public office. If, before Chiapas, the government felt some
internal and external pressure to end vote fraud practices,
after the uprising, the mood of the population is such that
nothing short of clean and credible elections will be tolerated.

NAFTA strengthened Washington’s views that the southem
neighbor must be seen as key to U.S. national security. But if its
public statements are true, the New Year's uprising took Wash-
ington by surprise and neither the president nor Congress was
alerted ahead of time to the level of organized armed opposition
in Mexico’s second poorest state.

Failure or a coverup? asked Congress. In an open hearing
with CIA head James Woolsey on January 25, members of the
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence suggested the latter,
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“We did not get a prediction of potential political unrest
in Chiapas after the treaty was approved. No prediction was
made,” Sen. Robert Kerrey (D-Neb.), told Woolsey in a
recriminating tone. Woolsey made no comment.

In a closed-deor session the same day, CIA officials
admitted an intelligence failure of omission. They denied,
however, that the CIA had covered up information which
might have provided useful am-

Mexico City (1969-71), resigned when Casey rewrote the
estimate on potential instability in Mexico on the basis of
Latell’s draft. Horton believed there were no facts to substan-
tiate Latell’s doomsday scenario.?

Two years later, while on leave from the NIC, Latell
authored an extensive analysis updating his earlier assess-
ment. “Unless the country’s leaders adopt bold new initia-

tives to decentralize and

munition for opponents of
NAFTA on both the left and the
right.

“The CIA had a little bit of
information, they knew there
were some rebels, they knew
there were guns, but they did not
realize that it [Chiapas] was as
significant as it turned out to be,”
said Senate Intelligence Com-

In the first week after the uprising,
“140 non-governmental human rights
organizations” sent personnel to
Chiapas to “assess” the situation.
Most of the groups were from the U.S.

democratize the rigid, authori-
tarian political structure, the
odds will continue to rise that the
system will rupture violently,”
he wrote.*

Eight years later, Chiapas
turned Latell’s words into proph-
esy. Asked whether the New
Year’s uprising vindicated
Casey's decision to have his

mittee Chair Dennis DeConcini
(D-Ariz.).!

Referring to the failure of the CIA to warn about an armed
insurgency in Chiapas; DeConcini reported, “We asked if the
NAFTA debate had been a factor, and there was no evidence
of that, I cannot guarantee it, but that is what they said.” He
declined to say how early the CIA Station in Mexico City was
aware of the problem.

The Arizona Democrat said that in retrospect the Agency
wished it had spent more time investigating the “little” that they
knew, “so that the U.S. would have been better prepared,”
adding that he was “satisfied” with the CIA's admissions that
they had “underestimated” the sig-

Mexican intelligence estimate
rewritten by Latell, Horton re-
sponded: “No, it [Latell’s estimate] did not say anything
about Chiapas; the evidence that was presented at the time
had nothing to do with this.”

3. John Horton, “Why | Quit the CIA,” Washington P{J'.!-'!, January 2, 1985, p.
AlS5; and John l-!c:nrl.ul:u:l.J “The Real Intelligence Failure,” Foreign Service Jour-
nal, February 1985, p. 25.

4. Brian Latell, “Mexico At the Crossroads,” Hoover Institution, June 16, 1984,
3. Dolia Estévez, “Sorpredic a 1a C1A la Forma, no el Fondo, del Levantamiento
en Chiapas,” El Financiero, January 22, 1994, p. 1.

nificance of the information they = e R e
did have.
Congressional sources reported
that the CIA group included Brian
Latell, national intelligence officer
for Latin America. Latell, a career I WELL- \F THE UNioN
CIA intelligence analyst since \5 ﬁm“%ﬁ,’%
1962, formerly with the CIA’s Na- 1 p‘u. TusT CLOSE
tional Intelligence Council, be- ﬁ,‘g"ﬁ,ﬂw
came notorious in 1984 when CIA I \ MEX 1o .. ,—T
director William Casey assigned >
him to write a “draft estimate™ pre-

dicting the collapse of the Mexican
political system.?

John Horton, then national in-
telligence officer for Latin Amer-
ica, and former Chief of Station in

1. All quotes from DeConcini are from inter-
view cited in: Dolia Estévez, “La CIA Tam-
bién Sabia: DeConcini," El Financiero,
February 16, 1994, p. 1.

2. Recently Latell drew another round of pub-
lic attention when it was revealed that he had
provided Congress with false reports that Hai-
tian President Aristide was mentally unstable.

See article on Haiti.
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Increased CIA Role
DeConcini tried to play down
the CIA s role in Mexico, argu-
ing that it is a “friendly coun-
try.” With the end of the Cold
War, the departmenis of State,
Commerce and Agriculture, and
the Non-Governmental Organi-
zations (NGOs), have largely
replaced the CIA as collectors
of intelligence in Mexico, he
said, implying that even the
number of CIA officials in the
Agency’s Station at the U.5.
Embassy in Mexico City —
one of the world's largest —
has diminished considerably.
During the past few years,
NGOs have dramatically in-
creased their role in Mexico’s
internal political affairs. In
testimony before the House
Subcommitiee on Weslern
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Hemispheric Affairs, February 2, Assistant Secretary of State
for Inter-American Affairs, Alexander F. Watson, reported
that in the first week after the uprising, *140 non-governmen-
tal human rights organizations” sent personnel to Chiapas to
“assess” the situation. Most of the groups were from the U.S.
In 1993, the quasi-governmental National Endowment for
Democracy (NED) — created by Congress in 1983 to do
publicly what the CIA does secretly — granted $420,000 to
five Mexican “civic groups™ active in the electoral arena and
the field of human rights. The amount is the largest ever given
to Mexico, a nation that did not appear among the major NED
recipients until 1992, when the Endowment became active
financing Mexican groups advocating “clean elections.” In
1992, NED grants to Mexico totaled $381,779.°

While the increased presence of U.S. private and quasi-
governmental groups is hard to deny, DeConcini’s assertions
about the CIA’s lessened role in Mexico are debatable. The
situation in Chiapas, will no doubt provoke a stronger CIA
role in Mexico while NAFTA makes U.S. intervention, in
many forms, by many actors,
more compelling then ever.

“I really think it is a seri-
ous problem for the United
States,” said Rep. Dan Glick-
man (D-Kan.), chair of the
House Select Intelligence
Committee. In the aftermath of
the Chiapas rebellion, he add-
ed, he was concerned that US.
intelligence agencies’ analysis
of Mexico’s political stability
“may be a little Pollyanna-
ish.”’ He said he would en-
courage the CIA to focus more
attention on Mexico.

Some analysts predict that
the CIA will launch Cold War-
style covert operations against
the rebels. On the eve of the
initiation of the peace talks
between the Zapatistas and
the government, February 21,
Ralph McGehee, who spent
14 years overseas as a CIA
operations officer, said that
“in this sort of negotiations
you always have technical
operations against the rebels
to gather information on the
leadership and members, and
their negotiating position.”

David Maung/Impact Visuals

Above: Bishop Samuel Ruiz (c), celebrates mass after
the army closed his church (top left) and dubbed him
“Comandante Sammy.” Ruiz acted as negotiator in the
EZLN-government peace talks.

6. NED Anmeal Report, 1992, p. 74; and
pre-release of NED Annual Report, 1993,
7. Robert Burns, Associated Press,
January 27, 1994,

8. Dolia Estévez, “Infiltracién de EU
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He suggested that the Agency might deploy a “close sup-
port team™ 1o the area, to gather information on the guerrilla
leadership, members and negotiating position and give it to
the Mexican government.

January 1 Not First Chiapas Combat
If the CIA was surprised at the New Year’s Day insurrection, it
was not from lack of waming signs. The first Mexican press
reports on guerrilla training camps in Chiapas appeared in May
1993, around the time Cardinal Juan Jesis Posadas was killed
by drug traffickers in Guadalajara, Mexico.

On May 23, after it lost two soldiers in a shootout in the
Chiapas jungle between regular troops and guerrillas, the
Mexican army launched an operation involving hundreds of
soldiers in helicopters and trucks. They searched the tropical
forests of southern Mexico for people suspected of guerrilla
attacks againsi the state forces. Residents and those arrested
in the operations told reporters that soldiers questioned them
about guerrilla activity. All the major Mexican dailies and
various European media carried the news, but reporting in
the U.S. was virtually non-existent.

At the time, NAFTA was in trouble, as a result of the new
Clinton administration’s
decision to postpone sub-

of the trade agreement would bring “undesirable political and
economic consequences” inside Mexico. A pro-NAFTA
Democrat, present at the session, told reporters afterwards
that the briefing by the CIA “helped many members to over-
come fears about NAFTA."!"

A former CIA station chief in Mexico described Latell as
one of the “new breed” of CIA operatives more interested in
affecting policy than providing objective information, and
said that Latell works “very closely” with National Security
Council chief Anthony Lake to lobby Congress on “sensitive
issues, 1!

U.S. Sends Team to Chiapas
Twenty-four hours after the rebels declared war on the Mexican

central government, the State Department sent a team 1o the
southern Mexican state but refused to release the names or
affiliations of the five members.

“We're not familiar with the group, but the Embassy —
Ambassador Jim Jones, specifically — has dispatched a five-
person team yesterday to go to the state capital Tuxtla Gu-
tiérrez and the town of San Cristdbal de las Casas,” said State
Department Spokesperson Mike McCurry on January 3.
“...[T]hey will be assess-
ing the situation, also

mitting the controversial
trade pact to Congress
until side agreements on
environmental and labor
issues were completed.
The assassination of
the cardinal did not help,
since it prompted a de-
bate about the “Colombi-
anization” of Mexico —
that is, the potential for
drug cartels to immerse

Secret State Department reports may
not only document the human rights violations,
but will clarify whether the Mexican army
used American helicopters,
on loan from the U.S. for the war on drugs,
in combat against the rebels.

checking the status of
American citizens who
are in the vicinity.”
According 10 Mexican
sources, under the pretext
of interviewing tourists,
the U.S. team gained
broad access even into the
most réemote corners of
Chiapas. The extensive
reports on what they saw
and heard were cabled

Mexico in the kind of vio-
lent anarchy that Colom-
bia has experienced since the mid-1980s.°

If the ClA's “little” information on Chiapas had then
become an open issue, and news of guerrilla activity in
southern Mexico had been printed on the front pages of major
U.S. papers, NAFTA might have been defeated.

Not only did the CIA suppress the “little” that they
claimed to have known about Chiapas, but around the months
the Zapatista rebels were preparing their New Year's offen-
sive, the Agency was part of the uphill effort to persuade
Congress to ratify NAFTA.

In a closed-door meeting with members of the House
Select Committee on Intelligence shortly before the Novem-
ber 17, 1993, NAFTA vote, Brian Latell warned that a defeat

en ¢l Didlogo en Chinpas: Exfuncionarios de la CIA," El Finamciero, February 17,
1994, p. 39.

9. Tod Robberson, “Mexican Drug Dealers Cut Pervasive Path,” Washingion
Post, May 31, 1993, p. All
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back to the State Depart-
ment and, it is believed, to
CIA headquarters. The information, including the Mexican
army’s repressive response during the first days of the con-
flict, the level of support for the rebels, and a status report on
human rights have remained classified. Congressional lead-
ers with jurisdiction over Mexico have asked for the infor-
mation, arguing that if the reports revealed violations of
human rights by Mexican security forces, the situation could
become another El Mozote fiasco, referring to the massacre
by the Salvadoran Armed Forces in 1981 which Reagan's
State Department covered up to protect its cozy relationship
with the Salvadoran government.

The concern seems justified. Human rights reports by
Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch/Americas
(formerly Americas Watch) have denounced serious viola-

10. José Manue]l Nava, Excelsior, Ociober 29, 1993,
11. The Mexico Repori (Washington, D.C.: The Whalen Company, Inc.), De-
cember 20, 1993, p. 20.
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tions, including extrajudicial executions, “disappearances,”
and arbitrary arrests by the Mexican army.'?

Subcomandante Marcos, the Zapaltista military strategist,
cautioned that the violation of human rights was not “the
policy of the Mexican army...[Clertain sectors of the Armed
Forces fought with military honor avoiding harm to the
civilian population,™?

But the State Department is nol sharing its information,
even though there is reason to believe that its reports not only
document the violations, but will clarify whether the Mexi-
can army used American helicopters, on loan from the U.S.
for the war on drugs, in combat against the rebels. Ambassa-
dor Jones stated that Mexico “did not violate any agreement
by using the helicopters since they were deployed for logis-
tics, not combat.™**

Some of the contents of the classified reports were leaked
when U.S. Ambassador to Mexico, James R. Jones, a political
appointee who used to be the CEO of
the American Stock Exchange,

Julieta Noyes, deputy press attache in the U.S. Embassy
in Mexico, denied that Jones had ever implied the Cubans
were behind the Zapatistas. She admitted, however, that
Jones said one rifle had a “registration number that indicated
that it went through Cuba.””

Reassessing U.S5.-Mexican Relations
Before the rebellion in Chiapas, U.S. intelligence services were
taking Mexico for granted. The CIA’s 1984 wamings to Ronald
Reagan that there was “at least” a 1-in-5 chance that the Mexi-
can government would collapse within the next five years — an
event that would pose serious security problems for the U.S. —
had been put to rest during the Salinas administration.™®
During his five years in office, Salinas’ policies have been
met with approval in Washington: He imposed drastic neo-
liberal economic reforms, de facto reversing decades of eco-
nomic nationalism; and begged Washington for NAFTA.
Thanks to Salinas, Mexico went
from being a headache for U.S. for-

briefed Congress on Chiapas.

In classified meetings with mem-
bers of Congress the week of January
24, when asked about the origins of
the arms that the Zapatistas are bear-
ing, Jones responded that “some of
them came from Cuba™ and that “at

Chiapas is, in many ways, the
story of how Washington came to
believe its own propaganda.

eign policy, to becoming the
“model” for all Latin American na-
tions who wished to enjoy a “special
relationship” with the “Coloso del
Norte.”

Chiapas is, in many ways, the
story of how Washington came to

least one of the leaders of the rebel-
lion was known to be Cuban."!*

According to some sources close to the meeting, Jones
also said that he was optimistic about the situation and
believed that “everything was under control.” And although
he admitted that there were “some regional focuses™ with
similar socioeconomic conditions, he ruled out the spread of
the armed conflict.'®

Jones' statements contradicted the State Départment’s of-
ficial position. “I don't think we have any evidence that any
external actors were involved in what happened in Chiapas.
They may be, but we do not have any evidence of that and I
haven’t heard people talking too much about that anymore,”
said Alexander F. Watson, assistant secretary of state for
inter-American affairs."’

Havana’s reaction did not wait. “We are used to this type of
statement,” said Cuban Foreign Minister Roberto Robaina,
when asked about Jones® allegations. “For the Americans, it is
important to discredit the Cuban Revolution and therefore they
cooked up the most blatant lies and slanders,”'®

12. Testimony of Juan E. Méndez, Executive Director, Human Rights/Amen-
cas, before the House Foreign Affairs Committee on Western Hemispheric
Affairs, February 2, 1994,

13, Oscar Hinojosa, “ “Por el TLC, Salinas Omitié a la Guermilla’: Marcos,” El
Financiero, February 21, 1994, p. 64.

14. La Jormada (Mexico City), January 19, 1994, p. 1.

15. Carlos Puig, “ ‘Algunas de las armas y por lo menos un comandante de la
rebelidn en chispas son cubanos': Jones,” Proceso, January 31, 1994, p. 56.
16. Ihid

17. State Depanment press bricfing, January 25, 1994

18. Homem» Campa, “Respuesia Inmediata del gobierno Cubano,” Procesa,
January 31, 1994, p. 57.
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believe its own propaganda. George
Bush was convinced that Salinas
would go down in history as the most reform-minded, pro-
U.S. president Mexico ever had. Bill Clinton, who turned
NAFTA into a life-or-death issue for his presidency, is as

convinced about Salinas as his predecessor.
M catalytic factor in closing the increasing gap be-
tween rich and poor and opening the door for a more
democratic system. Washington and its intelligence services
would prefer to see the uprising as an aberration. They hope that
Mexico can still become part of the North American “paradise”
despite the 40 million poor who will continue to fight, some-
times with arms, for economic and political recognition. .

any Mexicans hope that the rebellion will be a

19. Letter to editor, Process, “Inexacta, la cita de Jones, dice la Embajada,”
February 7, 1994, p. 56,

20. Jack Anderson, “Reagan
Post, June 27, 1986, p. C19.

Wamed of Instability in Mexico,” Washingron

Corrections from CAQ #47:

The photo on p. 35 is Larry Kramer. Several photo credits in Wand Churchill s
“The FBI Targets Judi Bari™ wene mistakenly aributed o David Cross. The death
threat (p. 4) reproduces a xerox provided by Judi Ban. The two photos of Ban's
bomb-damaged car (p. 5) wene taken by the Oakland Police. The photo of Irv
Sutley (p. 7) was taken by a photographer who does not wish to be credited.
The David Cross photo of Judi Bari (p. 7) was taken August 14, 1990,
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Festive CNP Conclave in St. Louis

Chip Berlet

Some 200 attendees' at the October 1993 Council for
National Policy (CNP) meeting in St. Louis opened their
conference kit and found a terse one-page secrecy manifesto
from CNP executive director Morton C. Blackwell, warning
them about “specific rules regarding our meetings.” One rule
is: “The media should not know when or where we meet or
who takes part in our programs, before or after a meeting.”

Telephone CNP offices and the discreetly vague person
who answers will tell you that, although the group is indeed
a tax-exempt non-profit, “The CNP is a private organization.
It has long been our policy not 1o

dential unanimous vote of the executive committee. Along
with wealth and power, the ideal CNP candidate appears to
be an ultra-conservative Christian evangelical who is com-
fortable with racism, sexism, homophobia, paranoid anti-
communism, and who has a distaste for liberalism and mass
democracy. Still, it must be noted, the CNP is reaching out to
include sufficiently right-wing non-Christians and people of
color. In 1992, the first black was given the “Thomas Jeffer-
son Award for Servant Leadership™: Clarence Thomas.?
The executive committee of CNP is a hall of fame for
reactionary political operatives:

discuss our speakers, the members
who belong, or our visitors. In this
way, we are able to meet and dis-
cuss issues freely without having
reporters present. So I couldn’t
give you any more information."In | .. . cirence asreniess
fact, the CNP won't discuss where

and when it holds its meetings, or
even confirm or deny if it holds
meetings at all.

One reason for the secrecy, ac- | rugereing sor seetings.
cording to investigative reporter |
Russ Bellant, is that CNP is de-
voted to networking the “foremost
right-wing activists and funders in | 3
the United States.”® CNP is an im-
portant and influential institution
within the U.S. ultra-conservative
right. It trains key political activ-

MO ANTIC

FRoM1 Merten €. Elsckwell

Exacutive Directeor

RE; EXNP Fules

public.

AfzEr & Ieeting.

spacial permission.

the felloving speclfle roiss

Spscial guests EAy attend only with the sdvance
unanimous approval of the Executive Cormittes,

=R ] The aslicitation of funds on 2 cne=on=one Basis iz
prehicited at the sestlings.

Council mestings #ré cloasd te tha medla and gene-el
Toe pedia should not Encw whan crf vhere we
seet or vhe tales part in ooy progress,

4) Speakers' resarks a4t Councll] mestings ace off 1he
resord and net fof @irculatien later, ameept wizh

Holland H. (Holly) Coors, vice
chair and board of trustees for A
Christian Ministry in the National
Parks and on the board of direc-
tors, Adolph Coors Foundation;
Edwin J. Feulner, head of the Heri-
tage Foundation; former Attorney
General Edwin Meese 111, now
also with the Heritage Founda-
tion; Howard Phillips of the Con-
servative Caucus: Reed Larson,
president of the National Right to
Work Committee: and Lt. Col.
Oliver L. North, among others.
According to Bellant,“The
CNP was founded in 1981 when
Tim LaHaye, a leader of Moral
Majority, proposed the idea to
wealthy Texan T, Cullen Davis.

bafoce o

ists, promotes discussions of right-
wing strategies among leading
operatives and funders, shapes
how issues are chosen and framed,
and mentors young activists on the

) our mesbership 11T is striciliy confidential and

L3

Ehoild net ba Ehared olbtside the Coumsild.
Funcralsing frecs whe Jist is alse prohibited.

HantsI® BI9 asksd Lo avoid cogenizing o attending
seatimes of othar qroups or cro=nizatliens in the sams
city bafore, during or izsmedietely sfisr a Couscil
masting.

¥a heve thesa rules for your banefit and to allew

Davis contacted billionaire Nel-
son Bunker Hunt and from that
point on they began recruiting
members. By 1984, the Council
had 400 members.” LaHaye and

way up the reactionary ladder. In

cpan, uninhibited remsrks fron cur spaskers.

others brought together repre-

itself it has little power, but its

members are key players who are networked by CNP. Despite
its tax status, CNP is run like an exclusive club. Should you
be able to afford the $2,000 yearly fee, your membership
application still has to be accompanied by a nomination and
seconded by two current members, and be approved by a confi-

Chip Berlet is an analyst & Political Research Associates, Cambridge, Mass.
1. The Freedom Writer (Great Barrington, Mass. ), January 1994, CNP met again
in February 1994 in Palm BI:-I.I.‘J'L, Florida, and is scheduled to gather in May in
Virginia and in New Orleans in November.

2. See Russ Bellant, “Secretive Right-wing Group: The CNP,” CovertAction,
No. 34 (Summer 1990), pp. 17-20,
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sentatives from the Religious
Right, the [Reagan] White House, elected officeholders, the
political Right, and right-wing businessmen. “They con-
ceived of themselves as a rightist alternative to the estab-
lishment Council on Foreign Relations in New York City.™

3. Past recipicnis include Ellen St John Garwood (1989), funder for Oliver
North's anti-Contra operations; Fred Schwarz, founder-director of the Christian
Anti-Communism Crusade (1967), Reagan's Attomey General Edwin Meese, (1986);
and William Bennent (1985), Reagan's secretary of education and drug czar

4. Russ Bellant, The Coors Connection (Boston: South End Press, 19'91] citing
Greg Garland, “Conservative Council for National Policy got off 1o unlikely
stari,” Siaie Tr'm:.: {Baton Rouge), January 8, 1987, p. GA,

5. Mid; citing Newsweek, July 6, 1981; State Times, op, cit.
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Bellant told CovertAction that his continuing research
reinforces his view that CNP was, and is, heavily influenced
by the John Birch Society. The Birchers hold that a conspir-
acy of liberals—operating on behalf of sinister elites who
also control communism—seeks to undermine Christian
Western values and restrict U.S. capitalist economic growth.
Materials passed out at the St. Louis CNP meeting reflect
Birch and other reactionary theories as interpreted by a
variety of right-wing groups seeking support from CNP
members. Some highlights of the get-together:

» America—A Call to Greatness, Inc. promoted its trilogy of
books showing “How to take liberal scalps™ in the fight to
fend off “Secular Humanism,” “Military Disarmament,”
“Homosexuality,” “New Age Philosophy,” “Corrupt Poli-
ticians,” “Environmentalism,” and “Secular Humanism”
and “restore our Christian-based Constitutional Republic,
the fountainhead of our freedoms.™

* New Yorkers for Constitutional Freedoms expressed fears
that “religious freedoms and moral values are challenged
on every front.” Its director, Rev. Duane Motley, is also
president of the New Yorker’s Family Research Founda-
tion, Inc., which sports a brochure citing Ronald Reagan,
a Gary Bauer article in the Phyllis Schlafly Repori, and
Dr. James Dobson of Focus on the Family,

* The Intercollegiate Studies Institute offered a free lecture
series for “select preparatory schools”™ in which right-wing
luminaries such as former secretary of education and drug
czar William J. Bennett, and authors Christina Hoff
Sommers, Dinesh D' Souza, and Walter Williams discuss
how feminism, affirmative action, and multiculturalism are
putting America in peril and threatening Westemn culture,

* Paul Weyrich’s Coalitions for Amenca urged “Judicial
Nomination Activists” to block the appointment of Rose-
mary Barkett to the U.S. Court of Appeals.

* A bus took interested conference participants to the new
Phyllis Schlafly Center in suburban Clayton, Missouri,
where her Eagle Forum will promote “pro-family informa-
tion, training and action.” Linda Bean Folkers, on the
board of Maine's L.L.. Bean Company, was on the host
committee for the tour which included a drive-by sighting
of the “great St. Louis Arch.”

* Phyllis Schlafly herself co-chaired the CNP standing com-
mittee workshop on “Family” along with E. Peb Jackson.
The standing commitiee on “Law and Justice” was co-
chaired by Edwin Meese III, and Judge Paul Pressler,
while “Institutional Reform” was co-chaired by Pat Nolan
and Richard Viguerie. Meese is the cument president of
the CNP. Paul Weyrich introduced Mayor John Norquist
of Milwaukee who delivered a speech on “School Choice:
Education’s Future.” Weyrich has been the CNF’s secre-
tary-treasurer and is currently on the CNP Board of Gov-
EIMOTS.

» Atthe Saturday evening reception, the CNP gave its *Win-
ston Churchill Award” to writer David Brock whose arti-
cles in the American Spectator have ridiculed Anita Hill,
among others. The award celebrates Churchill’s quote:
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Leadership Institute
CNP Executive Director Morton C. Blackwell poses with
his ex-boss, Ronald Reagan. Blackwell was Special
Assistant for Public Liaison for three years.

“Victory at all costs, for without Victory, there is no Sur-
vival.” Formerrecipientsinclude Rev, Donald Wildmon
of the American Family Association, Rep. Woody
Jenkins of the Louisiana State Legislature, Rep. Penny
Pullen of the Illinois State Legislature, and Ralph E.
Reed, executive director of the Christian Coalition.
Later Saturday evening, Linda Bean Folkers was “Mas-
ter of Ceremonies” for a program where Rep. James M.
Talent (R-Mo.) gave the “Perspective of a House Fresh-
man,” and Ben Ngubane, Minister of Health, KwaZulu
Government, South Africa, explained “South Africa:
The True Story.”

CNP Members of Interest Include:

Judie Brown, president of the American Life League; Kath-
leen Sullivan, chair of Eagle Forum of Illinois and founder and
executive director of the National Catholic Coalition; John A.
Stormer, author of None Dare Call It Treason, publisher of
Liberty Bell Press, and the director of I Chronicles 12:32
Understanding the Times Ministry; and televangelist John
Ankerberg, who sits on the board of directors of the National
Religious Broadcasters.

CNP Executive Committee, 1994:
Holland Coors, Rich DeVos, Edwin J. Feulner, Foster
Friess, Preston Hawkins, Louis “Woody"” Jenkins, Reed
Larson, Edwin Meese III, Sam Moore, Oliver North,
Howard Phillips, Paul Pressler, Ed Prince, and Michael
Valerio. .
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(Haiti, continued from p. 9)

1987, two officers of the Haitian army deserted and went
to Florida, denouncing the fact they had been recruited in
such a program involving political assassination. Colonel
Emst Prudhomme [now a junta member] was a key mem-
ber of SIN and participated in the interrogation and torture
of [Port-au-Prince mayor] Evans Paul, and of three other
political figures [between September 1988 and 1990]. We
had been the vietim of SIN operations and tactics before
and we wanted to see this intelligence unit affected exclu-
sively to fighting drug trafficking, and we wanted it to
come under civilian authority.*!

“CIA,"” Elie continued, “had been working in close coop-
eration with [SIN]. In fact, they actually built up this agency
and financed il.” This relationship was facilitated by the
relative autonomy of SIN which operates outside the chain
of military command. In Elie's words, “according to Haiti’s
organization of the Ministry of Defense, SIN is an intelli-
gence agency that depends directly from [i. e., reports directly
to] the Commander in Chiet.” While Elie found documents
outlining his government’s relationship with the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA), “l never found any
documents, documenting the accord, the agreement between
the Haitian government and the U.S. government on SIN.
There is one on drug trafficking, [but] none on SIN.” #

During Aristide’s eight months in power, Elie’s CIA con-
tact at the U.S. embassy complained that SIN was out of
control. “The CIA told me that it was very unhappy with the
fact that its knowledge and its equipment and its money was
being used for these very different purposes than the one they
had intended. They were complaining to us that this agency
which was being funded to infiltrate drug trafficking net-
works had in fact been exclusively doing “political policy’ to
use a euphemism.” In any case, by late summer 1991, Aris-
tide and Elie decided to remove SIN from military control
and direct it solely toward drug trafficking.

Take Back Your Tired, Your Poor

The September 30, 1991 coup aborted those plans. Having
learned the lessons of the January 6, 1991 failed coup attempt
by LaFontant, the military deployed troops under cover of night
to prevent mass action in support of Aristide. Within two weeks,
the military murdered 1,000 Haitians. By the end of the year
another 500 were dead, thousands more summarily amrested and
tortured, and tens of thousands in hiding.>*

President Bush and Secretary of State Jim Baker offered
public support for Aristide. Speaking to the Organization of
American States, Baker said the coup “has no legitimacy and
will not prevail.”** The U.S. suspended formal assistance, but

21. Ibid. For a detailed, if somewhat apologetic, account of the CIA s relation-
ship with SIN, see Tim Weiner, "C.L.A. Formed Haitian Unit Later Tied to
Marcotics Trade,” New York Times, November 14, 1993, p. Al.

22. Thid.

23. “Return to the Darkest Days: Human Rights in Haiti Since the Coup,” Joint
Report from Amercas Watch, National Coalition for Haitian Refugees, and
Physicians for Human Rights, December 30, 1991,

24. "OAS Rallies 1o Haiti's Side,” Miagmi Herald, October 3, 1991,
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its commitment to restoring the leftist Aristide quickly re-
vealed itself as largely rhetorical. On October 3, Bush, who
had sent U.S. troops to Panama, Somalia, and the Persian
Gulf, said he was “disinclined to use American force™® to
restore Aristide, and only reluctantly joined OAS sanctions
against the coup at the end of October.

Behind the facade of pro-democracy oratory, U.S, offi-
cials mounted a vicious disinformation campaign against
Aristide, which continues today. Within a few weeks, “dip-
lomats™ and U.S. officials, usually behind a shield of source
anonymity, were painting the deposed leader as a dangerous,
violent, mentally unstable zealot. The campaign included a
desultory list of actors from earlier wars in Central America.
U.S. business interests, for example, enlisted former Assis-
tant Secretary of State and admitted liar Elliott Abrams to
lead the charge against the embargo on Capitol Hill.*®

By late January and early February 1992, despite the
embargo, goods flowed into and refugees flowed out of Haiti.
Oil shipments easily evaded the embargo, keeping the mili-
tary functioning smoothly.?” On February 4, Bush signalled
the end of all but the flimsiest pretense of support for Aristide
by excepting the assembly industry from the sanctions. At the
same time, the U.S. cracked down on the refugees.

Frantic to avoid thousands of Haitians landing on U.S.
shores, the Bush administration set up a processing facility
at Guantanamo Bay Naval Base, Cuba, a month and a half
after the coup. Haitians picked up by the Coast Guard were
taken to the facility for a “prescreening” for political asylum.
If Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) adjudicators
determined the refugees had a “credible fear” of persecution,
they were “screened in™ to the U.S. for a full-blown political
asylum hearing; if not, they were shipped back to Haiti.

The rate of successful applications for asylum had more
to do with U.S. policy objectives than the merit of individual
cases or actual conditions in Haiti. “It was totally politi-
cized,” said a U.S. official intimately familiar with the pro-
gram. “Whenever somebody from Washington went down to
Guantanamo, the rate [of those granted entry into the U.S.]
went down, and as soon as they left, it went back up again.”2®
Interviewing officers were easily controlled because they
lacked an overall understanding of how the program func-
tioned, In early May, “when the interviewing officers found
out, to their horror, that the Coast Guard was handing over
the manifests [with the names and addresses of all Haitians
being sent back] to the Haitian military on the docks, the rate
[allowed into the U.S.] went through the roof for a couple of
days.”?®

On May 24, 1992, President Bush ended the controversial
screening program altogether by ordering the Coast Guard to

25. "The OAS Agrees to Isolate Chiefs of Haitian Junta,” New York Times,
October 3, 1991, p. A8,

26. Abrams is a board member of Caribbean Latin Amenican Action, an organi-
zation that promotes U5, business development in the region.

27. 1.P. Slavin, “Tanker Breaks Embargo, Delivers Fuel io Hait,” Miami
Herald January 3, 1992,

2B, Author's interview, November 1993,

29, Ihid
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summarily repatriate any Haitians picked up at sea, with no
hearing whatsoever, The new policy forced Haitians seeking
asylum to rely on “in-country processing” by hostile INS
officers at U.S. Embassy facilities in Haiti, where military
thugs carefully observed the process.”

Although the policy flagrantly violates the fundamental
principle of international asylum law,*' Bush attempted to
justify it by denying that there was systematic repression in
Haiti. I am convinced,” he
said on May 28 in Marietta,

According to Wagner's 160-page sworn deposition in the
Haitian Centers’ litigation, he personally interviewed 600
repatriates.”® During three separate trips, neither he nor his
colleagues found a single “credible” case of post-repatriation
reprisal by the military. A joint Americas Watch/National
Coalition for Haitian Refugees report described this effort as
“a wholly slanted undertaking. As an exercise designed to
illustrate the premise that repatriates do not face political
persecution, the surveys serve a
public relations purpose. But as

Georgia, “that the people in
Haiti are not being physically
oppressed. | would not want on
my conscience that..anyone
that was fleeing oppression
would be victimized upon re-
turn.” At the time, the Haifian
military was in fact stepping up
repression in the countryside,

TWO ASPECTS OF U.S. POLICY COALESCE
IN ONE MAN — GUNTHER OTTO WAGNER,
RECRUITED FROM HITLER'S MILITARY —
WITH A LONG HISTORY OF INVOLVEMENT
IN U.S. COVERT CPERATIONS,

an attempt to discover whether
repatriates encounter persecu-
tion, the surveys utterly fajl,”™

Wagner's investigative
method consisted of checking
in with the local military com-
mander, proceeding to a public
gathering place, loudly an-
nouncing his own identity and

and systematically attacking
the grassroots development and
social justice organizations which formed the skeleton of
Haiti’s delicate civil society.*

Enter Wagner, Stage Far Right

The claim that the Haitian military was not engaged in system-
atic repression and the whisper campaign against Aristide have
two elements in common. Each rests on the belief that poor
Haitians — and their political aspirations — threaten U.S. in-
terests. And each relies on slanted or bogus intelligence col-
lected or created by the State Department, the Justice
Department, and the CIA.

These two aspects of U.S. policy coalesce in one man —
recruited from Hitler’s military — with a long history of
involvement in U.S. covert operations. In late February 1994,
the INS dispatched Gunther Otto Wagner, senior intelligence
officer at INS’s Southeast Regional Headquarters in Dallas,
Texas, to Haiti to investigate the reports of targeted persecu-
tion against refugees returned by the U.S. Over three months,
Wagner and a group of State Department officers interviewed
about 3,000 repatriated Haitian refugees.

30. For an analysis of incountry processing, see “No Pon in a Storm: The
Misguided Use of In-Country Refugee Processing in Haiti,” Americas Watch/
Mational Coalition for Haitian Refugees, Jesuit Refugee Services, Sepltember 1993,
31. Anticle 14, paragraph 1 of the United Nations Universal Declaration of
Human Rights states, "Everyone has the right to seck and enjoy in other
countries asylum from pesecution.” Found in Walter Laqueur and Barry Rubin,
The Human Rights Reader (New York: Meridian, 1979), p. 199. The bedrock
principle of refugee law is “nonrefoulment,” that states shall not return people
to arcas where they are likely to be persecuted. Anticle 22, paragraph 8, of the
American Convention on Human Rights (1969) reads: “In no case may an alien
be deported or returned to a country, regandless of whether or not it is his country
of origin, if in that country his right to life or personal freedom is in danger of
being violated because of his race, nationality, religion, social status, or political
opinions.” The U.S. tacitly admits violating this principle by subsequently
granting asylum (through in-couniry processing) to refugees picked up at sca
and summarily returned to Haiti.

32. Silencing a People; The Desiruction of Civil Society in Haiti, Amencas
Watch/National Coalition for Haitian Refugees, New York, February 1993,
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asking if anyone knew of any

repatriates, particularly any
who might have suffered reprisals.*® Anyone who dared
come forward was interviewed in public.

Even under these conditions, two to three percent of those
Wagner interviewed reported that they were in hiding or felt
threatened. In a grim Catch-22, Wagner dismissed their fears
citing the absurd conditions of his own investigation. A
person with a credible fear of persecution, he concluded,
“would not have been in my presence. Because the individual
is out in the street, as far as | am concerned, he is not
hiding."

In late March and early April, State and INS produced
three unclassified reports that were circulated to asylum
officers at Guantanamo who used them to assess country
human rights conditions. INS regulations require asylum
adjudicators to weigh independent human rights reporting
equally with U.S. government sources in evaluating political
asylum claims. At Guantanamo, however, screening officers
worked long hours, and the resource center holding country
human rights reports was housed in a building far from the
area where interviewers worked. While it was inconvenient
for screening officers to obtain outside reports, INS manage-
ment distributed Wagner s reports directly to the interview-
ers. One of Wagner’s memos accused independent human
rights groups of overstating the number of murders by at least
three times.*’

33, Deposition of Gunther Wagner, H.C.C. v McNary, May 5, 1992

34, “Half the Story: Skewed U.5. Monitoring of Repatriated Refugees,” Ameri-
cas Waich/National Coalition for Haitian Refugees, June 1992,

35, Wagner Deposition, op. cir, pp. 98-100.

36. Ihid., p. 130. :

37. “Haitian Situation Repon: Repatriation,” Depariment of Justice and Immi-
gration and Naturalization Service, HOINT Dallas, Texas. Copy shown 1o author
is undated, but was written after a March 1- 14, 1992 trip by Wagner. At page
II: “These credible sources placed the deaths countrywide at between 350 and
500 during and immediately after September 29, 1991, vs. media and activists'
estimates at between 1500 and 2000."
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In early April, Wagner followed up the reports with a
briefing at Guantanamo. He told the asylum officers that 95
percent of Haitians seeking political asylum were making
“fraudulent claims.”® Yet, according to his own sworn state-
ment, Wagner had never read asylum law or regulations, was
not trained to adjudicate asylum claims, had no training in
cross-cultural interviewing techniques, had never been to
Haiti before, had not read State Department country reports
on Haiti, and could neither identify Haitian political parties
nor accurately recall Aristide’s popular nickname.*®

The Torturing Cycle

Wagner should have been able to identify victims of repression.
He devoted the first half of his U.S. government career to
helping various dictatorships target them. Wagner was recruited
out of Hitler’s German Air Force into the U.S. Army’s security
police in Occupied Germany, with German state and municipal
police forces from 1946-51 and as chief investigator with the
U.S. Army Security Police Western Area Command from 1951-
55. He came to the U.S. in 1955 and was naturalized in 1960.

In 1966, he went to Vietnam as senior Public Safety
Adviser under the Office of Public Safety (OPS) of AID. OPS
was founded by the CIA in 1962 under an AID umbrella and
was often used as a cover for covert operations in Southeast
Asia. Wagner was a regional adviser to the Vietnamese Na-
tional Police Special Branch, a key participant in the CIA-
sponsored Phoenix program in which tens of thousands of
Vietnamese civilians were summarily arrested, tortured, dis-
appeared, and murdered. He moved on to Managua in 1971
as senior Public Safety Adviser to the Somoza regime, stay-
ing on as a consultant when Congress abolished OPS in 1975
after its role in underwriting torture in various countries was
revealed.*® Wagner refused interviews through the INS press
office, but according to Douglas Valentine, who interviewed
him extensively for his book The Phoenix Program, Wagner
personally trained Enrique Bermidez, who later became
military commander of the largest Contra force.*!

State Department officials assisted Wagner, A review of
more than 200 pages of unclassified cable traffic from the
first half of 1992 between the U.S. embassy in Port-au-Prince
and Washington reveals the underlying assumption that Haiti
is suffering a plague of liars. The cables concerning persecu-
tion of repatriates are often sarcastic — a section of one is
titled offhandedly, “Another refugee claim debunked.™?

The CIA Weighs In
Not to be outdone by their State Department and INS col-
leagues, the CIA weighed in during the summer, dispatching

38. Deposition of Scott Bushy, H.C.C. v. Sales. After Wagner's bricfing, some
asylum officers complained; asylum branch director Greg Beyer instructed
Guantanamo management to make certain that asylum officers were exposed to
all sources of human rights reporting about Haiti.

39. Deposition of Gunther Wagner, H.C.C. v. Sales, May 5, 1992, pp. 40-46, 97.
40. Latin America and Empire Report, NacLa, February 1976, p. 24, Wagner
Depaosition, pp. 7-11.

41. Pacifica Radic National News, February 12, 1993

42, Author's review of unclassified Department of State cable from U.S, Em-
bassy, Port-au-Prince, to Secretary of State, February 14, 1992,
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analyst Brian Latell. As publicly acknowledged National Intel-
ligence Officer for Latin America, Latell is the intelligence
community’s senior analyst on Latin American affairs. In a memo
dated July 21, 1992, he offered his “Impressions of Haiti:”

[ do not wish to minimize the role the military plays in
intimidating, and occasionally terrorizing real and sus-
pected opponents, but my experiences confirm the com-
munity's view that there is no systematic or frequent lethal
violence aimed at civilians.*

Just a few weeks before Latell’s visit, the military had
switched front Prime Ministers, jettisoning U.S_-funded hu-
man rights activist Jean-Jacques Honorat in favor of failed
U.S.-backed presidential candidate, Marc Bazin. Latell
gushed about Bazin and the coup leader, Army Chief of Staff
Raoul Cedras:

These meetings reinforced my view that Bazin and his
[civilian] supporters are perhaps the most promising group
of Haitian leaders since the Duvalier family dictatorship
was deposed in 1986....Gen. Cedras impressed me as a
conscientious military leader who genuinely wishes to
minimize his role in politics, professionalize the armed serv-
ices and develop a separate and competent civilian police
force. I believe he is relatively moderate and incorrupt.*

At the time of Latell’s visit, several Haitian officers and
enlisted men were finishing training courses at Fort Benning,
Georgia, despite official denials. As with the 1987 aid cutoff,
the Bush administration’s “disengagement” from the military
was largely fictional. Publicly, Pentagon officials insisted
that although Haitians attending classes at the time of the
coup could finish up, no additional Haitians could start
courses. According to lists obtained by the National Security
News Service in Washington, D.C., however, at least ten
Haitian officers completed English-language classes begun
before the coup, and then began other training courses, most
at Fort Benning.**

Patrick Elie says that shortly after the coup, Aristide
supporters monitored radio transmissions in which Col.
Joseph-Michel Francois was heard ordering a company of
soldiers to open the airport to receive contraband ship-
ments.*® Francois, who promoted himself to national chief of
police after the coup and is one of the most powerful junta
members, trained at Fort Benning.*” He reportedly controls
thousands of paramilitary attaches, and, in Duvalier style,

43, Christopher Mamuis, Miami Herald, reprinted as “CIA Memo Discounts
‘Oppressive Rule' in Haiti,” Washington Post, December 19, 1993, p. A21.
44, Ihid.

45, “IMET Forcign Military Trainees From FYB4 thra FY93,"” Defense Depart-
ment Report dated November 15, 1993, provided to author by National Security
News Service, Washington, D.C.

46. Elie press conference, op. cit.

47, Anne Marie 0" Connor, A little known soldier becomes Haiti s police chief:
Major received training in Fi. Benning, Ga.,"” Atlanta Journal and Constitution,
October 11, 1991,
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has packed the public payroll with family and friends.**
Aristide’s government told U.S. intelligence officials about
the midnight flight, but the U.S. still seems to view the
Haitian military as drug warriors. Despite the embargo, the
U.S. continues to share “anti-narcotics” intelligence with the
Haitian military.**

INS’s, State’s and CIA's analyses — and the Pentagon’s
continued embrace of the Haitian military — all dovetailed
neatly with Bush's assertion that there was little repression
in Haiti. Another politician, however, disagreed with Bush
and Latell. Three days after Bush announced summary repa-
triation, Democratic presidential candidate Bill Clinton de-
nounced the move as “another sad example of the
administration’s callous response to a terrible human trag-
edy....If I were president, I would — in the absence of clear
and compelling evidence that they weren’t political refugees
— give them temporary asylum until we restored the elected
government of Haiti."*"

Clinton’s election spurred another round of smears and
phony intelligence. On November 18, the Miami Herald
warned that “U.S. reconnaissance photos taken over Haiti
November 6 show 717 sailboats on the ground. Of those, 610
are ready, and 107 are still under construction. Clearly the
means is at hand for a massive exodus of Haitians to South
Florida.”*! As Clinton's inauguration drew near, the boat
sightings and expectations for the exodus reached a fever
pitch. U.S. Coast Guard commandant Admiral J. William
Kime announced that 1,400 boats were ready and another 200
under construction, preparing for an exodus which could
involve “several hundred thousand” Haitians,*?

Coast Guard officials admitted that they gleaned their
information from the media rather than from observation.
Attorney Michael Ratner of the Center for Constitutional
Rights, who actually visited Haiti at the time, believes the
reports of boats and impending exodus were wildly exagger-
ated. “One of the things we specifically set out to do was find
boats. We found three boats. Now, we didn’t go to every
beach, but we fanned out in three teams. The area is so
deforested that you can see a lot. [ took a car all the way up
the coast from Port-au-Prince, stopping frequently. We didn’t
see any crowds, There are no crowds of people anywhere in
Haiti. Even an outpouring of 50,000 people would be so
massive for Haiti, given the poverty, number of boats and
difficulty in moving around, that it’s just not realistic.”*?
Indeed, it had taken nine months for 37,000 Haitians to flee
after the coup,

The hysteria had a predictable effect. On January 14,
under pressure from Florida politicians, Clinton made Hai-

48. Don Bohning and John Donnelly, “The Enforcers: Who are the atfaches?
They are outnumbered, but have the bullets,” Miami Herald, October 17, 1993,
49, Douglas Farah, “U.5. Shares Anti-Drug Data With Haiti’s Military,” Wash-
ingion Post, Octlober 24, 1983,

50. Clinton campaign statement, May 27, 1992, .
51. Editorial, “Be firm, fair on Haitians,” Miami Herald November 18, 1992,
52. Douglas Farah, “Haitians Preparing Boats Denounce Policy Shift by Clin-
ton,” Washington Post, January 16, 1993, p. A19,

53. Author’s telephone interview, January 19, 1993,
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tian refugees the first victims of a series of broken campaign
promises, draping the betrayal in a mantle of unctuous hu-
manitarian concern:

For Haitians who do seek to leave Haiti, boat departure is
a terrible and dangerous choice....For this reason, the prac-
tice of returning those who flee Haiti by boat will continue,
for the time being, after I become president. Those who do
leave Haiti...by boat will be stopped and directly returned
by the United States Coast Guard.

At the same time, Clinton pledged a vigorous effort to
restore Aristide, arguing that the ultimate resolution of the
refugee crisis lay in solving the political crisis. He then
appointed Lawrence Pezzullo, Carter administration Ambas-
sador to Nicaragua, as special envoy. The apparently renewed
commitment to Aristide added a new element to the disinfor-
mation campaign. As Clinton came into office, the CIA was
preparing a National Intelligence Estimate on Haiti, incorpo-
rating Latell’s analysis of the political situation.’*

Crazy Allegations
Within a few months, fissures had opened up between the

intelligence community and the Clinton administration. In early
July, Pezzullo brokered an agreement between Aristide and the
military at Governor's Island, New York. Aristide reluctantly
agreed to a blanket amnesty for the coup plotters, all of whom
except Cedras would be allowed to stay in the military. The
military high command agreed to Aristide’s return on October
30, and the U.S. agreed to participate in an international effort
to train and professionalize the Haitian military.

A month after the agreement was signed, the CIA’s psy-
chological profile of Aristide surfaced; it concluded that he
was mentally unstable and out of touch with reality. In an
article in the New York Times, Elaine Sciolino quoted anony-
mous White House and administration officials downplaying
the report. “There is an ideological overlay to some of the
official analysis,” one senior official told Sciolino, while
another dismissed the profile as a “caricature™ based on
secondhand information.® Nevertheless, the allegations
helped U.S. officials push Aristide for concessions, portray-
ing his obstinacy as the primary obstacle to peace.

Meanwhile, the Haitian military, while escalating repres-
sion throughout the country, began systematically ignoring
its commitments at Governor’s Island, The junta’s recalci-
trance was symbolized by the brazen September 11 murder
of businessman Antoine Izmery, close friend and financial
backer of the exiled President. Thugs in civilian dress
dragged him from a church and shot him dead in the street.
On October 12, in perhaps the most stunningly ridiculous
incident in a story filled with gruesome comedy, a small band

4. Comments of Director of Central Intelligence R. James Woolsey on the
Diane Rehm show, syndicated nationally on the American Public Radio net-
work, December 15, 1993. Woolsey refused comment on the content of the
estimate, but publicly backed Latell's views,

335. Elaine Sciolino, “Haiti's Man of Destiny Awaits Transition From Political
Martyr to Statesman,” New York Times, August 3, 1993, p. Al
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of gun-toting, machete-wielding goons faced down the U.S.
Navy. The U.S.S. Harlan County, carrying the first detach-
ment of military trainers, turned tail after a small mob of
thugs bounced cars and shouted threats from the Port-au-
Prince docks. As it became obvious that the Haitian military
would not permit Aristide's return, some legislators and
commentators began to call for armed U.S. intervention.

Enter Latell, Stage Extreme Right

On October 20, Brian Latell*® addressed a gathering of sena-
tors, mosily Republicans, at the invitation of Sen. Jesse Helms
(R-N.C.). According to press reports of the briefings, Latell
recycled the lie that Aristide had been hospitalized in Montreal
for mental illness in 1980, and the habitual distortions of his
human rights record. Based on the briefing, Helms denounced
Aristide as a “psychopath” unworthy of support.’” The disinfor-
mation, however, served its purpose: It helped take the steam
out of proposals to expand the embargo or intervene.

Clinton administration officials and congressional Demo-
crats lamented the “one-sided™ reports. Despite this ineffec-
tual support, the alacrity with which the CIA, State
Department, and INS gathered and disseminated flawed “in-
telligence” suggests that substantial portions of the U.S,
foreign policy bureaucracy view Aristide and the popular
movement as a threat. The CIA has even rejected intelligence
from the Aristide government. Patrick Elie says that the
Aristide government-in-exile offered the Agency the services
of a nationwide network of Haitian agents to ferret out
information on drug trafficking. Unlike the military, notes
Elie, “We do have the trust of the Haitian population.” Both
the CIA and DEA spurned the offer.”®

Prospects for Aristide's return do not look good. Despite
U.S. rhetoric and tepid gestures of support, Aristide’s presi-
dency and the movement he represents do present a real
threat to U.S. regional interests. Simply the fact that he is a
strong supporter of liberation theology is a problem for the
U.S. According to Father Roy Bourgeois, director of School
of the Americas Walch, adherence to liberation theology —
which teaches the poor to organize and resist exploitation —
marks him as an enemy of the state. A five-year instructor at
SOA told Bourgeois that the School teaches Latin American
security forces to view the liberation church as a threat 1o
national security, and priests who espouse it as subversives.

With a powerful pseudo-democracy enhancement appara-
tus prepared to supplant genuine grassroots organizing, deep
institutional ties to the Haitian military, an ingrained mistrust
of liberation theology, and powerful business interests deter-
mined to maintain Haiti’s business climate, the U.S. foreign

56, Latell is best known for writing speculative profiles of Fidel Castro, dis-
missed by one colleague as “psychofiction,” and for producing an inflammatory
estimate predicting revolution in Mexico in 1984 at the behest of the late CIA
director William Casey; sce Bob Woodward, Veil (New York: Simon and
Schuster, 1987), pp. 340-4]. Reached by iclephone at his home, Latell reflused
comment on Haiti.
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policy bureaucracy presents a profound threat to Haitian
democracy. Balancing the threat are Clinton's tepid personal
support for Aristide and the refugees.

Some elements in the actions of the intelligence commu-
nity and foreign policy bureaucracy are attempting to under-
mine Clinton"s publicly stated support for Aristide. During
the 1970s, Sen. Frank Church (D-Idaho) speculated that the
CIA had become a “rogue elephant,” but his own investiga-
tion, and that of the Pike Committee in the House, found that
virtually all covert operations were in fact undertaken at the
direction of the President and his Cabinet. Now, nearly two
decades later, it appears again that the CIA is undermining
the stated policy of a sitting president.

It is easy, however, to overstate the degree of conflict
between the president and the national security apparatus.
From the outset, Clinton has been unwilling to expend the
necessary political capital to combat hardliners, whether in
Port-au-Prince, Washington, or Langley. Clinton betrays his
own stance on democracy in Haiti with his refugee policy. By
returning refugees, he lends credence to the view that human
rights conditions in Haiti are tolerable enough to permit
in-country processing, which in turn subverts the urgency of
returning Aristide. Thus, although the conflict between Clin-
lon and the bureaucracy raises troubling questions of ac-
countability, it is far outweighed by the inherent
contradictions within Clinton’s own positions.

Haitian emigration, long a focus of U.S. racist fears and
paranoia, seems the administration’s most vulnerable point.
Indeed, when Aristide scheduled an international conference
in Miami on January 15, to reexamine refugee policy, the
administration wenlt into overdrive, forcing the exiled presi-
dent to change the focus of the agenda to finding new strate-
gies to revive the corpse of the Governor's Island accord.

Given the hostility to Aristide among the Haitian and U.S.
elites, he appears unlikely to return much before the expira-
tion of his term in 1995. At the Miami conference, Jesse
Jackson suggested that Aristide’s term should be viewed as
on hold from the day of the coup until the day of his retumn.
“Cedras and Francois must know that they will be leaving soon,
and when they leave, his term starts up again from that day.”

By raising the issue, Jackson spat into the teeth of the
disinformation campaign. U.S. officials and journalists often
sum up the smears by implying that Aristide is “just like
Duvalier.” Thus, any attempt to extend his term beyond its
constitutional length will likely be met with a furious propa-
ganda volley. As the formal expiration date of Aristide’s
presidency approaches, the U.S. may push the military again,
as it did in 1990, to hold elections. This time, however, the
unifying leader of the popular movement will be ineligible,
the movement itself will have suffered four years of system-
atic assault, and U.S. dollars will have a much greater oppor-
tunity to promote an acceptably “moderate” candidate.  *

59. “Highlights From the Miami Conference: What Was Said,” Haiti Info,
January 23, 1994, vol. 2, #10, p. 4. Haiti Info is published every two weeks in
Haiti by the Haitian Information Bureau, an altemalive news service.
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(Iran-Contra Report, continued from p. 15)

Islamic fundamentalists in Lebanon. That the hostages were
taken prisoner in retaliation for U.S. intervention in August
1982 on the side of the fascist Phalange in Lebanon is seldom
mentioned in characterizations of the U.S. mission in Leba-
non as “peace-keeping.” Again, had Congress invoked the
War Powers Act, the state-sponsored terrorism of the battle-
ship USS New Jersey, which launched dozens of car-size
bombs from its 16-inch guns into the Shiite slums, might not
have produced the seizure of hostages by Hezbollah or the
suicidal car bombs that killed 241 Marines and 48 French
paratroopers.*® Instead, Congress winked at the involvement
of Israel, which captured weapons from the PLO and shipped
them to the Contras as part of a joint “strategic initiative.”

Casey’s main concern was William Buckley, his station
chief in Beirut, who earlier had worked in Pakistan to build
up that barbaric insult to Islam, Gen. Muhhamad Zia al-Hag,
and the heroin-dealing Afghan faction of Gulbeddin Hek-
matyar. In 1983, in retaliation for Buckley's kidnapping,
Casey even hired local Phalangist hit-men (through Saudi
cut-outs, but the Israeli hand was suspected) to blow up
Sheikh Mohammad Hussein Fadlallah, the spiritual adviser
to Buckley's captors, The car bomb exploded as worshippers
left Friday prayers at the mosque, killing dozens who don’t
count in any congressional or judicial proceeding to date,
except perhaps as the loved ones of future martyrs to holy
war against the Great Satan. William Casey, attorney, histo-
rian, and spy, did not answer for his career as terrorist, war
criminal, and murderer.

Ultimately, four shipments of missiles would be sent to
Iran in exchange for hostages; profits were diverted to buy
yet more weapons for the Contras. The arms sales to Iran
contravened Reagan’s promise never to bargain for hostages,
let alone trade arms for them. It also violated the law, speciti-
cally, the Arms Export Control Act, Vice President George
Bush, Secretary of State George Shultz and Defense Secre-
tary Caspar Weinberger advised against it, bul acquiesced
even as they worried that impeachable offenses had been
committed. Since no Finding had been issued by the presi-
dent to make the first missile sale legal, his aides phonied one
up and backdated it when the deal was exposed. Once ex-
posed, they defended it as “retroactive,” covered it up and
lied some more.

The diversion — what North called the "secret within the
secret” — violated not only the congressional restriction on

28, | am not among those who believe the invasion of Grenada was motivated
by Reagan's desire to bury the Marine-barracks debacle in an avalanche of
jingoist headlines. The administration had been plotting 1o get rid of the island s
New Jewel Movement since the Reagan transition team in 1980, working with
the Council on Inter-Amerncan Security, issued ils “Santa Fe"' documents on
proposed policy in Latin Amenca, Besides the Sandinistas, targets included the
Salvadoran guerrllas and Panama's Omar Tomijos, who died in a myslenous
plane crash in July 1981 and was succeeded by CIA retainer Manuel Noriega,

lethal aid, but also the fundamental constitutional authority
of Congress to appropriate funds. North portrays this crime
as an act of heroism — of presidential courage, hence de-
rivative courage on his part, since he was just following
orders — but the blunders proved otherwise: North gets Ross
Perot to put up ransom money for a couple of DEA agents to
pay a snitch to locate the hostages; the snitch disappears with
the money. North leaks word that he's using Anglican church
official Terry Waite, Waite disappears into captivity. North
coordinates air-drops to the Contras; the goods miss their
mark and eventually the Sandinistas shoot down a plane.

No Honor Among Thieves

What distinguished Iran-Contra was precisely that it never was
a secret, no matter how highly classified the operational details.
[t was simply too big for that, and the much-publicized investi-
gations by Congress and the courts never got much beyond who
lied most brazenly about what everybody knew all along. Or, as
a friend put it, “*What did the president know, and when did he
forget to know i7"

Washington’s warmaking was never a secret to its victims,
but in U.S. calculus, victims don’t matier, voters do. There-
fore, how a policy is packaged and sold means more than the
substance of who benefits and who suffers. The public scan-
dal was not the policy itself, which ravaged much of Central
America, postponed any hope of peace in the Middle East,
and helped the regimes of Iran and Irag butcher two million
of their own and each other's people. Rather the official
indignation was that of a criminal who finds he's been bam-
boozled by a sneakier co-conspirator: “How could vou?” And
to the extent that many voters (and citizens too disgusted or
apathetic to vote) found all this “just politics,” North is right:
Not enough people give a rat's patootie.

The exposure of the “secret” policies laid bare a political
marriage of convenience whose bastard offspring were the
Nicaraguan counterrevolutionaries. As in any marriage, the
partners had different perceptions of who was doing what to
— and with — whom; that is, they carried with them differ-
ent levels of deception and self-deception: Generally, Demo-
crats deceive themselves, while Republicans deceive the rest
of us. That’s why the Demaocrats expressed such shock and
outrage as the truth about flirtations with Iran’s regime in
peddling arms for hostages unfolded, and that’s why the
Republicans cried foul at having been caught with their
collective patootie exposed.

The crash of Eugene Hasenfus’ resupply plane in Nicara-
gua on October 5, 1986, made the “covert” operation unde-
niable, but did not stop the denials. Another blunder by
can-do Ollie. (In fact, when the same plane nearly crashed on
a previous mission, the pilot had warned Secord’s men.) One
hostage in Lebanon, David Jacobsen, was released Novem-

o “filled with distorfions...a grand delusion...unconscionable act of deception...a refuge for...false statements and infirm musings

ghout some Oliver Stone-type conspiracy...bizarre...thoroughly defective...dishonest and cowardly” - Edwin Meese lll = “a cheap shot”
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ber 2; a day later, a Lebanese magazine, Al Shiraa, described
the trip of Bud and Ollie, bearing a Bible and a cake in the
shape of a key, to Teheran. Reagan, Oz-like, said not to
believe “that rag” in Beirut. His party lost control of the
Senate, but support for the Contras was assured.

Perhaps the most bizzare twist came a few days later, in
Reykjavik, Iceland, where Soviet Premier Gorbachev pro-
posed rapid nuclear disarmament, replete with all the guaran-
tees of mutual inspection so long demanded by the U.S. When
Reagan accepted, many Democrats in Congress said Reagan
had lost his senses at the very moment he had found them,
albeit temporarily. He was soon to lose them again in a lapse
of memory so grand, it came to characterize his presidency.

The Coverup

The congressional hearings in the summer of 1987 did not
get at the truth so much as inspire the coverup. Perversely,
they became a forum for Republicans, through North, to
accuse Democrats of abandoning those brave Contras in the
field, 10 ridicule the second-guessing of foreign policy, to
berate the hypocrisy of those who denied this vital aid, then
switched back — the very month that the scandal exploded
— to authorize $100 million®® that exceeded the combined
total of $47 million that flowed through “Enterprise” ac-
counts from the “private aid” network and the arms-sales
diversions. Democrats like Sen. Daniel Inouye (D-Hawaii),
chair of the Senate proceedings, defended their support of the
Contras. The Contras continued their lethal work, legally,
constitutionally, and with predictably deadly results.

In retrospect, the only usefulness of the hearings — other
than as an alternative to soap operas — was o provide a
record for comparison 1o prior and subsequent statements.
For Walsh, however, the hearings were an insurmountable
obstacle to establishing the burden of proof. From the outset,
his hands were tied ideologically (he is himself a conserva-
tive Republican and former assistant attorney general) and
legally (neither the Boland Amendment nor the Arms Export
Control Act contained any provision for enforcement). They
are not criminal statutes, although private citizens, some of
whom claimed to have operated on government authority,
were prosecuted, convicted and sent to jail for precisely the
same acts as the officially sanctioned privateers who openly
flouted these laws.* Walsh would focus not on fixing the
political responsibility for the ends of the policy, but on the
legality of their means. He would necessarily focus on the

29, The [unds were relessed October 17, 1986, afier Abmms and others assurncd
Congress that Hasenfus and his crew-mates were not CIA employees — lrue
enough, technically — but lied abowt the mle of former C1A officer Felix Rodri-
guez, his ties 1o Bush’s national security adviser and former CIA officer Donald
Gregg, and the connections of the “private benefactors” 1o government oflicials.
30, Lawrence Lifschuliz and Rabia AN, “The Trial and Conviction of Anl
Dumani,” CovertAction, Number 38 (Fall 1991), pp. 36-39.

smaller fry, the operational personnel who were just follow-
ing orders. Only Congress itself held the power to impeach
those who issued them.

In the spring of 1987, Carl R, “Spitz” Channell, a profes-
sional fundraiser, and Richard R. Miller, a public relations
flak, pleaded guilty to conspiracy to defraud the U.S. by using
a tax-exempt foundation to raise money for the purchase of
lethal materiel. As part of the bargain, Channell and Miller
fingered North as their co-conspirator; both were sentenced
to two years’ probation.”!

North’s boss, Robert C. McFarlane, National Security
Adviser to the President from October 1983 to December
1985, attempted suicide after his congressional testimony.
Fall on his sword to protect his king? Nothing so noble. He
spilled his guts, then took a few Valium for the shame of it.
In March 1988, he pleaded guilty to four misdemeanor counts
of withholding information from Congress by denying that
North provided military advice and assistance to the Contras
and that he and others had solicited funds from foreign
governments, including $32 million from Saudi Arabia and
$10 million from the Sultan of Brunei. In return for his
testimony, McFarlane received two years' probation, a
$20,000 fine and 200 hours of community service. Although
McFarlane served as Walsh's Beatrice for the descent, many
of his claims that higher-ups had approved of the machina-
tions could not be corroborated until the discovery years later
of contemporaneous notes kept by Weinberger and Shuliz
and their subordinates of key meetings with Reagan.”*

With McFarlane’s guilty plea and slippery memory,
Walsh's investigation proceeded. On March 16, 1988, a grand
jury returned a 23-count indictment against Poindexter,
North, Secord and Hakim. Count One charged the four with
conspiracy to defraud the U.S. by supporting military opera-
tions against Nicaragua while they were prohibited by Con-
gress; using the sales of U.S. government property to Iran to
raise funds 1o be spent at the direction of North rather than
Congress; and overcharging Iran to generate profits for the
Contras — what North thought was “a neat idea” to get the
Ayatollah to pay the bill for Congress’ pusillanimity. The
Justice Department filed an amicus brief supporting North’s
contention that the charge should be dismissed. U.S. District
Judge Gerhard Gesell upheld the count, but it was dismissed
later because the Reagan administration refused to declassify
information North claimed was necessary to his defense,

While Gesell’s ruling established that conspiracy to sub-
vert civil laws like the Boland Amendment and the Arms
Export Control Act is itself a criminal act, the dismissal
effectively barred Walsh from bringing the higher-ups to

31. Miller's indictment and plea agreement are found st Vol. [T, p. 5; Channell, p. 11.
32 Vol. I, Ch. 1, pp. 79-104; Vol. II, pp. 17-30; Vol. 111, pp. 397-400.

— Richard R. Miller * "does not make It clear that | was asked to help in @ matter in Beirut, Lebanon - not Iran Contra or

Nicaragua” — Ross Perot * "unneccessary and unflattering slurs” = Amb. Nicholas Plaft = "offensive and prejudicial”
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trial. Under the Classified Information Procedures Act
(cirA), Congress gave the Attorney General complete discre-
tion to decide whether to declassify information necessary
for trial, even in cases where an Independent Counsel is
appointed because the attorney general has a conflict of
interest, “This discretion gives the attorney general the power
to block almost any potentially embarrassing prosecution
that requires the declassification of information,”**

CIPA was a product of Watergate.* Designed to prevent
“greymail” of the government by former intelligence opera-
tives who threatened to spill secrets if prosecuted, CIPA pre-
scribed a closed hearing in which defense and prosecutors
were themselves sworn to secrecy. If the judge ruled that
classified information was necessary to the defense, the gov-
ernment had to reveal it or choose not to prosecute. In
practice, CIPA has been at best a charade; at worst, a mecha-
nism for hiding selective prosecution under a national secu-
rity blanket. Like Watergate itself, it is a covert operation
designed to find out what political rivals knew about earlier
covert operations. As Nixon himself explained in one of the
tapes he didn’t destroy, if the burglary weren’t covered up,
and the burglars not bribed into silence, they might bring up
“the Cuba thing” — secret illegal campaign contributions to
buy candidates and elections, up to and including the assas-
sination of foreign heads of state, perhaps even the assassi-
nation of an American head of state. In short, the people
might find out that democracy itself was a fraud.

Like its predecessor scandal, with which it shared attrib-
utes and even personnel, what was ultimately at stake in
Iran-Contra was the legitimacy of the government itself, the
right to rule. Congress itselfl allowed North to play the martyr
and scapegoat., The more he blabbed, the less useful his
confessions. Because North, Poindexter, and Hakim had tes-
tified at congressional hearings under a grant of immunity
(meaning that none of that witness’s testimony could be used
against himself), Gesell severed their trials,

Congress could have decided to impeach Reagan, but the
Democrats opted instead to try to wound him through the
televised hearings and allow voters to make a political judg-
ment in the 1988 elections. George Bush became a target of
the investigation, but was not indicted; on the eve of the 1992
election top aides to Reagan were, including Secretary of
Defense Caspar Weinberger. The Republicans claimed Walsh
was trying to influence the election, but the scandal was not

33. Walsh, Vol, I, pp. xii, 565.

34, Specifically, cira was Congress' answer to the case of DCI Richard Helms,
who pleaded no contest to a misdemeanor charge of withholding information
from Congress about the CIA's role in ovenhrowing Chilean president Salvador
Allende in 1973; the plea resulted from Helms® threals o reveal classilied
information necessary for his defense if he were prosccuted. See Thomas
Powers, The Man Who Kepi the Secreis: Richard Helms and the CIA (New
York: Knopl, 1979).

much of an issue by then. After his defeat, Bush pardoned
Weinberger and others on Christmas Eve.

Throughout the 1988 presidential campaign, Democratic
candidate Michael Dukakis pointedly avoided the scandal.
His party, after all, had fashioned a compromise that allowed
the Contra war to continue. Bush could rightly claim credit
for a policy that forced the Sandinistas to negotiate;
Dukakis’s inept response to Bush's war-hero image was to
don a silly cap and tool around in a tank. For Dukakis, the
issue was “competence.” Had Ollie and friends been any
more competent, there would have been a lot more innocents
dead in the vast abbatoirs of Central America, the charnel
house of Beirut and the swamps of Basra.

The Price of Crime
North was indicted on 16 felony counts; four were dismissed
before tnal. He was convicted by a jury in May 1989 on three
charges of altering and destroying documents, accepting an
illegal gratuity, and aiding and abetting the obstruction of
Congress. He was sentenced to three years in prison, which were
suspended; he was placed on two years’ probation and ordered
to perform 120 hours of community service. The conviction was
reversed on appeal in July 1990 on the grounds that North s trial
had been tainted by witnesses whose testimony was influenced
by North's own immunized testimony before Congress.™
North’s military pension was restored; he went into business
with his old CIA buddy Joe Femindez selling bullet-proof vests.
Walsh was unable to convince the count that untainted testimony
could be secured; the charges were dismissed in September
1991. North claims he was vindicated; he is campaigning for
the Republican nomination for the U.S. Senate from Virginia.
Adm. John M. Poindexter, McFarlane’s successor, was
indicted on seven felonies; two were dismissed. He was
convicted in April 1990 of the remaining five counts of
conspiracy, false statements, destruction and removal of re-
cords, and obstruction of Congress, He was sentenced to six
months in prison on each count, to be served concurrently,
but released on bond pending appeal. His conviction was
reversed in November 1991 on the same grounds as
North’s;* the Supreme Court declined to review the case.
Richard V. Secord, a retired Major General in the Air
Force, testified under oath to Congress, without immunity.
He was charged on six felony counts in the original indict-
ment; after the main conspiracy counts were dismissed, a
second indictment in April 1989 added nine felony counts of
obstructing those same committees of Congress through false
testimony. Five days before trial on the 12 felonies, he

35. Walsh describes his case against North in Vol. [, Ch. 2, pp. 105-22; the
indiciments and pleadings arc found at Vol. [1, pp. 195-242.

36, Vol. |, pp. 123-365; Vol. 11, pp. 243-78; Poindexter's response to the Report
at Vol. I, pp. 587-90.

— Adm. John M. Poindexter, Ret. * “impugns my character and calls me a liar® - Gen. Colin L. Powell, Ret. * “uncomplimentary”
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pleaded guilty in November 1989 to a single felony of mak-
ing false statements to Congress when he denied that North
personally benfited from the “Enterprise™ — in the form of a
$200,000 “insurance™ fund and a $16,000 security system for
North’s house to protect him from “terrorists™ in the Virginia
suburbs. North claimed that Abu Nidal was after his family
and then publicly challenged Nidal to “duke it out.” Secord
got two years’ probation; he is still fighting to recover 52
million stashed in Swiss accounts.”’

Albert Hakim, an Iranian expatriate and Secord’s business
partner, was originally charged with five felonies. He pleaded
guilty to a misdemeanor count of supplementing North's
salary through the infamous “Button” (belly button) account.
One of Hakim's companies, Lake Resources, also pleaded
guilty to a corporate felony — theft of government property
— by diverting $16.2 million from the arms-sales proceeds, of
which Hakim had received more than $2.5 million. His plea
allowed him to keep another $1.7 million but he had to waive
claim to $9 million more still languishing in Swiss accounts.*®

Thanks to the testimony of his pal Secord and his Swiss
lawyer, Willard Zucker, Thomas G. Clines, retired CIA offi-
cer who provided logistics and contacts for the arms deals,
was convicted of four felonies for failing to report all income
from the deals on his taxes. He was sentenced to 16 months
in prison and a $40,000 fine.*

Walsh Looks at Role of the CIA
Walsh turned his attention to the CIA, Former station chief in
Costa Rica Joseph F. Ferndndez, alias Tomas Castillo, was
originally indicted in June 1988 on five counts of conspiracy 1o
defrand the U.S., obstructing the inquiry of the Tower Commis-
sion, and making false statements, mainly about his role in
coordinating construction of an airstrip in Costa Rica for the
North-Secord network s use; the case was dismissed and refiled
as a four-coun! indictment in April 1989. That too was dis-
missed when Attorney General Richard Thomburgh refused to
declassify information needed for his defense — much of which
was already public as a result of the Costa Rican government’s
denunciation of the strip as a violation of its sovereignty.*
Alan D. Fiers, Jr., chief of the CIA's Central America Task
Force from October 1984 until his retirement in 1988, was
the key to cracking the conspiracy of silence. In 1991, he
pleaded guilty to two counts of withholding information from
Congress, specifically that North told him about the diver-
sion and he in turn told his superiors, and that he was familiar
with North’s role in coordinating the resupply operation.!

37. Vol. L, pp. 173-TR; Vol. I1, pp. 133-72; Vol. IlI, pp. 797-808.
A8 Vol. I, pp. 179-80; Vol. II, pp. 189-94; Vol. III, pp. 323-62.
39, Vol. I, pp. 181-84,

40. Vol. I, pp. 283-93,

41. Vol. |, pp. 263-81.

m

Fiers's cooperation led to the indictment of his boss, Clair
E. George, CIA’s Deputy Director for Operations from July
1984 through December 1987, on ten felonies for perjury,
false stalements and obstruction of congressional and grand
Jury investigations in September 1991, The three obstruction
counts were dismissed after the Poindexter decision; two
were restored by a supplemental indictment in May 1992. In
August, a mistrial was declared when the jury could not reach
a verdict. Walsh dropped the two obstruction counts and
narrowed the rest. Al the second trial, George was acquitted
on five counts, convicted on two: that he lied when he denied
to the House committee any knowledge of Felix Rodriguez’s
role in the resupply scheme, and that he lied to the Senate
when he denied knowing about North’s and Secord’s activi-
ties. Before he could be sentenced, Bush pardoned him.*

Duane R. “Dewey” Clarridge, flamboyant former chief of
the CIA’s Central America Task Force, who was Fiers predes-
sessor, was indicted on seven counts of perjury and false
statements about the shipment of HAWK missiles. He faced a
maximum penalty of five years in prison and a $250,000 fine
on each count but was pardoned before trial by President
Bush.**

Walsh investigated other CIA officers, including the un-
identified station chief in Honduras who facilitated weapons
shipments for the Contras and Jim Adkins, the Contras’ main
CIA adviser from 1984 1o 1987. Those who helped prepare
Casey’s false testimony before Congress in 1986 also es-
caped prosecution,* as did Donald Gregg, a career CIA
officer who worked at NSC in the first two years of Reagan’s
term, then became Bush’s national security adviser. Gregg
had repeatedly denied to congressional investigators that
anyone in Vice President Bush's office knew North was
involved in illegal support of the Contras or that they them-
selves were directing the effort through Gregg's longtime
friend, Felix Rodriguez. Gregg was questioned again when
Bush nominated him in 1989 as Ambassador to South Korea.
A key question was whether Rodriguez briefed Gregg and
Bush’s military aide, Sam Watson, about “resupply of the
Contras™ as indicated by Watson's agenda for May 1, 1986,
Gregg and Watson insisted this meant “resupply of the chop-
pers” to El Salvador, and the Senate confirmed him.

In May 1990, however, Gregg returned to the U.S. to
testify against Richard Brenneke, a self-styled arms dealer
and informant for the Customs Service who had been charged
with making false statements to a Denver judge about the
“October Surprise” — including a claim that Gregg had been
present at meetings in Paris with Iranians in October 1980.

41 Vol. I, pp. 23343,
43, Vol. I, pp. 247-62.
44, Cases are discussed in Vol. [, pp. 293-324, and in the Classified Appendix.

misleading rendition...permeated with improper statements and material...freely brands certain individuals as eriminals even though
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Gregg testified that he had been playing on the beach in
Delaware on the weekend in question, and produced snap-
shots of his wife and daughter supposedly taken at the time.
But the jury chose instead to believe a local weatherman who
said the weather was different that weekend from the sunny
day depicted in Gregg's photos. Brenneke was acquitted.

In the summer of 1990, Walsh asked Gregg to submit to a
polygraph — an offer Gregg had made to the FBI back in
December 1986 when questioned about Iran-Contra.** An
FBI examiner concluded that Gregg’s responses indicated
deception when he denied being involved in an October
Surprise deal in 1980, when he denied knowing that Ro-
driguez was working with North and the Contras prior to
August 1986, when he denied ever having told Bush about
covert military aid to the Contras before October 1986, and
when he denied lying to Congress.*® Gregg was given a
second fest and flunked again. Nevertheless, Walsh decided
the evidence was insufficient to charge Gregg or Watson.

Abrams Lies to Gnngress
At the State Department, Walsh focused on the testimony of
Secretary of State George Shultz and his Assistant Secretary for
Inter-American Affairs, Elliott Abrams.*" Shultz had testified
to Congress that he opposed the arms-for-hostages deal, warned
that they might be impeachable offenses, and knew nothing of
the diversion. In 1990 and 1991, however, Walsh’s staff came
across new evidence in the form of handwritten notes by
Shultz’s executive secretary, M. Charles Hill, and his successor,
Nicholas Platt. Shultz even described Hill 's notes as “a remorse-
lessly precise record and a vivid picture” after using them to
write his memoirs.*® The problem was that Hill's notes were not
consistent with Shultz’s testimony. In an interview with Walsh
in February 1992, Shultz denied the errors were deliberate,
The Hill and Platt notes provided snapshots of the extent
of high-level complicity and unvarnished character sketches
of the participants: Shultz after hearing Bush’s denials that
arms were sold to Iran, “Bush on TV saying it [is] ridiculous
to even consider selling arms to Iran. VP was part of it...Get-
ting drawn into web of lies. Blows his integrity. He’s finished
then. Shd. be v. careful how he plays the loyal lieutenant role
now."* On Weinberger: “He’s either stupid or dishonest, one
or the other.” ** On Reagan’s first National Security Adviser:
“Bill Clark has no substance. An influence peddler.”*' On
North: “Ollie told Iranians that as part of Night Owl deal —

45. Vol. 1, p. 501.

46, Ibid., p. 501. Walsh says, n. 146, that this was reponed o the Justice
Department in 1990 and the House “October Surprise” Task Force in 1992.
47. Vol. I, pp. 325-73.

48, George Shultz, Turmoil and Triumph (New York: Scnibner's, 1993), p. xiii.
49, Hill Note, November 9, 1986, ANS {01748, cited at Vol. I, p. 353, n. 223.
50. Hill Note, Tuly 16, 1986, ANS 0000705, at ibid.

51. Hill Note, December 19, 1986, ANS 0002078, at ibid.

They should give up t’ism[terrorism] — install moderate govt
— win war with IQ [Iraq] (!) — ha ha Ollie is laughable."32

Walsh chose not to prosecute Shultz because he could not
prove beyond a reasonable doubt his testimony to Congress
was willfully false. That decision let Hill off the hook, despite
Walsh’s conclusion that he had deliberately withheld the
notes when they were subpoenaed; the evidence against Plait
was deemed “inconclusive.”*? Elliott Abrams was another
story. North had testified that Abrams was aware of his “full
service operation” to the Contras, but it was not until 1990
and 1991 that Hill and Platt’s notes corroborated North’s
assertions and contradicted Abrams’, as did notes produced
by Edwin Corr, the Ambassador to El Salvador in 1985.
Before seeking a multi-count felony indictment, Walsh in-
vited Abrams to consider a guilty plea. On October 7, 1991,
he pleaded guilty to two counts of withholding information
from Congress about North’s resupply operation and another
for denying his participation in soliciting $10 million from
the Sultan of Brunei.**

Walsh turned to the Defense Department, where the dis-
covery of notes and diaries put the lies in the liars’ own words.
Such documents had been repeatedly requested throughout the
years, but one of the Hill notes quoted Shultz:*Cap takes
notes but never referred to them [to Congress] so never had
to cough them up.” *° Weinberger was subpoenaed in August
1990, but insisted he had turned over all relevant material
to Congress three years earlier. In November 1991, OIC
investigators found thousands of pages of notes and diaries
at the Library of Congress, which had not segregated them
with classified materials when Weinberger left office. The
notes showed that “Contrary to his sworn testimony, Wein-
berger knew in advance that U.S. arms were to be shipped to
Iran through Israel in November 1985 without congressional
notification...[and] he knew that Saudi Arabia was secretly
providing $25 million...to the Contras during the ban on U.S.
aid.™® Weinberger quickly produced instead a polygraph that
concluded he had not intentionally concealed the notes, an
affidavit from Gen. Colin Powell attesting to his honesty, and
a letter from Senators Inouye and Rudman expressing their
disbelief that Weinberger would ever have lied to them.”” A
grand jury indicted him on four counts of perjury and false
statements. He was pardoned before trial by Bush, along with
Clarridge, George, Fiers, Abrams and McFarlane.

52. Hill Note, December 6, 1985, ANS 00001238, quoted at Vol. [, p. 435.
33. Vol. I, p. 372.

54. Vol. I, pp. 375-92. Abrams provided a number to a Swiss bank account; it
proved to be the “wrong™ account in that it didn’t get to the Contras; instead, it
was held by an intelligence operative named Bruce Rappapori, who contested
Walsh's attempis to recover the $10 million.

55. Hill Note, August 7, 1987, ALW 0056370, quoted at Vol. [, p. 412, n. B4.
56. Vol. I, p. 413 )

57. Vol ITL, pp. 1012-19, 1107 (Powell), 1010-11 {Inouye and Rudman) respectively.

* 3 litany of distortions, false official statements and oufright lies...would make a good comic opera were they not so tragic for their

victims...a sick joke...wild compendium of false statements” — Maj. Gen. Richard V. Secord, Ket. * baseless...an unwarranted attack on 2
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Bush Digs In
By then, Bush himself had become a target of the investigation.

Walsh “found no credible evidence that the president authorized
or was aware of the diversion of profits from the Iran arms sales
to assist the Contras, or that [Chief of Staff Donald] Regan, Bush
or Meese was aware of the diversion."** McFarlane, Poindexter
and North all claimed Reagan had authorized their illegal ac-
tivities on behalf of the Contras, but Walsh found, “The Presi-
dent's own activities...were not on the face of it...forbidden by
criminal law.”* Walsh found no evidence to prove Reagan
committed perjury or intentionally lied in his many demonstra-
bly false statements to the Tower Commission, to the public, or

Nicaragua was bludgeoned into submission,
an object lesson for all who dare imagine

something better than living and dying
at Washington’s whim.

in answers to writlten interrogatories by Walsh’s office.® The
remedy, Walsh decided, was impeachment, for which the time
had long passed.

Regan and Meese also escaped prosecution, although
Walsh found evidence in the notes and diaries that they had
participated in the coverup, spearheaded by Meese, to protect
Reagan and each other by presenting a false version of the
Iran-Contra scheme to Congress and the Tower Commission.
Walsh described Regan as forthright and truthful when his
own notes were finally subpoenaed in 1992.°' Meese, on the
other hand, was engaged in “damage control” rather than
vigorous enforcement of the law as Attorney General.®

Bush, however, was a sitting president when he came
under renewed scrutiny in 1992, thanks to the notes and
diaries of Hill, Platt and Weinberger. Negotiations became a
delaying tactic, and Walsh was reluctant to confront Bush in
an election year. Bush stonewalled repeated requests for his
own diaries. After Bush's defeat, he revealed to Walsh the
existence of a diary that had been withheld since 1986.%
Walsh decided not to subpoena the diary because a criminal
prosecution was unlikely: “[T]he statute of limitations had
passed on most of the relevant acts and statements of Bush.™"

58. Vol. I, p. 443,

59. Ibid,, p. 452

60, Ibid, p. 472.

61. Vol. I, pp. 505-23.

62. Vol. 1, pp. 525-33.

63. Dan Morgan and David 5. Broder, “President to Disclose “Everything’;
White House Disputes Walsh's Charges of Cover-up,” Washingron Post, De-
cember 26, 1992, p. Al.

64, Ibid, p. 474.

And the Democrats point to Iran-Contra, as to Watergate,
and declare, “The system works.”

Right.

The greater tragedy is that, by and large, the policy accom-
plished its goals. A devil’s bargain between the Ayatollah’s
minions and the Great Satan left all sides bankrupt and
bleeding, but the Soviet Union fell, and tiny Nicaragua was
bludgeoned into submission, an object lesson for all who dare
imagine something better than living and dying at Washington’s
whim. You can’t argue with success. Walsh tried and the con-
clusions he reached about a slew of individuals are devastating:

They skirted the law, some of them broke the law, and
almos1 all of them tried to cover up the president’s willful
activities. What protection do the people of the United
States [less so the targets] have against such a concerted
action by such powerful officers? The disrespect for Con-
gress by a popular and powerful president and his appoint-
ees was obscured when Congress accepted the tendered
concept of a runaway conspiracy of subordinate officers
and avoided the unpleasant confrontation with a powerful
president and his Cabinet. In haste to display and conclude
its investigation of this unwelcome issue, Congress de-
stroyed the most effective lines of [criminal] inquiry by
giving immunity to Oliver L. North and John M. Poindex-
ter so that they could exculpate and eliminate the need for
testimony of President Reagan and Vice President Bush....
The Iran/Contra investigation will not end the kind ot
abuse of power that it addressed any more than the Water-
gate investigation did. The criminality in both affairs did
not arise out of ordinary venality or greed, although some
of those charged were driven by both.... When a president,
even with good motive and intent, chooses to skir the laws
or to circumvent them, it is incumbent upon his subordi-
nates 10 resist, not join in. Their oath and their fealty are to
the Constitution and the rule of law, not to the man tempo-
rarily occupying the Oval Office. Congress has the duty
and the power under our system of checks and balances to
ensure that the President and his Cabinet officers are
faithful to their oaths.

So, in the end, Walsh reaffirmed his faith in the system
which has produced scandals and constitutional abuses with
tedious regularity. When the next round comes, it is unlikely
that Walsh's admonitions will do much to deter those who
regard democracy as much more than an ideological soapbox
on which to stand while they plot any secret scheme they
deem necessary to get their way. .

65. Walsh, pp. 56166,

faithful public servant” — George P. Shultz * “strains credulity” — Michael A. Sterlacei * “an abuse of investigatory discretion” -

Paul B. Thompson * “disingenuous and malicious” ~ Samuel J. Watson Il * “a gross miscarriage of justice” = Caspar W. Weinberger
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(L.A.-8, continued from p. 22)

around the country. The investigator then shared the resulting
information with both U.S. and foreign law enforcement
officials, including those of South Africa. The criminal in-
vestigation ended with an agreement: The ADL would pay
$75,000 and criminal charges would not be filed. Civil law-
suits are still pending.

Among those known to have been surveilled by the ADL
employee were Khader Hamide and Michel Shehadeh. When
the first reports of the ADL’s spying operation emerged in
February 1993, the Los Angeles Eight defense team immedi-
ately asked Judge Einhorn to remove himself from the case.
The standard for a recusal motion of this type does not require
that a judge show actual bias or animosity; all that is needed
15 a situation which creates, to a reasonable person, the
appearance of impropriety or partiality, Claiming that the
unsubstantiated rumors in the media were insufficient as the
basis for recusal, Judge
Einhorn refused to step
down,

By November, the
once-unsubstantiated ru-
mors regarding ADL's spy-
ing had become a
tull-blown national scan-
dal. Information on the
reckless disregard of evi-
dence that tainted the Sixth
Circuit’s judgment in the
Demjanjuk case had also
emerged by that time. The defense renewed its recusal motion
on November 26, 1993, providing lengthy documentation
regarding the now irrefutable appearance of non-impartiality,
It was by then clear that the ADL, the organization in which
Judge Einhorn chairs the civil rights committee, had not only
staked out positions on issues he would soon be called on to
judge (such as whether the PFLP is a terrorist organization,
whether Hamide and Shehadeh had any connections to it,
etc.) but had played an active role, through its spymaster
operative and its influence with U.S. law enforcement
authorities, to ensure that the government’s efforts to deport
the Eight succeeded.

But again, Judge Einhorn refused to remove himself. In an
extraordinary twist, he defended the ADL, asserting it had not
been charged with any crime. He then counterattacked and
accused the defense of claiming that “as a Jewish American”™
active in the “communal life of the Jewish Amerncan commu-
nity™ he was unfit to conduct the trial. Einhorn thus simulta-
neously transformed the ADL into the entire U.S. Jewish
community and denied the impropriety of any of its actions.
Essentially, he charged the defense with anti-Semitism.

Defense attorney Leonard Weinglass, in an eloquent re-
buital, reminded the judge that the defense had known from
the beginning of the case that the judge was Jewish and
involved with the ADL. *We were not interested,” he told the
judge, “until we learned what the ADL has done to help the
government deport our clients.” He went on to remind Ein-
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The message will go out across the
U.S. that non-citizens, despite federal

court rulings to the contrary, do not

have First Amendment rights.

horn that virtually the entire defense team is Jewish, and that
the allegation of anti-Semitism was unjustified and insulting.
Weinglass finished his statement with a renewed motion for
Judge Einhorn’s recusal — this time on the basis of actual,
not apparent bias, based on the antagonism shown in Ein-
horn’s response to the defense’s motion. To no one’s surprise,
the judge turned it down.

On the legal side, much of the initiative has shifted away
from the Justice Department whose prosecutors have been
unable to build a convincing case. New orders to government
agencies to produce significant new information, some of it
currently classified, coming from both immigration Judge
Einhorn and federal court Judge Wilson, are pressuring the
government. The issue now seems to lie with the political
realm. The CIA, the FEI, the DIA, and a dozen embassies
around the world have been drawn in. They have begun to
complain to the Justice
Department that the con-
tinuation of this absurdity
is costing them dearly in
person hours and privacy.
The question is whether at
some point Attorney Gen-
eral Janet Reno will take
what would probably be
her first look at the Los
Angeles Eight case. If she
does, even the Justice De-
partment may decide that
the price of continuing the case — with the threat of exposing
policies and practices they would all prefer to conceal from
courts and taxpayers alike — is simply too high.

If the Eight are found deportable, the implications are far
reaching and chilling. The message will go out across the
U.S. that non-citizens, despite federal court rulings to the
contrary, do not have First Amendment rights. A deportation
order would legalize the government position that continuing
to deport people for raising money for a few PLO-supported
clinics, when the U.S. is about to send Yasir Arafat a half
billion dollars of tax money and military equipment to boot,
is perfectly acceptable policy. More broadly, the message is
that all non-citizens, legal or not, are vulnerable to the threat
of deportation for supporting movements for freedom and
liberation in their home countries.

Even if the case is dropped, the political atmosphere will
have been chilled and the defendants robbed of years spent
in legal limbo. Although they were released from prison
when prosecutors refused to tell the judge the alleged basis
for denying bail, their lives have been disrupted and their
freedom to travel and live normally curtailed. Somehow,
despite the disruptions of the legal battle, most of the Eight
have married and are raising a new generation of Palestinian-
American and Kenyan-Palestinian-American babies. Ironi-
cally, these children will enjoy rights as citizens their parents
were denied by accident of birth and intention of political
commitment. %
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Off the Shelf: CAQ’s Books of Interest

CAQ offers capsule reviews of books we think could
be of interest to our readers. We will cover not only pub-
lications in the areas of intelligence, U.S. foreign policy,
and covert activities of all sorts, but also works address-
ing important international events and issues from a va-
riety of approaches/perspectives — from the academic and
fournalistic, to the polemic and poetic. Happy reading.

hree on Argentina: Martin Andersen, Dossier

Secreto: Argentina’s Desaparecidos and the

Myth of the ‘Dirty War' (Westview Press, 1992,
412 pp., photos, endnotes, bibliography, index, $17.95
pb.); Frank Graziano, Divine Violence: Spectacle, Psy-
chosexualily, and Radical Christianity in the Argen-
tine "Dirty War’ (Westview Press, 1992, 328 pp.,
endnotes, index, $19.95 pb.); and Sandra McGee
Deutsch and Ronald H. Dolkart, eds., The Argentine
Right: Its History and Intellectual Origins, 1910 to
the Present (Scholarly Resources, 1993, 205 pp., end-
notes, glossary, index, $15.95 pb.) Argentina's descent in
the 1970s into political violence and military dictatorship
more brutal than anything in the country’s history contin-
ues to draw horrified atention. The three recent books
listed here take different but complementary approaches
toward the Argentine military’s bloody crusade to save
Western civilization.

In Dossier Secreto, the most accessible and compre-
hensive of the three, former Newsweek and Washington
Post reponter Andersen convincingly undermines the
foundations of the Argentine junta's avowed reason for
unleashing the terrible repression of 1976-1983: to
stave off an armed revolutionary threat. Andersen
shows that Marxist and Peronist guerrillas were effec-
tively wiped out by 1977, and the “dirty war” that fol-
lowed was directed at purely civilian political
opposition to the junta. Andersen also explores the
links between the Argentine military and the Italian P-2
secret lodge, as well as CIA links with the junta during
the Reagan years. In all, a very good introduction to
the “dirty war."

Using the testimony of victims and torturers, military
records, trial transcripts, and a wealth of secondary
sources, American University professor Graziano's Di-
vine Violence explores the messianic mythology and

CovertAcrion will offer this feature on a regular basis and welcomes readers’
suggestions. This quarter's selections were reviewed by Phillip Smith.
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twisted sexuality that shaped the repression. With a cul-
turally grounded academic approach not usually ap-
plied to such events, Graziano approaches the “dirty
war” from a unique and provocative direction. His
work, however, grounded in the language of cultural
and psychological criticism, will be difficult for those
not well-versed in such traditions.

The Argentine Right is a series of academic essays or
ganized by historical period. Although rather dry and
dense, the essays, with varying degrees of success, clar-
ify the role and origins of Argentina’s powerful and
sometimes murderous rightist currents. The volume is
especially useful in describing and disentangling the
three main currents of Argentine rightism: the national-
ist right, the liberal right, and the Peronist right. Com-
pared to Martin Andersen's narrative, however, this
volume seems oddly deracinated.

na Carrigan, The Palace of Justice: A
Colombian Tragedy (Four Walls Eight Win-
ws Press, 1993, 303 pp., photos, endnotes,

$22.95 hb.) The 1985 seizure of the Colombian Palace of
Justice by M-19 guerrillas resulted in over 100 deaths by
the time the Colombian amrmy retook the largely destroyed
building. The incident also provided the Reagan admini-
stration with the opportunity to unveil a new weapon in
its propaganda arsenal: "narco-terrorism.” Carrigan, rely-
ing on interviews with survivors and participants, govern-
ment and guerrilla documents, and official reports, puts
the lie to the official story of the Palace of Justice and
Reaganite narcotics hypocrisy, as well as raising extremely
embamassing questions for the Colombian military.

avid J. Brown and Robert Merrill, Violent

Persuasions: The Politics and Imagery of

Terrorism (Bay Press, 1993, 298 pp., photos,
endnotes, $18.95 pb.) This book resulted from a multi-
disciplinary conference on terrorism at the Maryland In-
stitute, College of Art in 1992, and it shows it. Departing
from the dull linearity of pure text, the work intersperses
artistic interpretations of terrorism, some of them quite
powerful, with speeches, symposia, and audience re-
sponse in a multifaceted approach to “terrorism.” Partici-
pants included several names that should be familiar to
CAQ readers, including Bill Schaap, Ward Churchill, Mi-
chael Parenti, Margaret Randall, and Randall Robinson. A
provocative work on a very ugly subject.
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ranka Magacs, The Destruction of Yugosla-

via: Tracing the Break-Up, 1980-1992 (Verso,

1992, 366 pp., index). A collection of essays and
articles by Croatian socialist exile Branka Magacs. Ma-
gacs' writings lay out the fault lines, both ideclogical and
ethnic, that grew from the political and economic fail-
ures of post-Tito Yugoslavia. A historian and journalist,
Magacs brings keen insight into the malignant politics
and savage conflict that today grip the former Yugoslavia.

latko Dizdarevic, Sarafevo: A War Journal

(Fromm, 1993, 193 pp., $19.95 pb.) As editor of

Oslobodenje, the sole remaining Sarajevo news-
paper, Dizdarevic’s daily reports from the siege speak
eloguently for the people of Sarajevo and the multi-
ethnic, multicultural project under ferocious attack in
Bosnia. Dizdarevic is clearly not a neutral party; these
columns were written while under sustained attack, and
they show it. Sadly but not surprisingly, the book also
demonstrates that cultural and ethnic divisions continue
o grow.

hristopher Simpson, The Splendid Blond

Beast: Money, Law, and Genocide in the

Twentieth Century (Grove Press, 1993, 399 pp.,
photos, endnotes, index, bibliography, $24.95 hb) Simp-
son, the author of the widely acclaimed Blowback: Amer-
fca’s Recruitment of Nazis and Its Effects on the Cold
War, now tums his attention to Western financial and po-
litical elite responses to two episodes of genocide, the
Turkish assault on the Armenian nation and the Nazi
Holocaust. Relying primarily on archival information,
Simpson draws a chilling portrait of intermational com-
plicity and collaboration with mass murder. He also
shows how the lack of a Western response to Turkish
atrocities in Armenia paved the way for Hitler'’s “final so-
lution.” Some familiar faces are involved, most notably
the brothers Allen and John Foster Dulles.

nillermo Gomez-Pefia, Warrior for Grin-
-gostroika (Graywolf Press, 1993, 174 pp., pho-
tos, $14.00 pb.); and Ruben Martinez, The
Other Side: Notes From the New LA, Mexico City,
and Beyond (Vintage, 1993, 170 pp., photos, $10.00 pb.).
“It is 1987, occentlapal, & the sky is clotted with blood
the migras keep thinking they're able to stop
the historical currents of a continent gone bananas
may Tata God, el que embotella,
bless their unbridled stupidity.”
Thus does Mexican-born, border-dwelling, cosmo-
politan performance artist and writer Gomez-Pena, self-
described as “El Aztec High-Tech,” frame the issue. The
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roiling currents of intellectual, artistic, economic, and
demographic change sweep across political and cul-
tural borders, creating here in Gringolandia a bubbling
cross-cultural ferment, of which Gomez-Pefia and
Martinez, the child of Salvadoran and Mexican parents
resident in L.A., are important, cutting-edge voices.

Both writers — Martinez in his evocative essays and
Gomez-Pena in his sophisticated culture criticism, po-
etry, and the texts of his outrageous performance
pieces — address the new realities of a United States in
which the heart of Latin America beats. In so doing,
they illuminate the birth of a “border” generation that
transcends divisions of language, culture, and national-
ity to form an as yet undefined Latino-ized American
synthesis. With “Hispanics” poised to become the larg-
est ethnic group in the U.S, the future that Gomez-
Pena and Martinez represent is already here.

ichael F. Brown and Eduardo Fernidndez,

War of Shadows: The Struggle for Utopia

in the Peruvian Amazon (University of Cali-
fornia Press, 1991, photos, endnotes, bibliography, in-
dex, 280 pp., pb.). The indigenous Ashaninka people of
Peru’s jungle and eastern highlands are currentdy caught
between the Maoist Shining Path guerrillas and the Peru-
vian military as the two foes wage a “hearts and minds
struggle for their support. It has happened before, and
this work looks at the history of Ashaninka relations
with “outsiders,” in particular their role in the 1965 leftist
Tupac Amaru guerrilla campaign, With its anthropologi-
cal emphasis on how spiritual beliefs, and especially
their millenarian component, affect indigenous peoples’
willingness to be dravwn into violent conflicts with the
authorities, this study has relevance beyond its narrowly
defined scope.

ichel S. Laguerre, The Military and Society

in Haiti (University of Tennessee Press, 1993,

223 pp., endnotes, bibliography, index, tables,
$29.95 hb.) In what appears to be a reworked disserta-
tion, Laguerre provides a structural analysis of the rela-
tionships among the military, the state, and civil society
in Haiti. Thanks to the cooperation of elements of the
Haitian military, Laguerre has been able to get at hereto-
fore unavailable materials in military archives, as well as
enjoying extensive interviews with numerous ranking
members of the Haitian military, including de facto
leader, Gen. Raoul Cedras. Despite the fact that his analy-
sis ends before the latest coup, Laguerre’s analysis of the
interrelationships among military, state, and society are
valuable for understanding the context in which the cur-
rent crisis in Haiti exists. .
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READER SURVEY

How long have you been a reader?

] year(s).

Do you read CAQ:
[]1. Regularly
[_l2. Occasionally
[]3. Rarely

How did you hear about CAQ?
[ 1. Saw it at newsstand or bookstore
[]2. Word of mouth
[] 3. Direct mail
[] 4. Doing research
[]5. other

What other magazines do you regularly read?
L]

What are the most pressing problems facing the U.S.?

The world?

Do you get CAQ through:
[ Subscription
[] Newsstand / bookstore
O Library or friend

If newsstand, do you buy CAQ:
[11. Every issue
[J2. Once a year
[]3. Twice a year

Why do you buy CAQ?
[J1. For a specific article
[J2. General interest

What do you look for first?
[J1. Domestic
[J2. International
] 3. Intelligence
[J 4. Editorial
[15. Other
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What should CAQ be focusing on?
[11. Domestic
[J2. International
[J3. Intelligence
[J4. Racism / rightist movements
[]5. Elites (Trilateral, etc.)
[16. Environment
[17. Technology
[18. Women's issues / feminism
[J 9. Particular country or region
[J 10. Washington scandal
[J11. Other

What would you like to see in CAQ?
[J1. More long articles
[]2. More short articles
[]3. Letters to the editor
[ 4. Book reviews or listings
[]5. Short shorts
[J 6. More cartoons / graphics / photos
[17. More humor
[J 8. Magazine of record on intelligence
[Je. Article on:
[J10. Article by:

CAQ has been changing over the last few years.
Should we continue to:

[J1. Make design changes?

[]12. Broaden our coverage?

[]3. Other

Do articles have the right amount of background info?

[JYes
[l Too much
[ Not enough

What do you like most about CAQ?

What do you like least?

If you return this survey by May 15 with your name and
address, you will be eligible to win a CovertAction mug.
(You may also reply anonymously.) We will draw 3
winners. Use attached envelope or mail to: CAQ, 1500
Massachusetts Ave., NW, #7312, Washington, DC 20005.
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